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ABOUT US BRI

Established in Nanjing in 2003, the Group is a well-recognized comprehensive

community service provider in Jiangsu province, China, with region-leading
and balanced property management abilities in the management of residential
and commercial properties. Through our continued development over the
years, we have established our regional leading position in the property
management market of Jiangsu province and are well-recognized nationwide
as we kept expanding our business in the rest of the country. With a vision of
“making lives warmer”, the Group has been pursuing the service philosophy
of “provide customers with high-quality services with sincerity”, and has
developed the “Property Service + Life Service” model to serve property

owners and customers.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBSE

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Redsun Services Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
"Reporting Period").

In 2023, the property management industry returned to rational
development and achieved growth in overall scale. Enterprises actively
participated in businesses such as comprehensive urban and rural
environmental services and new energy infrastructure maintenance.
While meeting market demand, they will continue to expand their
business scope, enrich their business chains, and further enhance their
services and competitiveness. The service content, service standardization
and service quality have been increasingly emphasized.

In 2023, the property management industry ushered in a series of
favorable policies. Property management have been integrated into
grass-roots governance, community pension, old community renovation
and smart property construction. From the central government to
local governments, a series of new policies and measures have been
launched, which has promoted the healthy and rapid development of
the property management industry. However, the upstream real estate
industry continued to be under pressure, the competition in the stock
market has become increasingly fierce, and the growth rate of the overall
management scale has declined.

In the face of the above situation, the Group still firmly defined 2023 as
the “Customer Value Year” with being customer-oriented, adhering to its
development foundation based on quality services, penetrating into the
core cities, expanding the second service track and deeply integrating
smart technology to achieve quality and steady growth in management
scale and profitability.

During the Reporting Period, the Group returned to the essence of
property basic services. We have established our presence in 56 cities
in China, having 298 projects under management with a contracted
gross floor area ("GFA") of 53.901 million sq.m. and a total GFA under
management of 47.460 million sgq.m. (with a commercial GFA under
management of 3.296 million sq.m.), representing a decrease of 1.7%
and 12.4%, respectively, as compared with the corresponding period of
2022. In particular, the GFA of market-oriented extension reached 20.952
million sg.m., which accounted for 44.2% of GFA under management and
represented a decrease of 2.1% as compared with the corresponding
period of 2022.
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During the Reporting Period, the three major business lines of the Group,
namely property management services, value-added services to non-
property owners and community value-added services, were affected
by unfavourable factors such as the downward trend in the scale of
management in the market. We achieved revenue of RMB1,063.6 million,
representing a decrease of 3.6% as compared with the corresponding
period of 2022, and gross profit of RMB252.4 million, representing a
decrease of 1.5% as compared with the corresponding period of 2022.
Our net profit reached RMB14.2 million, representing a decrease of 84.8%
as compared with the corresponding period of 2022.

During the Reporting Period, leveraging the “residential + commercial”
dual-driven model, we mapped our non-residential business portfolio
and explored our second development track, continuing to establish
presence in non-residential projects. In 2023, we have newly developed
the non-residential projects with the representatives of hotel project
-Xiaogan Hanchuan Hubei Huanglonghu Zen Hotel Conference Center
(ERGE) IR ERABEIHIE T L), hospital project-Wuhan
Union Hospital Jinyinhu District Proton Center (&2 1 f12&B2 & iR
BT & & F F L), super high-rise project -Wuhan Yulong Financial
Plaza (K2 £EBE S BUEIS), public construction project-Airport Public
Security Bureau of Public Security Department in Hubei Province (41t
BRALEE#IS N D), industrial park project-Nanjing China Railway
Major Bridge Log|st|cs Base (B &R 88 AMB W0 E Hh), commercial
office project-Xuzhou Haodebao BMW 4S Store (1§ /N 1715 & & K4S
J&), etc,, to achieve leapfrog development in the expansion of non-
residential property service-type projects, filling up the gap in property
management sub-fields such as hospital projects, hotel projects and
super-high-rise office building projects, and for the first time to invest in
airport auxiliary projects, which continuously expand the urban service
track.

During the Reporting Period, with the help of the Group’s service
capability, operation capacity and brand power, we actively promoted
market-oriented expansion, won the trust of third-party tenderers
and obtained third-party property management projects. Focused on
consolidating basic property services, we accelerated the development
of the “property services + life services” model, enriched the value-
added services provided to customers, promoted the development of
businesses such as property decoration, Hongteng Decoration (5h 3
#), housing rental and sales, and Hongyang Selection (3AFZ1832), and
upgraded to high-quality and diversified services.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TREBS

In 2023, we remained our adherence to the “customer-centered” service
philosophy and were quality-driven to provide customers with more
refined and targeted services, winning the trust of customers. We built
high-quality full life cycle service standards, constantly improved the
residential service brand image. According to a survey conducted by a
third-party institution, the customer satisfaction of the Group in 2023 still
maintained at a high level despite of the downward trend in the industry.
The overall satisfaction rate for non-residential business portfolio property
services was above the industry level and reflected that the service
quality of the Group has been well-recognized by customers.

During the Reporting Period, we adhered to the original vision of “creating
values for customers (5% P &I3&{E(H)" to provide customers with
“satisfying +pleasantly surprising” services. We maintained a streamlined
and efficient organizational model, in order to strengthen efficiency,
and match business development needs. By maximizing the motivation
of our employees at the institutional level, we optimized the incentive
mechanism from time to time, led the steady and healthy development
of business and thus formed a virtuous cycle. The “Hong Elite”, “Redsun
Housekeeper” (5AE ZR) and “Hong Master” (SARTE#) services under this
model have now been launched in full swing in the Group. Lecturer
system and course program under this model have been optimized
continuously to do well in knowledge accumulation for furthering team
cultivation and enhancing the team resilience and adaptability under
pressures. Our efforts to enhance quality and efficacy have achieved
satisfactory outcome.

The Group takes “building a community with warmth (}T&H 8 E
BI#L[&)" as the original intention to create a wonderful community
life for owners, and focuses on customer experience with “five good
services (FLATAR%)" (good operating standards, good customer service
housekeepers, good order and environment, good operation of facilities
and equipment, and good information assistance efficiency), and carries
out community cultural activities in combination with changes in the
four seasons, and continues to provide heartwarming services.
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In terms of smart services, the Group vigorously promoted smart
construction, continued to promote digital transformation, integrated
advanced technologies and upgraded information platforms. Intelligent
equipment was used to improve user experience, iteratively update
digital service platforms, improve employee efficiency, and generate
synergy and refined management of operations. Through technology
empowerment, we offered better service to customers, promoted the
Company's steady development, and ensured the implementation of the
Company's strategies.

Looking forward to 2024, all staff of the Group will work together to
improve quality and efficiency, improve customer satisfaction, gain more
recognition from owners and customers, achieve steady scale growth

and maintain long-term development.

Finally, on behalf of the Board again, | would like to extend my sincere
compliment to property owners and all customers for their continuous
support, and my wholehearted gratitude to all shareholders and partners
for their unfailing support and to all employees for being dedicated to
overcoming challenging times together with the Company!

Redsun Services Group Limited
Zeng Junkai

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB Ym0 I

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
REVIEW FOR 2023

In 2023, the management scale of the property management industry
continued to expand and achieved steady growth, but due to the
continuous pressure on the upstream real estate market, the competition
in the inventory market became more and more fierce, and the overall
growth rate of the property management industry has slowed down in

recent years.

In 2023, the property mergers and acquisition ("M&A”") market became
more cautious, and “scale type” M&A and “business type” M&A coexisted.
In particular, “scale type” M&A focused more on characteristic subdivision
tracks, and the property capital market was more rational.

016 Redsun Services Group Limited - Annual Report 2023

EEEWED AN

20234 B EE

20036 MEBBITEEREEBEEA  BRES
MR BELHEHETSEEAEYE  FETS
BEREE - R E T R SR R
FBUE -

20235 - MEAGTEKE (GBI TISEINZE - [
BA | GFRE BT RS IBHRE R A7 - P DRELHEE
IMEER MY BE  MEBATISE RN -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERESREDN

In 2023, the Group adhered to the core strategy of “deeper development
in Jiangsu”, built a core regional advantage through multi-party
resources, expanded the development of the surrounding area from the
core region, and established the presence in the Yangtze River Delta in
which the central city area was incubated with the extension of major
customers and town street services as the main direction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2023, the Group won multiple industry awards, including “Top 100
Property Management Companies in 2023 (20237 B4 3 AR 75 & 58
182) ", 2023 Leading Property Service Enterprises in terms of Service
Quality in Jiangsu Province (2023) L8 & ¥ RSB E8L )", and
"2023 Leading Property Management Enterprises in Jiangsu Province
(023 T8 A MERFB I HHALB L )", by virtue of its stable
and improving comprehensive strength, professional service capability,
operational capacity and brand power. Its overall strength in the industry
ranked 18.

The business of the Group covers a variety of property types, including
residential properties and non-residential properties such as commercial
buildings, schools and public construction, and also covers other
specialised high-quality consulting services, resulting in collaborated
balanced development of residential and commercial projects. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had provided property management services
and value-added services to 56 cities in China, with 298 projects under
management and contracted GFA of approximately 53.9 million sg.m,,
which has decreased by approximately 1.7% as compared with that
as at 31 December 2022, of which the total GFA under management
was approximately 47.5 million sq.m., representing an increase of

approximately 5.8% as compared with that as at 31 December 2022.

During the Reporting Period, affected by unfavorable factors including
the overall downturn of the upstream real estate industry, the Group
achieved revenue of RMB1,063.6 million, representing a decrease of 3.6%
as compared with the corresponding period of 2022, and gross profit
of RMB252.4 million, representing a decrease of 1.5% as compared with
the corresponding period of 2022. Net profit reached RMB14.2 million,
representing a decrease of 84.8% as compared with the corresponding
period of 2022, mainly due to the increase in impairment allowance
for receivables from related parties this year as affected by the market
environment of the real estate industry, as well as the decrease in
demand for property development project services and the decrease in
revenue from value-added services to non-property owners.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Our Business Model

Upholding the layout strategy of “penetrating the Greater Jiangsu Region,
strengthening foothold in the Yangtze River Delta Region and expanding
into core cities (B R T& « AMER=A - #MEF L) and
surrounding the “customer-centered” service philosophy, we continue to
enhance the Redsun Mode and are committed to providing customers
with warm quality services across the whole country. We provide a wide
range of property management services to property owners, residents
and tenants, value-added services to non-property owners, primarily
property developers, and other property management companies, and
community value-added services to residential property owners and
residents.

1. Property management services: We provide property owners,
residents and tenants with a wide range of property management
services, including, among others, public order, cleaning,
greening, facility management, customer services and repairs
and maintenance services. Our portfolio of managed properties
comprises of residential, commercial and other properties. In
addition to residential properties, we are expanding our service
scopes for non-residential markets. Not only do we provide
property management services to a variety of commercial
properties, such as shopping malls, home improvement and
furnishings malls, hotels and theme parks, but we also provide
property management services to properties such as office
buildings, industrial parks and schools.

2. Value-added services to non-property owners: We also provide
value-added services to non-property owners, including (1)
consulting services to other property management companies;
(2) preliminary planning and design consultancy services to
property developers for property development projects; (3) sales
assistance services to property developers to assist with their
sales and marketing activities at property sales venues and display
units, including visitor reception, cleaning, security inspection
and maintenance; and (4) other value-added services to property
developers, such as inspection services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEwmAD I
3. Community value-added services: We provide community value- 3»

added services to residential property owners and residents to
improve their living experiences with an aim to preserve and
increase the value of their properties. Our community value-
added services for residential properties primarily include, among
others, (1) property brokerage services, (2) property decoration
services, (3) community convenience services, (4) common area
value-added services, (5) intelligent services, (6) retail services, (7)
assets management services and (8) home decoration services.
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The table below sets forth a breakdown of the Group's total revenue by T ZR #7145 B 5 $R 5 HA A K2 20224F [B) BRI BR 2 75 4%
business lines during the Reporting Period and the corresponding period — #I3 Hy 42U A BA 4R

of 2022:
As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
B £2023F12A31H B ZE 2022612 H31H
Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage
' ON fh Lt WA 5t
(RMB’000) (%) (RMB'000) (%)
(AR¥T ) (%) (AR¥TFT) (%)
Property management services Y ER AR TS 840,174 79.0 834,730 75.7
Value-added services to non- FEEFIBERS
property owners 66,857 6.3 124,612 1.3
Community value-added services 4t & 12 {8 JR 7% 156,603 14.7 143,780 130
Total st 1,063,634 100.0 1,103,122 1000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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By types of developers: RRFABEEERE S -
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The table below sets forth the Group's total revenue from property
management services, GFA under management and number of projects
during the Reporting Period and the corresponding period of 2022:

As at 31 December 2022

As at 31 December 2023

BZ2023512A31H HZE00F12A318
Number of GFA under Number of GFA under
Revenue Projects  management Revenue Projects  management
N HEHE EEEEEE KA FRHE HERSEERE
(RMB'000) ('000 sq.m.) (RMB'000) (000 sq.m.)
(AE®T ) (FEEK)  (ARETT) (FFAK)
Redsun Properties Group'! MG EEEY 420,470 11 18,403.7 373,720 100 16435.1
Third-party property developers — E=FREHMERER 350,867 185 28,025.0 392,360 183 27,3969
Third party developers? F-hR%EY 269,379 134 20,9515 319,141 141 214067
Jointventuresand associatesof  SAFFHEEEMAELE
Redsun Properties Group® REE AR 81,488 51 70735 73219 ) 5990.2
Other associates of our Controlling  FERR AR AT ALEEEE A
Shareholders® 68,837 2 1,031.6 68,650 2 10316
Total @ 840,174 298 47,4603 834,730 285 448636
Notes: B3t
() Includes projects solely developed by Redsun Properties Group Limited O BiELGHESBBR AR (ERNDMAB A LT
(the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: R A5 - 1996) R EW B AR (ATE[EABLESER))
1996)) and its subsidiaries (collectively, ‘Redsun Properties Group”) and BEMEMIER RolGHtES B EEME M ERERN
properties that Redsun Properties Group jointly developed with other HRAMENYEGCLGESEREZSMENZS
property developers for which properties Redsun Properties Group holds W) ©
a controlling interest.
) Includes properties developed by third-party property developers Q) BB R LG ESBMNE = FHER T
independent from Redsun Properties Group. k7 ES
3) Includes properties developed by property developers which are joint 3) BIEALGHESEREFR W EIESIERNEEDE
ventures and associates of Redsun Properties Group in which Redsun Kt N a M E I EREERENYE -
Properties Group does not hold a controlling interest.
@ Includes properties owned by Jiangsu Redsun Industrial Raw Materials  (4) BEERRREOBE NIFRAIASG TERER D

City Co,, Ltd. ("Redsun Materials City") together with its subsidiaries and
Nanjing Redsun Business World Co., Ltd. (‘Redsun Business World"),
which are associates of our Controlling Shareholders. Redsun Materials City
is owned as to 100% by Mr. Zeng Huansha, the founder and Controlling
Shareholder of the Group ("Mr. Zeng"). Redsun Business World is held as
to 100% by Hong Yang Group Company Limited, which is owned as to
100% by Ms. Zeng Suging (% %), the sister of Mr. Zeng.

AlAABIEERE]) REWB QR KERLKNE
BEAMABRAG(AABEERUR])HEENY
¥ o IKIG TERENN A R E4E (RERMAILA
AR £ DI A 100% © AT K5 %Ki
AALGEBBRARIFRI00%  ZAFHERBZL
T (S ERMRLE) B 100% °

ASREEEERAR . —B-=FFH 021;



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CEEMEDN
By types of properties we manage: EREBEMFENE S

The table below sets forth the Group’s total revenue from property — FN&R#FIANEB A RE PR KR 2022F R HMEEER
management services, GFA under management and number of projects W ALEE - FEZEMBENRIEE HE -
during the Reporting Period and the corresponding period of 2022:

We manage residential and non-residential properties. Our non-  BMEBFERIIEEEDE - RPNESHEEEDE
residential properties under management include office buildings, malls ~ BIEHAKIE « FHE R ERE - BATEWERAD
and schools, etc. Although the revenue from residential properties still SR E (5 1 o FIMA B R EZB S - BFAMIIES 1658 F A
accounts for a substantial proportion of our revenue, we endeavor to  FURRFSIEEZ 1L - IUREHMIERNY)E -

diversify our service offerings, so as to cover other types of properties.

As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
BZ2023512831H HZ02%12A318

Number of GFA under Number of GFA under
Revenue Projects  management Revenue Projects  management
g #E
WA BRHE BEER LN AE 3 BERR
(RMB'000) (000 sg.m.) GIB{0) (000 sqm.)
(AE®T ) (F¥5%) (ARETT) (FFAA)
Residential iz 597,291 232 40,309.6 526493 208 35,8640
Commercial G 148,981 24 3,295.7 212137 26 37634
Public constructionand others AR REM 93,902 Iy} 3,855.0 96,100 51 52362
Total b 840,174 298 47,4603 834,730 285 448636
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERESNREDN

By types of geographic presence: LRI MR ETE S -

The table below sets forth the Group’s total revenue from property TR FIANEB R RE PR R 2022F R HMEEER
management services, GFA under management and number of projects W ALEE - FEZEMBENRIEE HE -
during the Reporting Period and the corresponding period of 2022:

Since the inception of the Group, we have expanded our geographic ~ EAREBEMK AR - EZE2023F 128318 - FFIHHD

presence from Nanjing to 56 cities in China as at 31 December 2023. BAmENERIIRERES6EMT °
As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2022
EZ2023512831R HZE00%12R318
Number of GFA under Number of GFA under
Revenue Projects management Revenue Projects  management
il £
WA BHYE BEER LON VR EEHE
(RMB'000) ('000 sq.m.) (RMB'000) (000 sq.m.)
(ARBTR) (FEAR) (ARETT) (FEAR)
Nanjing HR 297,825 9% 14,4282 349277 100 145021
Jiangsu (excluding Nanjing) L& (RERN 189,064 7 123794 169410 58 99343
Shangha e} 12,199 2 808.1 7473 2 8081
Anhui 28 93,844 ] 8,244.6 81,369 4 76541
Shandong W& 8,738 2 1640 8522 2 1640
Hunan iile3 18,096 8 11475 15,991 8 12262
Hebei ik 4,484 1 519 4935 1 519
Henan Bl 6,933 2 3125 7530 2 3125
Zhejiang s 34,634 15 17455 16,603 1 11797
Hubei ik 112,494 34 4,4095 116,049 36 51733
Chongging EF 21,806 8 11015 17,15 7 1,006.2
Jiangxi i 12,797 4 601.1 14192 5 769.7
Guangdong B 10,150 5 4545 8446 6 6853
Sichuan mll 14,993 8 1,525.6 10434 6 13099
Jiin L - - - 5,950 - -
Shaanxi gl 2116 1 863 1434 1 863
Total @t 840,174 298 47,460.2 834730 285 448636

ASREEEERAR . —B-=FFH 023;



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEESmEDMN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue amounted to
RMB1,063.6 million, representing a decrease of 3.6% from RMB1,103.1
million for the corresponding period in 2022. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the decrease in the Group's revenue from providing value-
added services to non-property owners.

Property management services

During the Reporting Period, the Group's revenue from providing
property management services amounted to RMB840.2 million,
representing an increase of 0.7% from RMB834.7 million for the
corresponding period in 2022. This was mainly attributable to the
rapid increase in total GFA under management in line with the Group's

business expansion.

Value-added services to non-property owners

During the Reporting Period, the Group's revenue from value-added
services to non-property owners amounted to RMB66.9 million,
representing a decrease of 46.3% from RMB124.6 million for the
corresponding period in 2022. The decrease in revenue from value-added
services to non-property owners was mainly attributable to the decrease
of sales venue projects caused by the real estate projects being delivered
one after another.

Community value-added services

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue from community
value-added services achieved substantial growth, amounting to
RMB156.6 million, representing an increase of 8.9% from RMB143.8
million for the corresponding period in 2022. During the Reporting
Period, the increase in revenue from community value-added services
was mainly attributable to the increase in revenue from project common

area resource.

Cost of sales and services

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s cost of sales and services
amounted to RMB811.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately
4.2% from RMB846.8 million for the corresponding period in 2022. This
was mainly attributable to the decrease in staff cost and sub-contracting
cost.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit

As a result of the aforementioned key factors, the Group’s gross profit
decreased by approximately 1.5% from RMB256.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to RMB252.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The decrease was mainly attributable to a decrease in
revenue from providing value-added services to non-property owners.

The Group’s gross profit margin by business lines is set forth below:

EERESNREDN

EF

AR FrZEER  AEEMEMNBEZE2022912H
NAIEFEMAREISCAEBIL THRLI5%  EHE
203F 12ANBIEFENARKIDAEE T  ZAD
FTEARREYIFEFAIEERBWAFRTRD -

AEBZEERGREDOENRMAT

For the year ended
31 December
BZE12A31HLFE
2023 2022
2023 20226
Property management services YEER R 22.3% 22.2%
Value-added services to non-property owners IEEFIRERE 15.8% 16.6%
Community value-added services [ I (E AR TS 35.1% 35.0%
Total it 23.7% 23.2%

During the Reporting Period, the Group's gross profit margin was
23.7%, representing an increase of 0.5 percentage point from 23.2% for
the corresponding period in 2022. This was mainly attributable to the
increase in the gross profit margin of property management services and
community value-added services.

The gross profit margin of property management services was 22.3%,
representing an increase of 0.1 percentage point from 22.2% for the
corresponding period in 2022. This was mainly attributable to the gross
profit margin of the period increased due to the decrease in costs of
project outsourcing and energy consumption during the Reporting
Period.

The gross profit margin of value-added services to non-property owners
was 15.8%, representing a decrease of 0.8 percentage point from 16.6%
for the corresponding period in 2022. This was mainly attributable to the
decrease in the gross profit margin of sales assistance services provided
to property developers by the Group due to the impact of the real estate
industry.

WMEBR - REBEFRKAE23.7% » 82022FFHH
232% EFHOSEE DS TEBHAMEEERE TR
BEREEFE EFAFTE -

MBI RGENEE223%  B2022F FHIH22.2%
FHOIMEED S - FEERREHREE IMEKA K
BERERR AR D ETER » REAERIEK EFF o

JEEERERBENEE158% © #82022F R B HY
16.6% NEROSEE DR » TEHRAEEZFEHETTHE
T2 MEMERESRENDHEREERE TR
g( °

ABEEEEERAT . —E-=FFRH 025;



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEESmEDMN

The gross profit margin of community value-added services was 35.1%,
representing an increase of 0.1 percentage point from 35.0% for the
corresponding period in 2022. This was mainly attributable to the
increase in the gross profit margin due to the decrease of costs in parking
spaces sales business of the Group during the Reporting Period.

Other income and other net income

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s other income and other net
income amounted to RMB9.7 million, compared to RMB16.8 million for
the corresponding period in 2022, mainly attributable to the decrease in
government grants received in the Reporting Period.

Administrative expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s administrative expenses
amounted to RMB99.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately
24.7% from RMB132.7 million for the corresponding period in 2022. This
was mainly attributable to the upgrade of management system and
reinforcement of cost control by the Group.

Net impairment losses on financial assets

The Group's net impairment losses on financial assets primarily included
the impairment allowance for trade receivables and other receivables in
accordance with the accounting policy. During the Reporting Period, the
Group's net impairment losses on financial assets amounted to RMB119.0
million, as compared to RMB7.9 million for the corresponding period in
2022, which was mainly due to the increase in impairment allowance for
receivables from related parties during the period.

Profit before income tax expense

During the Reporting Period, the Group's profit before income tax
expense amounted to RMB38.9 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 69.6% from RMB127.9 million for the corresponding
period in 2022.

Income tax expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s income tax expense amounted
to RMB24.7 million, representing a decrease of approximately 27.7% from
RMB34.1 million for the corresponding period in 2022, which was mainly
due to the decrease in profit before tax.

026 Redsun Services Group Limited - Annual Report 2023

IR IEE RS E AR 535.1% + 820224 A HAH35.0%
FHOMEED S EEENBREHANANEEEMIHEE
TR AR« EFIREFAFTE -

HpWw A R EMFEWRA

WERA  AEBEMWBAREMFRABARE
97BEEIL MONFRBPAARK168HETL £ 2
RS B AR R BT B 2> o

TR X

MEHR  AEENTERESYAARKOIEET
BOORFEREAARE 13278 T N EL247%  TEH
MALEBFREIRE X - AR AN EIEFTE

TREEREBESEBTRE
AEENSHEEREREEFEIEAEREETH
REHRME 5 IE W RIE & B b FE WK IE R (B 2 o
WEHRN - AEENESREEREBRFERARE
T9.0E BT 2025 RAMAARK/IOEEL  TEMH
ZNERIE hNET IR BAEE 7 FE WKBR FUR BB TR o

MRPETS BB 2 AR Fl

HEHAN  AEBEBRAMSHBAIINGENAEARE
389EEIL * B202FRBARK12798E L THRY
69.6% ©

EHAX

WEHR  AEEMEHBEIAAREM7BEE T
BR0NFRIHAREIMVBETLTBRLY277%  EEH
R ATRFIRD ©



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity, reserves and capital structure

The Group maintained a solid financial position during the Reporting
Period. As at 31 December 2023, the current assets amounted to
RMB1,406.5 million, representing an increase as compared to RMB1,295.3
million as at 31 December 2022. The Group's cash and cash equivalents
were mainly denominated in RMB and amounted to RMB638.1 million as
at 31 December 2023, representing an increase of 16.9% from RMB545.7
million as at 31 December 2022. The current ratio (current assets divided
by current liabilities) of the Group as at 31 December 2023 was 1.88,
representing a slight decrease from 2.07 as at 31 December 2022. The
gearing ratio (total liabilities divided by total assets) as at 31 December
2023 was 47.0%, representing an increase of 3.3 percentage points from
43.7% as at 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's total equity amounted to RMB898.6
million, representing an increase of 0.9% from RMB890.2 million as at 31
December 2022, which was mainly due to the growth in operating profit.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's interest-bearing bank borrowings
amounted to RMB44.9 million, representing a decrease of 23.4% as
compared to RMB58.56 million as at 31 December 2022.

The Group's total borrowings were repayable as follows:

EERESNREDN

RBES - RBRESNER

REERMERAEFRBIENTEMR - 12023512
A31BRESEEASARE40658E 7T © $R2022F12
A3AARM12905388TEMEIN - AEEMR &
LR SEMREH /AR - R2023F12A310E
ARB638IAET » B202F 124318 ARMES457H
BITHAN6.9% c AERMM2023F 12831 B REN X
(REBEERREBARE) A1.88  B2022F12A310K
207BEBEIK » PA2023F 12 A3 HWEEABLR(AE
BERR AR E E) B47.0% 8202212331 HAY43.7%3%
N33EE D -

AREER2023F12A3BNEZRE A ARES886
BHEJTT  B2022F 128318 ARK-90. 2B E TN
09% * FERRLEERFIFHRALE o

AREEP2023F 12831 B BRITER A AR K449
BEJIT 0 82022512831 EAE%S&%E%%»@M\
23.4% °

AEBREREEEBINAT

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBT T

Bank loans repayable: AR T EEERMRITER :
Within one year or on demand —FRRIREK 13,791 13,822
In the second year NEZF 13,822 13,820
In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZFE2ERAF(BIEEEMTF) 17,241 30,915
Total HEt 44,854 58,557

ABREERERAT . —B-SFER 027;



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s bank loans are secured by mortgages over 80% equity of
Wuhan Huidehang Jingying Property Management Co.,, Ltd (an indirectly
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) and guaranteed by
Nanjing Hong Yang Property Management Co., Ltd (an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company).

As at 31 December 2023, all of the Group’s bank borrowings bear interest
at fixed interest rates.

The Group actively reviews and manages its capital structure on a
regular basis to maintain a balance between the relatively high returns
to the owners of the Group and possible high level of borrowings and
maintains the advantages and security of a sound capital position. The
Group also makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.

Trade receivables

The Group's trade receivables primarily include receivables from
customers for property management services and community
value-added services. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's trade
receivables amounted to RMB254.6 million, representing an increase of
approximately 33.3% from RMB191.0 million as at 31 December 2022,
which was mainly due to increase in the number of projects under
management by the Group and the lower overall collection rate of newly
taken-over projects.

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets

The Group's prepayments, other receivables and other assets primarily
consist of prepayments on behalf of customers to utility suppliers, other
deposits, amounts due from third parties and other tax recoverable. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other
receivables amounted to RMB123.4 million, representing an increase
of 12.0% from RMB110.1 million as at 31 December 2022, primarily
due to the increase in prepayments on behalf of customers to utility
suppliers resulting from the increase in the number of projects under

management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade payables

The Group’s trade payables mainly comprise amounts due to
subcontractors of property management services. As at 31 December
2023, the Group'’s trade payables amounted to RMB195.9 million,
representing an increase of approximately 29.6% from RMB151.1 million
as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly due to the increase in the
number of projects under management by the Group, resulting in an
expansion of the corresponding outsourcing scale.

Contract liabilities

The Group's contract liabilities mainly represent the advance payments
made by customers while our underlying services are yet to be provided.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's contract liabilities amounted to
RMB252.6 million, representing an increase of approximately 11.0%
from RMB227.5 million as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly due
to the continuous growth in the number of property projects under
management as a result of the Group’s business expansion.

Other payables and accruals

The Group's other payables and accruals primarily comprise payroll and
welfare payable to our employees, receipts on behalf of community
residents for utilities, business tax and surcharges, and other payables. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group's other payables and accruals amounted
to RMB204.7 million, representing an increase of approximately 14.1%
from RMB179.3 million as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly due
to the increase in receipts in advance on behalf of utility suppliers from
customers resulting from the increase in the number of projects under

management.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have material contingent
liabilities or guarantees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

In 2024, the Group will adhere to the original intention of “making life
warmer,” formulate development strategic plans in combination with the
transformation of the market environment with the need of customers as
the core, deeply analyze the achievement of key strategic performance in
previous years and provide accurate and targeted services with warmth
and thoughtfulness, high quality and stability.

In 2024, the Group will continue to broaden the new track, as well as
deeply develop its advantageous fields, balance the complementary
relationship between business growth and stock, ensure healthy business
development in terms of systems, and achieve sustainable and quality

growth in business scale and profits.

Deep Development and Broad Expansion and Innovation. The Group
has always been committed to the development strategy of “deeply
developing in Jiangsu, and expanding presence in the Yangtze River
Delta region”, focusing on the targeted development of other central
cities with advantages, seeking opportunities in development, winning
market opportunities and gaining customer trust.

In terms of market expansion, the Company will integrate resources with
taking Jiangsu Province as the core development area, provide high-
quality basic services, and help scale high-quality and steady expansion.
We will incubate new products from the basic portfolio, innovate new
types of businesses on an incremental basis, actively develop diversified
value-added services, increase the number of service projects in the
region to generate economies of scale, and reduce costs and increase
efficiency.

Improve Business, Quality and Efficiency. The Group will continue
to strengthen industry exchanges, draw on the innovative ideas and
successful cases of leading enterprises, form a standardized service
system with Redsun’s characteristics through pilot operations, and
promote standardized replication to improve management efficiency.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We will continue to strengthen the business training of the "Hong
Elite”, “"Redsun Housekeeper” and “Hong Master”, to enhance overall
service and improve the profitability of individual projects. We will sort
out and improve the efficiency plan on a case by case basis, focusing
on the management and improvement of the efficiency of such
segments as parking space system management, energy consumption
reduction, cost recruitment and procurement management, personnel
organization efficiency and digital information system upgrade, so as to
realize intelligent replacement of manual management, mechanize and
improve operation efficiency, and intelligently improve management
efficiency. Efficiency and overall profitability will be improved through
refined business, smooth processes, clear rights and responsibilities, and

online technology.

Value-added Services and Rational Connections. Through market
research on the daily life needs of customers, in-depth research on
product quality and service chain supply and customer group analysis,
the Group will give full play to its own resource advantages, re-design
value-added business products from the perspective of customers, open
up a number of new business tracks (such as Hongteng Decoration (54
2L £67), Hongyang Selection (SAFZ183%
property decoration and online home decoration business, and specialize

), with which deeply integrate

in professional and refined services. At the same time, we will carry
out community retail business, seize market opportunities to promote
intelligent business, etc,, meet the diverse service needs of customers,
gain customers for product quality and service quality, improve customer
satisfaction, and enhance customer stickiness.

Community Elderly Care with Promising Potential. The Group will
actively integrate its resources with community hospitals, recreation
and leisure centres and sanatoriums to provide a complete set of link-up
services from offline consultation to online medical advice. Community
hospital sites are also set up in the residential area to reduce the pressure
of on-site medical treatment for hospitals. We also explore diversified and
personalized community home elderly care services, plan and design
recreational clubs. Based on the special home elderly care service list,
the Group will advance “property + elderly care services,” and create
integrated community services to meet customer needs so as to seek
new profit growth streams for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Customer Satisfaction and Quality Improvement. In order to
continuously improve customer satisfaction and customer loyalty,
the Group continued to adhere to the service concept of “customer-
centric,” combined with changes in the market environment and
business structure, and continuously optimize the service system, quality
standards and system construction, so that the Company’s quality control
system can match the market demand and internal development needs
and strive to provide high-quality services.

Taking leading enterprises and enterprises of the same scale as in-depth
benchmarking, the Group, in combination with the Group's corporate
culture and business structure, defines the development direction of
residential and non-residential businesses, adheres to quality-oriented,
and establishes a quality control system and cost standard system for
the whole business landscape and full life cycle. We will actively carry out
diversified value-added services, increase the level of project revenue
within the unit scale, and with the help of an intelligent platform, we will
optimize customer service experience while improving management
efficiency, and achieve continuous improvement in our reputation

among customers and service quality.

Digital Information Guarantee, and Improvement in Efficiency
Systemically. According to the business development of the industry
and the Company, the Group continues to upgrade and optimize the
digital information system in light of the information development, and
realizes data sharing, modules integrations and business synergy. In 2024,
placing focuses on governance of system data to ensure data accuracy
and timeliness, we will strive to realize data sharing, and improve
the utilization rate of data assets among systems through aligning
investment, financial and operating systems, and provide accurate data
analysis support for business decision-making through business analysis
platforms and multi-scenario outputs so as to assist in operations and risk

control.

032 Redsun Services Group Limited - Annual Report 2023

EFEFmE mERA - ARERATFPAHEENE
FREE  AEBEBFRATARTF BT OIHREE
T BAMBRENEHAEREL  KRHKER E
ERENGEERETETEHEL  EAREEER
BACETSHERMALERFTE  EXREERE

o

oo
3d
5

AEEREHREERFRRBREEREHER  BeLE
BEECMEBER - BREETSMIFEERRRT
M BERERAN  BUDER 2AGEHMNES
EERBEAMKAZERR - BHRARZTTIERERS
REEMRBEANER ZYOKF - WEBE LT
a EEERMNRARELCEFPREER  BREP
O A8 RN AR o & M5 BRIt

BERE  ZRREXM - ARERBETRRARRHE
B’ CRESMERFEETHRENL BERBEH
F - RERMEBBE - 20245 - EHHRGHIE
EITRE - REEEEREMEEL - HRKE - B
BMELRZRBERARHEBELT  BABEBEED
MAR BEKENTFEMNZEREL - REER
RIBHBEHENITE - O EMARIAE -

0



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Organized Development and Cultural Protection. We adhered to a
flat organizational structure with maintaining a streamlined and efficient
organizational model. We will strengthen the talent deployment concept
of “advancement of headquarters, enhancement of branches, and
optimization of projects”. By enhancing the complexity of division of
labor and nurturing three major key talents, namely, “Hong Elite”, “Redsun
Housekeeper” and “Hong Master”, we use innovation to bring vitality and
safeguard our competitiveness.

Adhering to the core values of “professionalism and building credibility
for the long term”, we will reinforce our principle of being talent-
oriented, fighter-oriented and contributor-oriented and uphold our
ideals of health, hard work, practicality, vitality, affinity, coordination and
facing problems. Based on such values and principle, corporate cultural
development was facilitated and a consensus among employees was
reached.

In 2024, as the property management industry advances to a higher
quality direction, the Group will rely on its continuously enhancing
service power, operational capacity and innovative power, work hard
to make new achievements and try its best endeavors to become a
venerable good life operator.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE/OTHER INFORMATION

1.

034
D

Material Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals

There was no other material investment, acquisition and disposal
of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures by the Group during
the Reporting Period.

Employment and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 3,203 employees in
total, of which 2,515 employees were engaged in property
management and related services for residential properties, 307
employees were engaged in property management and related
services for commercial properties and 381 employees were
engaged in property management and related services for public
construction properties.

The emolument of the employees of the Group is mainly
determined based on their duties, performance and the prevailing
market level in the respective regions. The Group has formulated
a systematic and market-competitive employee incentive plan
and a comprehensive talent cultivation scheme based on its
business to attract and retain talents through offering competitive
salary packages, comprehensive talent training strategies,
internal promotion system and a caring corporate culture. In
addition, focusing on the entire process of talent cultivation and
development, the Group has also formulated the systematic
talent cultivation scheme, for enhancing the quality of talents and
broadening its pool of talents. The Group has designed the “Hong
Elite Scheme (BA#& #E51El)", "“Management Trainee programme”,
and "Hong Yao Scheme (SABETEl) for the key talents, as well
as cultivated city companies “Hong Elite”, “Redsun Housekeeper”
and “Hong Master” for enhancing capabilities of the Company’s
customer services, in which systematic arrangements are
implemented to provide the employees of the Group with clear
development path and secure the demand for talents in different
business segments and levels.

The Group believes that talent cultivation scheme of the Group

will enhance team building, improve team capability, and provide
talent pipelines for the business development of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERESNREDN

BRAFRBENBERKRESEEMENE
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JC ° AR B INR 202057 Bo7HEB B 2 EITE
BRI TS B F 5B B &8 TT »

Use of Net Proceeds Raised from Initial Public Offering 3.
and Over-allotment Option

The net proceeds from initial public offering amounted to
approximately HK$398 million. On 27 July 2020, the Company also
received net proceeds of HK$62.1 million from the full exercise of
over-allotment option.

TREVIFTERIEFEAR2023F12A31HNE
BR®REE

The table below sets out the details of actual usage of the net
proceeds as at 31 December 2023:

Net Proceeds (HK$ million)

FERERE(EEET)
Percentage Available Used Used
BHAL AEA E8A E8A
From the For the
Listing twelve
Net Date and months
ended 31
from the December December
Listing 2023 2023
BZE
B EmHEH 2023
RZE2023%F  12A31H1E
12A31H TR

proceeds up to 31

LA
REFER

Selective strategic investment and
acquisition and further expansion of

BRI E LR L
E-FBEANXEEEH

property management business HR 40% 184 184 30
R&D and upgrade of intelligent system BRERGHMERAR 30% 138 138 48
Improvement of service quality RIS E £ 10% 46 46 4
Recruitment of talents and improvement A5 A7 & 2kE 8 T I

of employee training and employee ETREANHIE

benefit system 10% 46 46 8
Working capital and general corporate LEEL N —RATAE

purposes 10% 46 46
Total At 100% 460 460 9
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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4, Events after the Reporting Period
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On 23 January 2024, the Company was informed by Hong Yang
Group Company Limited, its controlling shareholder, that Serica
Agency Limited (the "Petitioner”) filed a winding up petition
dated 19 January 2024 (the “Petition”) against Hong Yang Group
Company Limited in the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region for an order that Hong Yang Group
Company Limited be wound up by the High Court under the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Chapter 32, Laws of Hong Kong) on the ground that Hong Yang
Group Company Limited was unable to repay the Petitioner in the
sum of USD288,578,125, being the amount of payment under the
USD275,000,000 9.875% guaranteed senior notes due 2022 issued
by Hong Seng Limited, inclusive of interest up to August 2022
(the "Senior Notes"). Hong Seng Limited is a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hong Yang Group Company Limited. Hong Yang
Group Company Limited is the guarantor of the Senior Notes.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 23 January 2024. The Company will make further
announcement(s) to keep its shareholders and potential investors
informed of any significant developments in relation to the
Petition as and when appropriate.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material events after
the Reporting Period.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

Neither the Group nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.
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10.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group primarily operates in the PRC and the majority of
transactions were denominated and settled in RMB. As at the
date of this report, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions to mitigate the exposure to foreign exchange risk.
The Group will continue to monitor foreign exchange activities
and safeguard the cash value of the Group with its best efforts.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

The Group is committed to implementing high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhance the corporate value
as well as the responsibility commitments. The Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) as its corporate governance standards and, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has complied with
all applicable code provisions set out in Part 2 of the CG Code
during the Reporting Period.

The Directors will use their best endeavors to procure the
Company to continue to comply with the CG Code.

Annual General Meeting

An annual general meeting (the "AGM”") has been scheduled to
be convened at 10:00 a.m. on Friday, 21 June 2024.

Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining the rights to attend and vote
at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 18 June 2024 to Friday, 21 June 2024, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. All transfer documents of the Company accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the branch
share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare
16, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong

Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-17

Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 17 June
2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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B2 #7

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code for dealing in
securities in the Company by the Directors.

The Directors have confirmed compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

Review of Annual Results by the Audit Committee

The Board has established its audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing
Rules and code provision D.3 of the CG Code.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process, internal control and risk
management system of the Group, oversee the audit process,
provide advice and comments to the Board, perform other duties
and responsibilities as may be assigned by the Board.

The audit committee consists of four members, including three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhao Xianbo,
Ms. Wang Fen and Mr. Li Xiaohang; and one non-executive
Director, Mr. Zeng Junkai. The audit committee is chaired by
Mr. Zhao Xianbo, an independent non-executive Director who
possesses appropriate professional accounting and related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules.

Our audit committee has reviewed the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
confirmed that it has complied with all applicable accounting
principles, standards and requirements, and made sufficient
disclosures. Our audit committee has also discussed the matters
of audit and financial reporting.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. ZENG Junkai (G £ 8]l), aged 30, has served as the chairman of
the Board, a non-executive Director, an Authorized representative, the
chairman of the Nomination committee and a member of the Audit
committee of the Group since 23 December 2021. He has been an
executive director and a vice president of Redsun Properties Group
Limited ("Redsun Properties’, together with its subsidiaries, the “Redsun
Properties Group”), a company listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 1996), since February 2021, and the general
manager of the Nanjing regional companies (& 7 [ 13, /2 7] 42 4% 32)
of the Redsun Properties Group from January 2021 to November 2022.
He served as the general manager of the Chengdu regional companies
(A B 13 A R 424X FE) of the Redsun Properties Group from October
2018 to January 2021 and the assistant president of Hong Yang Group
Company Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company, from
May 2016 to October 2018.

Mr. Zeng Junkai graduated from Wharton School of Business, University
of Pennsylvania in the United States of America and obtained a bachelor
degree in Economics (majoring in Finance) in May 2016. Mr. Zeng Junkai
is a committee member of Jiangsu Province’s 13th Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (T #x%& B 175 +
ZJEZ B®), an executive vice president of Jiangsu Overseas Chinese
Chamber of Commerce (L& & BRI A2 ®) and the executive vice
president of Jiangsu Young Entrepreneurs Federation. Mr. Zeng Junkai is
the son of Mr. Zeng Huansha, a controlling shareholder of the Company,
and the brother of Ms. Zeng Zixi, an executive Director and the daughter

of Mr. Zeng Huansha.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. ZENG Zixi (& FE&), whose former name was Zeng Cheng (&
#£), aged 31, was appointed as our executive Director on March 16,
2020 and our vice president since October 31, 2018. She had been
our assistant president from March 2017 to October 2018 and the vice
general manager of our operational management department when
she joined our Group in September 2016, and remained in position until
March 2017. Ms. Zeng Zixi is primarily responsible for the operational
management of our Group. From July 2016 to September 2016, Ms. Zeng
Zixi was the general manager of Nanjing Hong Yang Plaza (5 545
&%) business operation department of Nanjing Hong Yang Business
Management Co, Ltd. (R R A5 R E B R AR 2 7)), a company that
is controlled by Mr. Zeng Huansha, the ultimate controlling shareholder,
and was mainly responsible for the operational management of the
project Nanjing Hong Yang Plaza. She has approximately four years of
experience in property management services. Prior to joining our Group,
Ms. Zeng Zixi worked as an analyst in ABC International Holdings Limited
from July 2015 to June 2016, where she was mainly responsible for

assisting in securities trading clearing and accounts maintenance.

Ms. Zeng Zixi graduated from Renmin University of China (FBI A R
KE2) in the PRC in July 2015, where she obtained a bachelor degree in
journalism. Ms. Zeng Zixi is the daughter of Mr. Zeng Huansha, who is our
ultimate controlling shareholder and the sister of Mr. Zeng Junkai, a non-
executive Director of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. WANG Fen (E£%), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on June 12, 2020. She is primarily responsible for
providing independent advice on the operations and management of
our Group. Ms. Wang Fen was the independent Director of Guirenniao
Co., Ltd. (B A BR&DBBR A F]) (Shanghai Stock Exchange stock
code: 603555) from May 2017 to December 2020. She was an assistant
professor of the School of Management and Economics of Beijing
Institute of Technology (3L 132 T K22 since July 2001. She was also
the human resources director and principal of Haidilao University of
Sichuan Haidilao Catering Corporation Ltd. (PU)11 /8 & # Z 8k B% 17 A BR
2 7)) from November 2007 to December 2012, where she was mainly
responsible for the planning of human resources development and the
operational management of Haidilao University. Ms. Wang Fen has been
the management consultant of various companies since 2013, including
Beijing Jiangnan Green Tea Catering Co., Ltd. At FUL B4R R ERE
PR A 7)), Jingruan Beauty Management Co., Ltd. FFIEEXABIEBR
A 7)) and Beijing Hongying Times Educational Technology Co,, Ltd (1t
FA BB R BRI AR A ). She has many years of experience in
experience in business management.

Ms. Wang Fen obtained a bachelor degree in management engineering
from Beijing Institute of Technology in the PRC in July 1988. She later
obtained a master degree in management engineering from Shanghai
Jiao Tong University (/82238 A£2) in the PRC in March 1995, and a
doctor degree in management science and engineering from Beijing
Institute of Technology in the PRC in July 2005.
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ESRSREERE

BAKHTES

TELZL 5758 0 B2020F6 A 12B LT AB L IEHR
TEF FEEEEHASENEZ REERHEY
BR - TELLTAI7FSAE2020FNAEEEAS
BDBRRF(LEEHZ ARG RS © 6035558
BUEE - HE001F7AREFILRET KEERE
LRSI ZUR o IR 2007F 11 B E 20129128
BEAEM)IEESERRDERATHNANEREER
BERBAERR  TZHEANEREEHEIIRER
BMABEBEEIR - A2013F8 TEXLTEEISZR
TENEERM  BEEIREREREGRAAE -
HEEAEBARAFA M FABHRHEREER
DA BHEZFENPMEBTERLR -

FERTMN1988F7 ARGHRI RBET REERTE
BB o HEERR1995FIAESTE LER@mAE
EETRELTEMN  WR2005F7EESFREILFRET
AEBEENBR TRIETSM -

AERSEEERAT . —E-ZFFR 041



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREERE

Mr. LI Xiaohang (2R 1), aged 52, has served as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the nomination committee, the
audit committee and the remuneration committee of the Board of the
Group respectively since 2 August 2021. He has over 22 years of working
experience in engineering, town planning and city management. Mr. Li
is a registered urban planner and a senior engineer for urban planning.
He holds a master degree in engineering from University of Electronic
Science and Technology of China. Mr. Li has served as the chairman of
the board of directors of Liaoning Shenhua Holdings Co,, Ltd. (formerly
known as Shanghai Shenhua Holdings Co,, Ltd,, “Shenhua Holdings"), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (the “SSE”) (stock code:
600653) from November 2019 to June 2021 and as the secretary of the
party committee of Shenhua Holdings from October 2019 to June 2021.
He has served as the secretary of the party committee and the chairman
of the board of directors of Zhongxing Shenyang Commercial Building
Group Co,, Ltd, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 000715) from August 2014 to January 2018. In addition, Mr. Li has
served in various government units, including the Shenyang Planning
and Land Resources Bureau, the committee of Liaozhong district,
Shenyang (&PF5 T & Z) and the district committee of Shenyang
Dongling District (Hunnan New District), and has extensive experience in
management in government bodies.

Mr. ZHAO Xianbo (# 38 i), aged 43, has served as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Group respectively since 23 December 2021. Mr. Zhao is a member
of each of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (CICPA),
the Institute of Public Accountants (IPA), Australia, and the Institute of
Financial Accountants (IFA), the United Kingdom. He holds a bachelor’s
degree in Economics from Qingdao University in Shandong, China. Mr.
Zhao has been a partner of ShingWing LLP since November 2019.

Mr. Zhao has also worked at other accounting firms including Ruihua
Certified Public Accountants LLP, Grant Thornton LLP and PanChina
Certified Public Accountants LLP. He has been an independent
director of Shanghai Tongling Automotive Technologies, Inc. (Tongling
Technologies) since August 2022 , and an independent director of
GOLOHO Polymer Materials (Jiangsu) Ltd. since September 2023. Mr.
Zhao has approximately 20 years of working experience in the industry of
finance and auditing and possesses extensive experience in finance and
auditing.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen Yichun (R £), aged 46, has served as the Vice President
of the Group (presiding over the work) since September 2022. He is
currently the Executive President of the Company. Joining Hong Yang
Group Company Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Group, in
May 2019, Mr. Chen successively served as the general manager of the
customer relations department of Redsun Properties Group Limited
and the general manager of the customer relations department of
Hong Yang Group Company Limited, and has been the chief operating
officer of the Group since June 2022. Prior to joining Hong Yang Group
Company Limited, Mr. Chen successively worked at China Vanke Co,, Ltd,
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000002),
CIFI Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd., a company listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 00884) and Jiangsu Zhongnan
Construction Group Co, Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 000961), and engaged in property management,
customer relations management, project management, large-scale
operation management and regional management.

Mr. Chen graduated from Northwestern Polytechnical University majoring
in civil engineering, and is a national-registered first-class constructor.

Ms. ZENG Zixi (& FER), whose former name was Zeng Cheng (& 72),
aged 31, was appointed as our executive Director on March 16, 2020 and
vice president in October 2018. Please refer to the subsection headed
"Board of Directors” above for details of her biography.
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Mr. CHENG Jian (B¢ #), aged 45, has been our vice president since July
2019. He is primarily responsible for the business expansion of our Group.
He is currently an executive director of a number of our subsidiaries
including Nanjing Hong Yang Property Management and Nanjing Hong
Life Property Management. He was the assistant president and general
manager of Nanjing Hong Yang Property Management, from August
2016 to July 2019, during which he was mainly responsible for the
implementation of strategies and the overall budget management of
our Group. From September 2014 to August 2016, Mr. Cheng Jian served
as our vice general manager and was mainly responsible for the annual
operational and budget planning. He was the vice general manager of
the management office of Wuxi Suyuan Tanxiwan Property Co,, Ltd. (&
5 BR R AER B 3 5 R /A 7)), a subsidiary of Nanjing Redsun, from July
2011 to September 2014, during which he was mainly responsible for the
overall operational management and the annual operational and budget

planning.

Prior to joining Nanjing Redsun, he also served as a vice general manager
and project manager of Nanjing City Yincheng Property Services Co,,
Ltd. (F9 S SR I ¥ 2 AR5 B PR A 7)) from April 2003 to October 2010
an assistant to the manager at Pengji Property Jinshan Mansion (5%
)% 211 KE) of Shenzhen Pengji Property Management Co,, Ltd. (%
JIPSE M E B IZH R A 7)) from January 2002 to March 2003, and an
administrative assistant at Nanjing Yadong Xianhe Villa (78 & 30 2111 %5
I &) of Nanjing Ya Dong Property Management from 2000 to 2001. He
has over 19 years of experience in the property management industry.

Mr. Cheng Jian received a certificate for the completion of the Yincheng
Property Senior Manager EMBA course (SR3k i B = 4% 4538 T B 18
T84 (EMBA)FRF2) at Nanjing University (B8 /L AE2) in April 2009. He
was qualified as a National Property Management Enterprise Manager
(ZEIYEE R L) by the Human Resources and Education
Department of the Ministry of Urban-Rural Development (&% &8 A E
# & 7)) and the Housing and Real Estate Department of the Ministry of
Urban-Rural Development (2% B 55 84 /% b ZE 3 7)) of the PRC in
June 2002.
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Mr. Hu Chunhuang (88 %&J&), aged 41, joined the Group in August 2022
as the Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Hu joined Hong Yang Group Company
Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Group, in April 2019, and
successively served as the head of financial operation function at the
finance and capital center, the general manager of financial operation
and management at the strategic operation center, as well as the general
manager of the finance management department at the commercial
group. Prior to joining Hong Yang Group Company Limited, Mr. Hu
successively held office and engaged in financial and fund management
in Yango Group (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 000671), Wanda Commercial Properties Company Limited
and Jingrui Holdings Limited (a company listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, stock code: 01862).

Mr. Hu holds a bachelor’s degree in management from Fuzhou University,
a master's degree in accounting (MPAcc) from Shanghai University of
Finance and Economics and Shanghai National Accounting Institute, he
is also an associate member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants in the United Kingdom (ACMA) and a Chartered Global
Management Accountant (CGMA).

Mr. LIU Kesheng (2152 ), aged 47, has been our general manager of
the business development department since July 15, 2019. He is primarily
responsible for the business development of our Group. He was the
vice general manager of our Sunan branch from January 2019 to July
2019 and the person in charge of the general management office of our
Changzhou branch from August 2018 to January 2019, during which he
was mainly responsible for our operational management. He was also the
project manager of our Jiangbei branch from May 2015 to August 2018,
during which he was responsible for the management of several projects
including Solaris Institution (& A 22 f), Great Time at Joy Peak East
District (15 1§ B ¢ B 3 &), Great Time at Joy Peak West District (13t I B
St E ) and Swallow River Residence (B¢ E7ER]). He has years of
experience in the property management industry.

Mr. Liu Kesheng graduated from the Southwest University (FiFa A E2)
in the PRC in July 2019, majoring in administrative management. He also
obtained the Nanjing Property Management Practitioner Certificate (F
RYETIENE ABE) from the Nanjing Real Estate Education
Training Centre (A R B HEZ B E)IF ) in May 2018,
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Li Yonggang (Z=k ffll), was appointed as a joint company secretary
of the Company on 25 March 2021.

Mr. Li, aged 47, has been the head of listing office of Hong Yang Group
Company Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company, since
September 2016. He is primarily responsible for the securities affairs and
compliance matters of the Group.

Mr. Li has over 15 years of experience in the corporate governance and
company secretarial field. Before joining the Company, from 2000 to
2008, he served as a financial staff of Anhui BBCA Biochemical Co,, Ltd,
LTD (now renamed as COFCO Biochemical (Anhui) Co., Ltd., SZ000930)
and Anhui Fengyuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (52000153), and served
as a chief financial officer of BBCA France SAS and BBCA Belgium NV,
the deputy head of financial department and investment development
department of Anhui Fengyuan Group Co,, Limited. From 2008 to 2011,
he served as secretary to the Board and chief financial officer of Anhui
Tiger Biotechnology Co., Ltd. From 2011 to 2016, he served as the deputy
general manager and secretary to the Board of Taifu Industrial Co,, Ltd.
(now renamed as Yunding Technology Co,, Ltd., SZ000409). Since April
2019, he has been appointed as a joint company secretary of Redsun
Properties Group Limited (stock code: 1996.HK).

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor degree of economics from Henan University of
Technology in June 2000, a master degree of management from Anhui
University of Finance and Economics in June 2013 and an undergraduate
diploma in law from Nanjing University in July 2020. Mr. Li was awarded
the qualification of Middle Grade Accountant by the Personnel
Department in Anhui Province in May 2009, and he was awarded the
qualification of Middle Grade Economist by the Human Resources and
Social Security Department in Shandong Province in November 2014.

With extensive working experience, Mr. Li is familiar with the PRC laws,
company secretarial and compliance matters of the Company.
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Ms. Yung Mei Yee, Ms. Yung is a vice president of SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. Ms. Yung has over 20 years of
experience in handling company secretarial, corporate governance and
compliance affairs of listed companies. Ms. Yung has held various senior
company secretarial positions in and acted as the company secretary or
joint company secretary of a number of companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. She is currently the joint company secretary of a few listed
companies on the Stock Exchange. She is a fellow of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom. She obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts in
accountancy and a master’s degree of arts in language and law from the
City University of Hong Kong, and a bachelor’s degree of laws from the
University of London.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESBRS

The Board presents the directors’ report for the financial year ended 31
December 2023.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Cayman Companies Law, as an exempted company with limited liability
on 12 December 2019. The shares of the Company (the “Shares") were
listed on the Stock Exchange on 7 July 2020 (the “Listing Date”).

PRINCIPAL OPERATIONS

The Group is a well-recognized comprehensive community service
provider in Jiangsu province, China, with region-leading and balanced
property management abilities in the management of residential and
commercial properties. Through the Group’s continued development
over the years, it has established its regional leading position in the
property management market of Jiangsu province and are well-
recognized nationwide as it kept expanding its business in the rest of
the country. The Group provides a wide range of property management
services to property owners, residents and tenants. It also provides value-
added services to non-property owners, primarily property developers
and other property management companies and community value-
added services to residential property owners and residents.

Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Group are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements of
the Group in this annual report. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group's principal activities during the year ended 31
December 2023. As at the date of this annual report, the Board has no
intention to significantly change the principal business of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the
Group in this annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion
on the Group's future business development are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis—Outlook”. An analysis of
the Group's performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis”. Save as disclosed in the subsection headed "4. Events after the
Reporting Period" in the "Management Discussion and Analysis" in this
annual report, the Group has no significant events after the end of the
financial year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis—Material Acquisitions and Disposals” in this annual report, during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries and associated companies.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity in this annual report. As at 31 December 2023, the distributable
reserve of the Company amounted to approximately RMB338.3 million.
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DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

The table below sets forth the types of our major customers for each of
our three business lines.

B
BEESTEEAREE2023F12A31H ILFE RN K
A8 -

FERXFRMERS

FEEF

TR R =ZGEBREANTREPRL

Business line Major customers EHR FEEF
Property management  Property owners, residents and tenants, M EIRIRES ¥x (FPREMEP - EXEXZEB
services property owners' associations and property 2 REMERER

developers
Value-added services Property developers and other property X FIBERE EiEMEE REMYEEIE
to non-property owners  management companies YNG]
Community value- Property owners and residents FIE 1B AR T XEREP

added services

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue derived from sales to our
five largest customers accounted for approximately 19.5% of the total
revenue of the Group and revenue derived from sales of the Group to the
single largest customer accounted for approximately 13.2% of the total
revenue of the Group during the same period.

All of our five largest customers of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 were connected persons of the Group. Among
others, Redsun Materials City Group is an associate of the Controlling
Shareholders. Redsun Materials City is owned as to 100% by Mr. Zeng
Huansha, a controlling shareholder. As of the Latest Practicable Date,
unless otherwise disclosed in this annual report, none of our Directors,
their close associates or any Shareholders which, to the knowledge of
our Directors, owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company, had any interest in any of the five largest customers of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Major Suppliers FTEMHER

The table below sets forth the types of our major suppliers for each of our ~ NREFIBRFIZIGER S S AN T BHEREL
three business lines.

Business line Major suppliers 450 FEMER

Property management ~ Sub-contractors providing security, ) E IR AR TS RHLR - BFER  HERE

services cleaning, greening and gardening, and U RBERRERBON S
repair and maintenance services B

Value-added services Sub-contractors providing cleaning, FEHEFRERE REER - G REZE - UKk

to non-property greening and gardening, and repair and HERRERBN S B

owners maintenance services

Community value- Vendors providing resident services @ R E AR S REETERBHER

added services

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the five largest suppliers of ~ #FE2023F12A31BIEFE » AEE R RKHER (5
the Group, which are all independent third parties, accounted for BBV E = F)GAEBABRETEL151% 0 MRFE
approximately 15.1% of the total purchases of the Group; and purchases 2 » KREASEEE —H AHEEREEGAEE M
from our single largest supplier accounted for approximately 34% of the  4BFREEEAAI3.4% °

total purchases of the Group during the same period.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors, their close B ZE&EA{THE  MEEE EEFBHBASRE
associates or any Shareholders who, to the knowledge of the Directors, S FT &N A 2N 2 B]5%LA £ B BT AR E AR R AME
owned more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company, had ~ fal L K FE i AR R A T frl bk o

any interest in any of the five largest suppliers.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that the employees, customers and suppliers are
keys to corporate sustainability and are keen on developing long-term
relationships with stakeholders. The Company places significant emphasis
on human capital and strives to foster an environment in which the
employee can develop their full potential and to assist their personal and
professional growth. The Company provides a fair and safe workplace,
promoting diversity to its staff, providing competitive remuneration and
benefits and career development opportunities based on their merits and
performance. The Group also puts on-going efforts to provide adequate
trainings and development resources to the employees so that they can
keep abreast of the latest development of the market and the industry
and, at the same time, improve their performance and self-fulfillment in
their positions. The Company understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with customers. The Group has established procedures
in place for handling customers’ complaints and customer satisfaction
surveys in order to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a
prompt and timely manner. The Group is also dedicated to develop good
relationship with suppliers as long-term business partners to ensure
stable supplies of materials. The Group reinforces business partnerships
with suppliers and contractors by recurring communication in proactive
and effective manner so as to ensure quality and delivery.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has 415,000,000 Shares

inissue.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Non-executive Director

Mr. Zeng Junkai (Chairman)

Executive Director

Ms. Zeng Zixi

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wang Fen
Mr. Li Xiaohang
Mr. Zhao Xianbo

Directors’ Service Contracts

Ms. Zeng Zixi, as an executive Director, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years and shall be subject
retirement from office and re-election as and when required under the
Articles of Association.

Mr. Zeng Junkai, as the non-executive Director, has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years and shall be
subject to retirement from office and re-election as and when required
under the Articles of Association.

Each of Ms. Wang Fen, Mr. Li Xiaohang and Mr. Zhao Xianbo as the
independent non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, respectively,
and shall be subject to retirement from office and re-election as and
when required under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received a confirmation of independence from each
of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and concluded
that all the independent non-executive Directors are considered to be
independent pursuant to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2023, none of the controlling shareholders of the
Group or the Directors was engaged or had interest in any business, apart
from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business, which would require
disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKINGS

Deed of Non-Competition

The Group's controlling shareholders, namely, Mr. Zeng Huansha, Hong
Yang Group (Holdings), Hong Yang International Limited (‘Hong Yang
International’), Hong Yang Group Company Limited ("Hong Yang
Group Company”) and Redsun Services Group (Holdings) Limited
(‘Redsun Services Group (Holdings)") (together, the “Covenantors”)
entered into a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-
Competition”) in favor of the Company for ourselves and as trustee
for the benefit of each of our subsidiaries on 16 June 2020, pursuant to
which each of the Covenantors has, among other things, irrevocably
and unconditionally undertaken, jointly and severally, with the Company
that, each of the Covenantors shall not, and shall procure that his/its
close associates (other than members of our Group) will not, directly
or indirectly, carry on, engage in, invest in, participate in, attempt to
participate in, render any services to, provide any financial support to
or otherwise be involved in or interested in, whether alone or jointly
with another person and whether directly or indirectly or on behalf
of or to assist or act in concert with any other person, any business or
investment activities in the PRC and Hong Kong which are the same as,
similar to or in competition with the business carried on or contemplated
to be carried on by any member of the Group from time to time (the
“Restricted Business”).
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The Deed of Non-Competition shall expire on the earlier of (i) the date
when the Covenantors and, as the case may be, any of their close
associates, cease to hold, or otherwise be interested in, beneficially in
aggregate whether directly or indirectly, 30% or more (or such other
percentage of shareholding as stipulated in the Listing Rules to constitute
a controlling shareholder) of the issued share capital of the Company; or
(i) the date on which the Shares cease to be listed on the Stock Exchange
(except for temporary suspension of the trading of the shares).

Annual Review

The Covenantors have confirmed that they did not refer, or to procure
the referral of, any investment or commercial opportunities relating to
the Restricted Business to the Group during the year ended 31 December
2023.

The Company has received a written confirmation from each of the
Covenantors in respect of the compliance by them and their close
associates with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Deed of
Non-Competition and assessed whether the Covenantors and their
close associates have complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-
Competition, and were satisfied that each of the Covenantors has
complied with its/his undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, details of the Company’s
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December
2023 are as follows:

1. Provision of Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency
Services to Redsun Properties and its Associates

On 11 March 2020, Nanjing Hong Yang Property Management
(together with its subsidiaries, the “Nanjing Hong Yang Property
Management Group”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a parking space sales and leasing
agency services framework agreement with Redsun Properties
Group Limited (“Redsun Properties”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Redsun Properties Group”), pursuant to which
we agreed to provide sales and leasing agency services to Redsun
Properties and its associates in respect of the unsold parking
spaces of Redsun Properties and its associates (the “Parking
Space Sales and Leasing Agency Services Framework
Agreement”). The Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency
Services Framework Agreement took effect on 11 March 2020 and
would be valid until 31 December, 2022, renewable by mutual
agreement of the parties.

Subsequently, on 8 December 2022, the Company entered into
a parking space sales and leasing agency services framework
agreement with Redsun Properties on substantially the same
terms and conditions as the Existing Parking Space Sales and
Leasing Agency Services Framework Agreement, pursuant to
which we agreed to provide sales and leasing agency services
to Redsun Properties and its associates in respect of the unsold
parking spaces of Redsun Properties and its associates (the “New
Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency Services Framework
Agreement’). The New Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency
Services Framework Agreement took effect on 1 January 2023
and will be valid until 31 December 2025, renewable by mutual
agreement of the parties.
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On 7 June 2023, the Company and Redsun Properties entered
into two supplemental parking space sales and leasing agency
services framework agreements (collectively, the “Supplemental
Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency Services
Framework Agreements’), pursuant to which members of the
Group shall pay to members of Redsun Properties Group the
refundable deposits in connection with the sales agency services
contemplated under the Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency
Services Framework Agreement and the New Parking Space Sales
and Leasing Agency Services Framework Agreement, respectively.
The term of the Supplemental Parking Space Sales and Leasing
Agency Services Framework Agreement 1 was from 20 March
2020 to 31 December 2023 with retrospective effect. The term
of the Supplemental Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency
Services Framework Agreement 2 would be from 1 January 2023
to 31 December 2025 with retrospective effect, renewable by
mutual agreement of the parties.

On 16 August 2023, the Company and Redsun Properties entered
into the supplemental agreement to the Supplemental Parking
Space Sales and Leasing Agency Services Framework Agreement
2 (the “Second Supplemental Parking Space Sales and Leasing
Agency Services Framework Agreement 2") to amend and
modify certain terms of the Supplemental Parking Space Sales and
Leasing Agency Services Framework Agreement 2. Pursuant to the
Second Supplemental Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency
Services Framework Agreement 2, for the parking spaces failed to
be sold by the Group, the refundable deposits shall be refunded
in full within 30 working days after the expiration of (i) the
Supplemental Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency Services
Framework Agreement 1 on 31 December 2022; and (ii) the
Supplemental Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency Services
Framework Agreement 2 on 31 December 2025, respectively, or
on the date(s) as agreed by parties under the relevant definitive

sales agency services agreement(s) (whichever is earlier).
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As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios of the
proposed annual caps in respect of the refundable deposits
contemplated under the Supplemental Parking Space Sales and
Leasing Agency Services Framework Agreement 1 exceed 5%
but are less than 25%, such payment of the refundable deposits
constitutes a discloseable transaction and continuing connected
transactions of the Company and is subject to the reporting,
annual review, announcement, circular and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14 and
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Meanwhile, as one or more
of the applicable percentage ratios of the proposed annual
caps in respect of the refundable deposits contemplated under
the Supplemental Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency
Services Framework Agreement 2 exceed 25% but are less than
100%, such payment of the refundable deposits constitutes a
major transaction and continuing connected transactions of
the Company and is subject to the reporting, annual review,
announcement, circular and Independent Shareholders' approval
requirements under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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Pricing policy
The agency fees for the provision of sales and leasing agency

services in respect of unsold parking spaces shall be calculated
based on the following:

Sales/leasing agency fee = contract prices of the sales/leasing of
the subject parking spaces x agreed rate of agency fee

The contract prices of the sales/leasing of the subject parking
spaces shall be determined with reference to the prevailing
market price charged by other independent third party services
providers to Redsun Properties and its associates in respect of
comparable locations. The rate of the sales/leasing agency fee in
respect of the parking spaces of each specific project is subject to
the relevant definitive agreements to be entered into between
the relevant members of the Group and Redsun Properties and its
associates, and shall be determined after arm’s length negotiations
between the relevant parties with reference to prevailing market
price taking into account of prices charged by independent third
parties services providers in respect of comparable services and
locations.

With respect to the unsold parking spaces, the amount of the
refundable deposits shall be equal to total sales reserve price of
such unsold parking spaces, which is a unified standard of Redsun
Properties applicable to the refundable deposits payable by an
independent third party to them in respect of the same services
and is in line with the industry practices. The total sales reserve
price is calculated according to the formula below:

Total selling/sales reserve price = sales reserve price of each
unsold parking space * number of unsold parking spaces under
the relevant definitive sales agency services agreement(s)

The sales reserve price for the unsold parking spaces is determined
with reference to (i) the popularity of the unsold parking spaces;
(ii) the real estate market condition and the scope of services
provided; and (jii) the location of the unsold parking spaces.
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The table below sets forth the annual caps for (i) the expected
maximum aggregate agency fees to be charged by the Group
to Redsun Properties and its associates; and (ii) the refundable
deposits to be paid by the Group to the Redsun Properties Group
for the three years ending 31 December 2025 pursuant to the
New Parking Space Sales and Leasing Agency Services Framework
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Parking Space
Sales and Leasing Agency Services Framework Agreement 2):

TR TREFELEE MHERERGIE
EipR(BRETEAHE REERERBIESRR
EBETTHIZE) + (VANEBRISAGHE R EBE A
W TB R RIEE LR - MBI ZE 20254
RAJNBLE=EFEREBMLGESESL
MHRERFSCNFELR :

For the year For the year For the year

ended 31 ended 31 ended 31

December 2023 December 2024 December 2025
HZE2023F BZE2024F HZE20255F
12B831HLLFEE 12831BLEEE 128318 LEE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

(AREBTT) (AR®TT (KRBT

Expected maximum aggregate agency N5 (& R 5ARG b & & B

fees to be charged by the Group to BEgE AYEREY
Redsun Properties and its associates FEfEaEREES

Maximum daily balance of the RERERH
refundable deposits =R g R

36,007 36,007 36,007

305,949 307919 307,309

Redsun Properties is owned as to 71.88% by Mr. Zeng Huansha, a
controlling shareholder of the Company. Thus, Redsun Properties
is an associate of Mr. Zeng Huansha and therefore a connected
person of the Company.
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2.

Date of agreement:

Effective period:

Parties:

Provision of management services by the Group

(i)

Provision of Property Management Services to
Redsun Properties and its Associates

The Group has entered into the existing property
management services master framework agreement with
Redsun Properties on 11 March 2020 with an effective
period from 11 March 2020 to 31 December 2022,
renewable by mutual agreement of the parties and has
subsequently entered into following framework agreement
on substantially the same terms and conditions as the
Existing Property Management Services Master Framework
Agreement to regulate the transactions between the
Group and Redsun Properties and its Associates in relation
to the provision of a variety of property management
services (the "Property Management Services Master
Framework Agreement”):

8 December 2022

From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025,
renewable by mutual agreement of the parties

The Company (as service provider); and

Redsun Properties (as service recipient)
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Scope of services: (a) Pre-delivery property management and  AR75&1[E : (a) RISATYIEEE R AHE R

related services
Members of the Group shall provide & B KB N ) FE 5L 5ARS M E
pre-delivery property management and MEBEANMEERERY
related services to Redsun Properties and FEFBRE  BEBOREE -
its associates, including but not limited to M LEZAPEE - TR
planning and design, equipment selection, E% ~ 3% TPE B N A B f 1) 54
inspection for each unit, cleaning, gardening, W5 b EE I ELEE 2 AR AT B
maintenance of public order and security in WMEEEREBRE - 2ER
the phases of property preparation, general TR FEIRET - REEE
layout as well as construction drawings, —FP—B B2 BE#E. QH
execution, completion and delivery period MR F 4 R R IRERRTS ©
in respect of the property projects of Redsun
Properties and its associates.

(b) Display units and property sales venues b EERVNEHEEEERE
management services
Members of the Group shall provide AEEKE QAT ERAGHE
management and related services to the REBE ANV EIEB HE D
display units and property sales venues of N RYEBENEBERDE
the property projects during the sales period HERREEIEREBERY -
of the property projects of Redsun Properties BREEIRR A LS TR M
and its associates, including but not limited ERRE - AR THER
to cleaning, gardening, maintenance of ZIRARTE o
public order and security services to the
aforesaid venue.

(c)Pre-delivery property management OBMEREENENRSTAIWE
services for unsold properties EERE
Members of the Group shall provide pre- REBKE LG ERHRLE
delivery property management services B2 (BIEERD) Moh S E &
to Redsun Properties and its associates for HBBEARHINAMEER
unsold properties (including car parking R - BIEBTRRELR B
spaces), including but not limited to 2 BEE - #ERRERE -
security, cleaning, gardening, repair and
maintenance.
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(d) Commercial properties management

services

Members of the Group shall provide
management and related services to the
commercial properties including office
areas, hotels and shopping malls owned
or operated by Redsun Properties and its
associates and relevant common areas,
including but not limited to cleaning,
gardening, maintenance of public order and
security services to the aforesaid venues.

(e) Housing repair management services

Members of the Group shall provide routine
maintenance and repair management
services to the Properties under warranty
sold by Redsun Properties and its
associates, including but not limited to
housing safety management, housing
repair plan management, housing repair
quality management, housing repair
budget management, housing repair
tender management, housing repair
cost management, housing repair factor
management, housing repair construction
management and housing repair

construction supervision services.
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Pricing policy:

Definitive service agreements will be
entered into between the relevant members
of the Group and Redsun Properties and its
associates for the provision of the Property
Management Services. Each definitive
agreement will set out the relevant services
to be provided by the relevant members
of the Group to Redsun Properties and its
associates and the service fees. The definitive
service agreements may only contain
provisions which are in all material respects
consistent with the binding principles,
guidelines, terms and conditions set out in
the Property Management Services Master

Framework Agreement.

The relevant members of the Group
shall, where they are selected following
the relevant tender processes and other
quotation procedures for selection of
services providers, provide management
and related services to Redsun Properties
and its associates according to the tender
and quotation documents and definitive
management services agreements to be
entered into between relevant members
of the Group and Redsun Properties and its
associates from time to time.
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The management fees payable by
Redsun Properties and its associates shall
be determined based on arm’s length
negotiation between Redsun Properties and
its associates and members of the Group,
with reference to a wide range of factors
including but not limited to (i) nature,
age, infrastructure features, geographical
location and neighborhood profile of the
relevant properties; (ii) prevailing market
price charged by other independent third
party services providers to Redsun Properties
and its associates in respect of comparable
services; and (iii) any applicable rates
recommended by the relevant government

authorities.

The transactions contemplated under the
Property Management Services Master
Framework Agreement shall be on normal
commercial terms, on terms no more
favorable than those offered to independent
third party services providers in respect of
comparable services and on terms that are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of
our Company and our Shareholders as a
whole.

The annual caps for the annual service fees paid by Redsun Properties
and its associates to the Group in relation to the Property Management
Services pursuant to Property Management Services Master Framework
Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2025 is
RMB232,919,000, RMB214,734,000 and RMB183,323,000, respectively.

Redsun Properties is owned as to 71.88% by Mr. Zeng Huansha, a
controlling shareholder of the Company. Thus, Redsun Properties is an
associate of Mr. Zeng Huansha and therefore a connected person of the
Company.
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(ii)

Provision of management services to the Redsun
Materials City Group

The Company (as service provider) entered into a
new framework management services agreement
with Jiangsu Redsun Industrial Raw Materials City Co,,
Ltd. ("Redsun Materials City") (as service recipient)
(the “Existing Redsun Materials City Management
Services Agreement’) on 16 June 2020, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to provide Redsun Materials
City and its subsidiaries (the “Redsun Materials City
Group”) with management and related services to its
specialized home furnishing and construction materials
centers and shopping malls, including but not limited
to cleaning, gardening, maintenance of public order
and security services to the aforesaid venues and has
been effective upon the Listing will be valid until 31
December 2022 and the term may be renewed as the
parties may mutually agree in accordance with the
Listing Rules. Subsequently, the Company entered into a
new framework management services agreement with
Redsun Materials City (the “New Redsun Materials City
Management Services Agreement”) on substantially
the same terms and conditions as the Existing Redsun
Materials City Management Services Agreement. The New
Redsun Materials City Management Services Agreement
took effect on 1 January 2023 and will be valid until 31
December 2025 and the term may be renewed as the
parties may mutually agree, subject to compliance with
the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and all other applicable laws and regulations.
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Definitive service agreements will be entered into
between the relevant members of the Group and the
relevant members of the Redsun Materials City Group
for the provision of services under the New Redsun
Materials City Management Services Agreement. Each
definitive agreement will set out the relevant services to
be provided by the relevant members of the Group to the
relevant members of the Redsun Materials City Group and
the service fees. The definitive service agreements may
only contain provisions which are in all material respects
consistent with the binding principles, guidelines, terms
and conditions set out in the New Redsun Materials City
Management Services Agreement.

The service fees to be charged under the New Redsun
Materials City Management Services Agreement shall be
determined after arm’s length negotiations with reference
to (i) the anticipated operational costs (including labor
costs); and (ii) the prevailing market price for similar
services taking into account the size and location of the
commercial properties to be managed by our Group,
and shall be no more favorable than those offered to
independent third parties.

The annual caps for the amounts of service fees payable
to us by the Redsun Materials City Group in relation to
its commercial properties pursuant to the New Redsun
Materials City Management Services Agreement for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2025 is
RMB53,548,000, RMB56,188,000 and RMB57,783,000,
respectively.

Redsun Material City Group is owned as to 100% by Mr.
Zeng Huansha, a controlling shareholder of the Company.
Thus, Redsun Material City Group is an associate of Mr.
Zeng Huansha and therefore a connected person of the
Company.
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(iii)

Provision of management services to Jiangsu Hong
Yang Commercial

The Company (as service provider) entered into a
management services agreement with Jiangsu Hong
Yang Commercial (Group) Co,, Ltd. ("Jiangsu Hong Yang
Commercial”) (as service recipient) (the “New Jiangsu
Hong Yang Commercial Management Services
Agreement’) on 8 December 2022, pursuant to which
we agreed to provide management and related services
to the specialized home furnishing and construction
materials centers and shopping malls of Jiangsu Hong
Yang Commercial and its subsidiaries (“Jiangsu Hong
Yang Commercial Group”), including but not limited
to cleaning, gardening, maintenance of public order and
security services to the aforesaid venue. The New Jiangsu
Hong Yang Commercial Management Services Agreement
took effect on 1 January 2023 and will be valid until 31
December 2025, and the term may be renewed as the
parties may mutually agree, subject to compliance with
the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and all other applicable laws and regulations.

Definitive service agreements will be entered into between
the relevant members of the Group and the relevant
members of the Jiangsu Hong Yang Commercial Group
for the provision of services under the New Jiangsu Hong
Yang Commercial Management Services Agreement. Each
definitive agreement will set out the relevant services to
be provided by the relevant members of the Group to the
relevant members of the Jiangsu Hong Yang Commercial
Group and the service fees. The definitive service
agreements may only contain provisions which are in all
material respects consistent with the binding principles,
guidelines, terms and conditions set out in the New
Jiangsu Hong Yang Commercial Management Services
Agreement.
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(iv)

The service fees to be charged under the New Jiangsu
Hong Yang Commercial Management Services Agreement
shall be determined after arm'’s length negotiations with
reference to (i) the anticipated operational costs (including
labor costs); and (i) the prevailing market price for similar
services taking into account the size and location of the
commercial properties to be managed by the Group,
and shall be no more favorable than those offered to
independent third parties.

The annual caps for the amounts of service fees payable
to us by Jiangsu Hong Yang Commercial Group pursuant
to the New Jiangsu Hong Yang Commercial Management
Services Agreement for each of the three years ending
31 December 2025 is RMB29,478,000, RMB30,515,000 and
RMB31,474,000, respectively.

Jiangsu Hong Yang Commercial is indirectly wholly-owned
as to 100% by Mr. Zeng Huansha. Thus, Jiangsu Hong
Yang Commercial is an associate of Mr. Zeng Huansha and
therefore a connected person of the Company.

Provision of management services to Shanghai Hong
Yang Business

The Company (as service provider) entered into a
management services agreement with Shanghai
Hongyanghui Business Management Co,, Ltd. ("Shanghai
Hong Yang Business”) (as service recipient) (the “ New
Shanghai Hong Yang Business Management Services
Agreement’) on 8 December 2022, pursuant to which
we agreed to provide management and related services
to the specialized home furnishing and construction
materials centers and shopping malls of Shanghai Hong
Yang Business and its subsidiaries (“Shanghai Hong
Yang Business Group”), including but not limited to
cleaning, gardening, maintenance of public order and
security services to the aforesaid venue. The New Shanghai
Hong Yang Business Management Services Agreement
took effect on 1 January 2023 and will be valid until 31
December 2025, and the term may be renewed as the
parties may mutually agree, subject to compliance with
the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
and all other applicable laws and regulations.

(iv)
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Definitive service agreements will be entered into between
the relevant members of the Group and the relevant
members of the Shanghai Hong Yang Business Group for
the provision of services under the New Shanghai Hong
Yang Business Management Services Agreement. Each
definitive agreement will set out the relevant services
to be provided by the relevant members of the Group
to the relevant members of the Shanghai Hong Yang
Business Group and the service fees. The definitive service
agreements may only contain provisions which are in all
material respects consistent with the binding principles,
guidelines, terms and conditions set out in the New
Shanghai Hong Yang Business Management Services
Agreement.

The service fees to be charged under the New Shanghai
Hong Yang Business Management Services Agreement
shall be determined after arm’s length negotiations with
reference to (i) the anticipated operational costs (including
labor costs); and (i) the prevailing market price for similar
services taking into account the size and location of the
commercial properties to be managed by the Group,
and shall be no more favorable than those offered to
independent third parties.

The annual caps for the amounts of service fees payable
to us by Shanghai Hong Yang Business Group pursuant
to the New Shanghai Hong Yang Business Management
Services Agreement for each of the three years ending
31 December 2025 is RMB18,436,000, RMB19,249,000 and
RMB19,932,000, respectively.

Shanghai Hong Yang Business is indirectly wholly-owned
as to 100% by Mr. Zeng Huansha. Thus, Shanghai Hong
Yang Business is an associate of Mr. Zeng Huansha and

therefore a connected person of the Company.
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(v)

Provision of management services to the commercial
complex of Redsun Business World

The Company (as service provider) entered into a
management services agreement with Nanjing Redsun
Business World Co., Ltd. ("Redsun Business World") (as
service recipient) (the “Existing Redsun Business World
Management Services Agreement’) on 16 June 2020,
pursuant to which we agreed to provide Redsun Business
World with management and related services to Nanjing
Redsun Business World Mall (F3 S AL K[ i 3 At 57,
a commercial complex for specialized home furnishing
and construction materials, including but not limited to
cleaning, gardening, maintenance of public order and
security services to the aforesaid venues shall be effective
upon the Listing and will be valid until 31 December 2022
and the term may be renewed as the parties may mutually
agree in accordance with the Listing Rules. Subsequently,
the Company entered into a new management services
agreement with Redsun Business World (the “New Redsun
Business World Management Services Agreement”) on
substantially the same terms and conditions as the Existing
Redsun Business World Management Services Agreement.
The New Redsun Business World Management Services
Agreement took effect on 1 January 2023 and will be valid
until 31 December 2023 and the term may be renewed
as the parties may mutually agree, subject to compliance
with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and all other applicable laws and regulations.

v)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEgRS

ALK G B A M RS 1R H
BRI

72020F6 8168 AR R (fEA R
JER) EE R ARG EEAREARABRAA
(AABEERYER]) (ERREERXTR)
RV EERG HE(REAKGEE LT
REBERBEHRE]D) B BRMRAER
AAGHERAERREEBMRAKNGEE
At F(— A EERE R R EEM S
EESAREEREBERY - BIEET
R A LIUSHEREER B8 AH
MFHEMZRRY  ZHERLEmE
AR BRERE2022F128318 - ATME
FARE LR B ARRE T AL - B
% NRABIHEAKGEERERITLH
EERBHE(FLRGHEALRERE
REEWHRD - HERRIEHFERRBAAS
FIEATRERRBEHEARNBAAR 3
ARG FERNEREIERRBE B2 20235F
THIBAR - BBEIE20235F12H318 -
AREHERRE TGRS - HEEST
IHHRABUAERMEEMEREER
TEMBIETE ©

AERSEEERAT . —E-ZFFR 071



DIRECTORS® REPORT
EEZRS

Definitive service agreements will be entered into
between the relevant members of the Group and the
relevant members of the Redsun Business World for the
provision of services under the New Redsun Business
World Management Services Agreement. Each definitive
agreement will set out the relevant services to be provided
by the relevant members of the Group to the relevant
members of the Redsun Business World and the service
fees. The definitive service agreements may only contain
provisions which are in all material respects consistent with
the binding principles, guidelines, terms and conditions
set out in the New Redsun Business World Management

Services Agreement.

The service fees to be charged under the New Redsun
Business World Management Services Agreement shall
be determined after arm’s length negotiations with
reference to (i) the anticipated operational costs (including
labor costs); and (i) the prevailing market price for similar
services of similar properties, and shall be no more
favorable than those offered to independent third parties.

The annual caps for the amounts of service fees payable
to us by amounts of service fees payable to us by Redsun
Business World pursuant to the New Redsun Business
World Management Services Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2023 is RMB948,000.

Redsun Business World is owned as to 100% by Ms. Zeng
Suqing (& 2)%), the sister of Mr. Zeng Huansha. Thus,
Redsun Business World is an associate of Mr. Zeng Huansha
and therefore a connected person of the Company.

Confirmation from the independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing

connected transactions mentioned above and confirmed that the

transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and usual course of

the business of the Group, on normal commercial terms or better, and

in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms

that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders as a
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Confirmation from the auditor

The Company’s auditor has been engaged to report on the continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Board
of Directors has received an unqualified letter from the auditor of the
Company in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, stating that
the auditor has not noticed that any of the above continuing connected

transactions:

(a) have not been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group for transactions involving the provision of
goods or services by the Group;

(©) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 is contained in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in this annual report.

Save as disclosed in item (a) and (c) of note 32 (“Note 32") headed
“Related Party Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements
contained in the Annual Report, none of the related party transactions as
disclosed under Note 32, constitute connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction that is subject to, among other things, reporting,
announcement, annual review and/or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements for connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year under review.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS

Other than those transactions disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group in this annual report and in the
paragraphs headed “Directors’ Interests in Competing Business” and
“Continuing Connected Transactions” in this section, no Director or
controlling shareholder of the Company has any material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the Group's business to which the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent companies were a party
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include, among others:

(i) We may not be able to grow our property management portfolio
as planned, which may have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. The Group
will continue to expand its property management portfolio by
proactive market-oriented expansion and strategic acquisition to
add to the scale of its properties under management.

(ii) The Group's historical results may not be indicative of its future
prospects and results of operation and its future growth may
not materialize as planned, and failure to manage any future
growth effectively may have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. The Group
will continue to uplift its operation and management capability
and market competitiveness and seize market opportunities for
achieving continual growth in operating results.
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(i) Termination or non-renewal of the Group's preliminary property
management service contracts or property management service
contracts could have a material adverse effect on its business,
financial condition and results of operations. The Group will
continue to enhance quality and uplift service capability, gain
customers’ recognition, and increase contract renewal rate.

(ivy A majority of our revenue is generated from property
management services the Group provides to projects developed
by Redsun Properties Group and properties owned by associates
of the controlling shareholders, which the Group does not have
control over. The Group will continue to expand its coverage
to properties developed by third-party developers and reduce
reliance on properties developed by related parties.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable
laws, rules and regulations which have a significant impact to the Group.
As at the date of this annual report, except as disclosed in the annual
report, the Group complied with, in all material respects, all the relevant
and applicable PRC laws and regulations governing the business of
property management and the Group has obtained all licenses, permits
and certificates for the purpose of operating its business.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company'’s joint ventures and
associated company were not involved in and the Board is not aware of
any non-compliance incidents that might adversely affect the value of
the Company’s interests in them.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “"SFQ"), Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) which were required
to be entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise required, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are set
out below:

Interests in underlying shares of associated corporations

Name of associated

EERBEETRAERAQANE BB EE
MR - HEROREESEPHEERAR

BHZE2023F12A31H - EFERARFERTHRAER
RARSEMABER(ERRBEBEMNE1E(EF R
HMEGGD ((BHEREAEMRE ) EXVED) HRG -« 8
fRin REEZS  BEEARRRRBREES KRB K
BIZE 3521677 B M & Fe it R B Re sk R SRR 2E ST Al 238 A0
RATIRBRFARERRABIT

AR % B AR B AR f7 RO R

Number of
underlying Shares
subject to the Approximate

pre-IPO share percentage of

Name of Director corporation Nature of interest options shareholding
BRARBENER

EEpn HEEE B RN RS HEROHE REBNEDL

Zeng Junkaiote Redsun Properties Beneficial owner 18,900,500 0.57%

B kgD b E BEmEAA

Note:

m As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Zeng Junkai was interested in 18,900,500
underlying shares in respect of share options granted by Redsun Properties
pursuant to the pre-IPO share option scheme of Redsun Properties.

Saved as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations, recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO or required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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ESERSE
Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in the FERFRAERQXTRMDREERONVERR AR
Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company
Long positions in the Shares of the Company RER BRI E

So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 December 2023, as recorded ~ FBLARRRFTA » B Z=2023F 1284318 - HOARFIR
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of  1&:EH R HAIE1EHIZE336I&ET BN S MRS « B
the SFO, the following persons, other than a Director or chief executive of ~ BHK AR A& TR A BN » T A TR SAE
the Company, had an interest of 5% or more in the Shares or underlying  BAf{5 R #E A 5%k A 4 -

Shares:
Number of Approximate

Name of Substantial Shareholder Nature of Interest shares percentage
TERREB RS KRB & E MOBED
Redsun Services Group (Holdings)™" Beneficial owner 301,994,000 72.77%
AR5 AR 5= B (=A%) EnEAA
Hong Yang Group Company!” Interest in controlled corporation 301,994,000 72.77%
NS R EEERS
Hong Yang International® Interest in controlled corporation 301,994,000 72.77%
k5 B © XL R
Hong Yang Group (Holdings)™ Interest in controlled corporation 301,994,000 72.77%
ENCE SEed 9l XL R
Mr. Zeng Huansha™ Interest in controlled corporation 301,994,000 72.77%
B A R EEER
Ms. Chen Sihong? Interest of spouse 301,994,000 72.77%
PREBALZ L@ [RRE e

Notes: M5

) Redsun Services Group (Holdings) is wholly owned by Hong Yang Group (1) SASRRIE B ER) BoASRE 2 E %A - MalfGs

Company, which in turn is wholly owned by Hong Yang International, EESAGEERE2ERE - MoLBEREASEE (2
which in turn is owned as to 50% and 50% by Hong Yang Group (Holdings) B (RERDEEL2ERBHRR) RBRDFEED R
(a company wholly owned by Mr. Zeng Huansha) and Mr. Zeng Huansha, BAES0% KL 50%Em o B - RIBFES REEED -
respectively. Accordingly, each of Hong Yang Group Company, Hong ShFS R - SAFGEIRR - SRR E (IZERR) R B S &
Yang International, Hong Yang Group (Holdings) and Mr. Zeng Huansha EERRANLEREEEER)BFEOROPHS
is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Redsun Services Group RS o

(Holdings) by virtue of the SFO.

) Ms. Chen Sihong is the spouse of Mr. Zeng Huansha and is therefore @) ﬁﬂa A ZEAZEDEENRE Bt BRIBEEHFR

deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Zeng Huansha is HEER - #AR RN GBS E G REEHRD P
interested by virtue of the SFO. 'ﬁ’f&ﬁﬁ °
ASREEEERAR . —B-=FFH 077
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had not
been notified of any persons (other than a Director or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares that were recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2023.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no any rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age, nor were there any such rights exercised
by them. Also, there was no arrangement to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries is a party
that would enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTING
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2023.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company, or the law of Cayman Islands being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated under which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this

annual report.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had 3,203 employees in total, of
which 2,515 employees were engaged in property management and
related services for residential properties, 307 employees were engaged
in property management and related services for commercial properties
and 381 employees were engaged in property management and related
services for public construction properties.

The emolument of the employees of the Group is mainly determined
based on their duties, performance and the prevailing market level in the
respective regions. The Group has formulated a systematic and market-
competitive employee incentive plan and a comprehensive talent
cultivation scheme based on its business to attract and retain talents
through offering competitive salary packages, comprehensive talent
training strategies, internal promotion system and a caring corporate
culture.
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In addition, focusing on the entire process of talent cultivation and
development, the Group has also formulated the systematic “talent
cultivation scheme”, for enhancing the quality of talents and broadening
its pool of talents. The Group has designed the “Hong Elite Scheme
(BA¥EHEET &), "Management Trainee programme”, and “Hong Yao
Scheme (SA#BFH&l)" for the key talents, as well as cultivated city
companies “Hong Elite”, “Redsun Housekeeper” and “Hong Master” for
enhancing capabilities of the Company’s customer services, in which
systematic arrangements are implemented to provide the employees
of the Group with clear development path and secure the demand for
talents in different business segments and levels. The Group believes
that talent cultivation scheme of the Group will enhance team building,
improve team capability, and provide talent pipelines for the business
development of the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Environmental Protection

The Group is subject to PRC laws in relation to environment protection
matters. The Group considers the protection of the environment to be
important and have implemented measures in the operation of our
businesses to ensure its compliance with all applicable requirements.
Given the nature of its operations, the Group believes it is not subject to
material environmental liability risk or compliance costs.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report, no fines or penalties for non-compliance of PRC
environmental laws had been imposed on the Group, and the Group had
not been subject to any material administrative penalties due to violation
of environmental laws in the PRC.

Social Responsibility

The Group has entered into employment contracts with its employees in
accordance with the applicable PRC laws and regulations.

The Group maintains social welfare insurance for its full-time employees
in the PRC, including pension insurance, medical insurance, personal
injury insurance, unemployment insurance and maternity insurance, in

accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations.
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Health and Work Safety

The employees’ administrative measures adopted by the Group contain
policies and procedures regarding work safety and occupational health
issues. The Group provides its employees with annual medical checks
and safety training, and the construction sites of the Group are equipped
with safety equipment including gloves, boots and hats.

The operational management department of the Group is responsible for
recording and handling work accidents as well as maintaining health and
work safety compliance records.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Group did not encounter any material safety accident,
there were no material claims for personal or property damages and no
material compensation was paid to employees in respect of claims for
personal or property damages related to safety accident.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE PROVISIONS

The articles of association of the Company provides that the Directors,
managing directors, alternate Directors, auditors, secretary and other
officers for the time being of the Company and the trustees (if any) for
the time being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company,
and their respective executors or administrators, shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may
incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective
offices or trusts. The Company has arranged appropriate directors and
officers liability insurance in respect of legal action against Directors.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules requires there to be an open market in the
securities for which listing is sought and a sufficient public float of an
issuer’s listed securities to be maintained. This normally means that at
least 25% of the issuer’s total issued share capital must at all times be
held by the public.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to
the issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group made charitable
and other donations in a total amount of RMBO.5 million.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited by Ernst & Young. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s auditor is to be
proposed at the AGM.
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PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED BERAHEERKE

If the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of ~ IXRINHEE - FF - HE - EBXTFEFERO D
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights IR N EZ EFEEMREMN - ERFSERE

in relation to the Shares, they are advised to consult an expert. HEREM -

For and on behalf of the Board REEEE

Redsun Services Group Limited BRI EBER A F
Zeng Junkai =R

Chairman x*E

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024 BB 2024F3A21H
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to implementing high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and enhance
the corporate value as well as the responsibility commitments. The
Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its
own code of corporate governance.

Saved as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has complied with all applicable code provisions set out in Part
2 of the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this annual report (the “Relevant Period”). The directors of
the Company (the “Directors”) will use their best endeavors to procure
the Company to continue to comply with the CG Code.

INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each Director is provided with the necessary induction and information
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities under relevant
statutes, by-laws, laws, rules and regulations. The Company will continue
to arrange regular seminars to provide the Directors with updates on the
latest developments and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant
legal and regulatory requirements from time to time. The Directors are
also provided with regular updates on the Company’s performance,
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge his duty.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company provided training materials
to the Directors and the management of the Company regarding the

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements.

EXREBRS

RIESR - AARMEERAAAEEERAEH
ETARR R EL A P B A R AR o

Types of Continuous
Professional
Development Training
FEEXRREIRR

Reading materials

Name of Director EENF B E M R

Non-executive Director EHITES

Mr. Zeng Junkai BEHEE v

Executive Director HITES

Ms. Zeng Zixi BFERZ T+ v

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES

Ms. Wang Fen TEZL v

Mr. Li Xiaohang FEMEE v

Mr. Zhao Xianbo IR A v
SR EEERAR . CBE=FFH 085
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THE BOARD

1.

086
D

Responsibilities

The Board assumes the responsibility of leadership and control of
the Company, and supervises and approves significant decisions
regarding financial performance, strategic development objectives
and operations of the Company. The Board delegates to the
management authority and responsibility for the Company’s
daily operations and businesses management according to the
Board's instructions. The Board has established three committees,
namely, the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of the Board (collectively, the “Board
Committees”), and has delegated to the Board Committees
various duties. All the Board Committees perform their distinct

roles in accordance with their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall at all times ensure that they carry out duties in
good faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

Board Composition

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zeng Junkai

Executive Director
Ms. Zeng Zixi

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Wang Fen

Mr. Li Xiaohang

Mr. Zhao Xianbo
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There is no material financial, business, family or other relationship
between any members of the Board. The biographies of the
Directors are set out under the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report. All the Directors,
including the independent non-executive Directors, bring a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are invited
to serve on the audit committee, remuneration committee and

nomination committee of the Company.

The Company has received a confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their
independence and concluded that all the independent non-
executive Directors are considered to be independent pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with
the Company for a term of three years.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company have been separated as required by Code Provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code. For the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr.
Zeng Junkai served as the Chairman of the Company and Mr.
Chen Yichun (appointed on 23 September 2022) served as the
Vice President of the Company (presiding over the work) (the
“Vice President”). He is currently the Executive President of the
Company.
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Board Meetings

Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG Code prescribes that at least
four regular Board meetings should be held in each year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of
majority of directors, either in person or through electronic means

of communication.

The Company has adopted the practice of holding Board
meetings regularly. Notice of not less than 14 days is given
of all reqular Board meetings to provide all Directors with the
opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda. For
other committee meetings, 7 days' notice is given. The agenda
and accompanying board papers are despatched to the Directors
or committee members at least 3 days before meetings to ensure
that they have sufficient time to review these documents and be
adequately prepared. When the Directors or committee members
are unable to attend a meeting, they are advised of the matters
to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views
known to the chairman prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in detail and include the matters considered by the
Board and the committees and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting and committee meeting are sent to the Directors within
a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held so
that they have an opportunity to request amendments.

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that
independent views and input are available to the Board (i)
the Chairman will at least hold one meeting annually with
independent non-executive Directors and without the presence of
other Directors; and (ii) the independent non-executive Directors
participate in board committees (including Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee) meetings
to bring independent views, advice and judgment on important
issues relating to the Company’s strategy, policy and financial
performance. During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed
the implementation of the abovementioned mechanism and
considered the mechanism to be appropriate and effective.
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The Company has convened one annual general meeting on 20 REE2023F 12A3IAIEFERBEEZEARFHRA
June 2023 and two extraordinary general meetings on 1 March HIF - RRRIER2023F6 A20H BRA— AR
2023 and 12 September 2023, and the Board convened 8 Board BFERENMR2023F3H18 &2023F9H1284
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the FTRARREIAREG  MEEEERITSRE
date of this annual report. The table below sets forth the details of e TR ZEESTLENNEF

the attendance at these Board meetings: 15
Number of meetings attended/
held during the Director’s term of office
ESERNEHAHE BTEERH
Annual Extraordinary
Name of Director EEHE Board meetings  general meeting  general meeting

Exgea RRBFKRE BRI RS

Non-executive Director EHITES
Mr. Zeng Junkai BEYLEA 8/8 2/2 1/1
Executive Director HITES
Ms. Zeng Zixi BFERA Tt 8/8 2/2 Il
Independent

Non-executive Directors BAKBITES
Ms. Wang Fen FELZL 8/8 2/2 1/1
Mr. Li Xiaohang BT A 8/8 2/2 1/1
Mr. Zhao Xianbo AR oA 8/8 2/2 1/1
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BOARD COMMITTEES EXRET
The Company has established an audit committee, a remuneration AR BEXVERELZES FTHEZESRIREEE

committee and a nomination committee. Each of these committees has & - S X E& “ﬁﬁi% EREEE - EMT5)BE B
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority ~ #ERBE - 25 LB 2N EFEN TR EBREE S
and duties. The chairmen of these committees will report their findings g ﬁ*fﬁﬁﬁ%@uﬁ °

and recommendations to the Board after each meeting.

1. Audit Committee 1.

Our Board has established an audit committee in compliance
with Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and Code D.3 of
the CG Code, and has adopted written terms of reference. The
primary duties of our audit committee are to review and monitor
the Group’s financial reporting process, risk management and
internal control system, to oversee the audit process, to provide
advice and comments to our Board, and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as may be assigned by the Board. Our audit
committee currently consists of one non-executive Director, being
Mr. Zeng Junkai, and three independent non-executive Directors,
being Ms. Wang Fen, Mr. Li Xiaohang and Mr. Zhao Xianbo. Our
audit committee is currently chaired by Mr. Zhao Xianbo, who
possesses suitable professional qualifications.

Our audit committee convened 2 meetings during the Relevant
Period. The table below sets forth the details of the attendance at
these meetings:

EREES
B2 RIELTAABFEI2HEREIRGERD
¥ERTAISFRIEDIMER Y BEZLZEE - B

RNEEBERE BRZEENIZRAR
B EBREAEENMEEREF  BRERE
RABERRG BEEBEZERE RNEFER
HEBLER YETEFSARTIROEM
BENEME BRZESBRANH - RINTE
(NG EIEL)  R=BBIIFATESED
FTERL  FERALSEERKEE)ENX - &F
REEeRNRBRKEENETE  HER
HEHEEER -

RIEREHRE  BRZESCM2REH - TRE
FIZEGHENHEFE

Number of meetings
attended/held during
the Director’s

Name of Director EEHR term of office
EENTFHREE

BITEBRRH

Mr. Zhao Xianbo (Chairman) IR A (FE) 2/2
Ms. Wang Fen FELZLT 2/2
Mr. Li Xiaohang FEMEAE 2/2
Mr. Zeng Junkai BRI E 2/2
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Our audit committee has reviewed the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 and confirmed that it has complied all applicable
accounting principles, standards and requirements, and made
sufficient disclosures. The audit committee has also discussed the
matters of audit and financial reporting. Our audit committee has
also reviewed the significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems and connected transactions, and have discussed with the
auditor of the Company about the tasks they performed.

Our audit committee has reviewed the remuneration of the auditor
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and has recommended the
Board to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2023, subject to approval by the
Shareholders at the AGM.

The work performed by our audit committee during the Relevant

Period included, among others, the following:

reviewed the unaudited consolidated financial statements

of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2023;

reviewed the cash flow projections and monitored the

Company's overall financial condition;

reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2023;

made recommendations to the Board on the re-
appointment of auditor for the year 2024;

reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the
Company and made recommendations to the Board on
the improvement of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company;
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reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of
the internal audit function of the Company and made
recommendations to the Board on the improvement of
the internal audit function of the Company; and

reviewed the arrangements which employees can raise
concerns on possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters, and the investigation of
these matters for appropriate follow-up actions.

Remuneration Committee

Our Board has established a remuneration committee in
compliance with Rules 3.25 and 3.26 of the Listing Rules and Code
E.1 of the CG Code, and has adopted written terms of reference.
The primary duties of our remuneration committee are to
establish, review and make recommendations to the Directors on
our policy and structure concerning remuneration of the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policies concerning such
remuneration, determine the terms of the specific remuneration
package of each executive Director and senior management
and review and approve performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives. Our remuneration
committee currently consists of one executive Director, being
Ms. Zeng Zixi, and three independent non-executive Directors,
being Ms. Wang Fen, Mr. Li Xiaohang and Mr. Zhao Xianbo. Our
remuneration committee is currently chaired by Ms. Wang Fen.
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Our remuneration committee convened 1 meeting during the RIEREEME - HINEZE @AM IVAEH - TRH

Relevant Period. The table below sets forth the details of the TZEGBENNEFS

attendance at the meeting:

Number of meetings
attended/held during
the Director’s

Name of committee member ZEGREHR term of office
EEREHRALE
BITEBRRH
Ms. Wang Fen (Chairman) TERT(FE) /1
Ms. Zeng Zixi BFERZ T+ /1
Mr. Zhao Xianbo FEIR R S A 1/1
Mr. Li Xiaohang BN 11
The major work performed by our remuneration committee FTNEE SR EEBRETHEZTETEREHEH
during the Relevant Period included, among others, the following: FEE)ATEIE :
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board of . RHNESERA ARG SRERENTWE
the remuneration packages and overall benefits for the BRERBEANTREMESSREHES
Directors and the senior management of the Company; fEr
made recommendations to the Board in relation to all . RARNFHEERARNASRELE K
consultancy agreements and service contracts or any HEMBB AR BT EBERE R
variations, renewals or modifications thereof, entered fRIEE K FEEMENR - BEEKIEBE]H
into between the Company and the Directors and senior EEoRHERESR

management of the Company or any associate company
of any of them;
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considered what details of the remuneration/benefits
of the Directors should be reported in the Company’s
corporate governance report in the annual report and how
those details should be presented, including determining
the policy for the remuneration of Directors, assessing
performance of executive Directors and approving the

terms of executive Directors’ service contracts;

made recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for formulating

remuneration policy; and

reviewed and/or approved the matters set out in Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules in relation to share schemes.

Compensation of the Directors and senior management

The Directors and members of our senior management receive
compensation from our Company in the form of salaries, bonuses

and other benefits in kind such as contributions to pension plans.

The Company incurred expenses in relation to remuneration
(including fees, salaries, contributions to pension schemes
and social welfare, discretionary bonuses, housing and other
allowances and other benefits in kind) for the Directors for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB2,115,000.

The Company incurred expenses in relation to remuneration
(including fees, salaries, contributions to pension schemes
and social welfare, discretionary bonuses, housing and other
allowances and other benefits in kind) for our Company’s five
highest paid individuals (including the Directors) for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB4,333,000.

None of the Directors had waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Our Board will review and determine the remuneration and
compensation packages of the Directors and senior management
and will receive recommendation from our remuneration
committee which will take into account salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors and performance of our Company.

For additional information on the Directors' remuneration for
the year ended 31 December 2023 as well as information on the
highest paid individuals, please refer to Notes 8 and 9 of the Notes
to Financial Statements.

In addition, pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
annual remuneration of members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:
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N
HK$1 million above 10088 LA £ 2
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Nomination Committee

Our Board has established a nomination committee in compliance
with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules and Code B.3 of the CG
Code, and has adopted written terms of reference. The primary
duties of our nomination committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of our Board on a regular basis and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to the composition of our Board, identify, select or make
recommendations to our Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorship, and ensuring the diversity of our
Board members, assess the independence of our independent
non-executive Directors and make recommendations to our
Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the Directors and succession
planning for the Directors. Our nomination committee currently
consists of one non-executive director, being Mr. Zeng Junkai, and
three independent non-executive Directors, being Ms. Wang Fen,
Mr. Li Xiaohang and Mr. Zhao Xianbo. Our nomination committee
is currently chaired by Mr. Zeng Junkai.

Our nomination committee convened 1 meeting during the
Relevant Period. The table below sets forth the details of the
attendance at the meeting:

REEES
EFESCRELETRAEI7AGREEERT
AISTRIZEBIMGRILIZREZE S - WIRAZ HE
REE- - REZEENIEREAENRTE
EENRE - RENEK  UREFSAKD
TREZEPRNEETSREERERS  DE
REXREREFAEAESTSRHUERR
o RREFENENZ T  FHEBULIER
TEENB LML RERERE  ENLTNKE
TEEREZETAINEREENESTSR
HHEREZ - RAZESRATA—BIFNTE
FANBENEE) AR =RBILIFNTES (A
TERL - FERHLEMERRTE)EX 52
HEEeRNABEIELERETRE -

RIS REZ B2 AMIREE - TRH
SR EHMNERS

pull

Number of meetings
attended/held during
the Director’s

Name of committee member ZEENERSE term of office
EERTEHALE

BOGBRH

Mr. Zeng Junkai (Chairman) BERINEEEE) N
Ms. Wang Fen FELLT /1
Mr. Li Xiaohang ML A 11
Mr. Zhao Xianbo IR A /1
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The work performed by our nomination committee included, REZESREERRETH IEREESE
among others, the following: F)IATEIE
reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of . ZHE=GNEE AR E@XEET
the Board; 1
assessed the independence of the independent non- . FMEE IEBITEENE VL
executive Directors;
made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of . REFZAEFTNEFTSRBESZE
retiring Directors; and W
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the . RN IRBBRAEREMESSREHRE
nomination policy. B o
Nomination Policy RABE
()  Objective (=0}
The nomination committee shall nominate suitable candidates REZEREANESSREEBEAE - UHE
to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to the ZERRBRERE FRREHEBERAESK
Shareholders for election as the Directors at general meetings or ZAERESLUERRR =GR o
appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.
The nomination committee may, as it considers appropriate, RAEZESAMNBRAZRAEEAN  TZRE
nominate a number of candidates more than the number of RERERG LEZTRENZTENES ASH
Directors to be appointed or re-appointed at a general meeting, FHEMMBEREHRES A -
or the number of casual vacancies to be filled.
UBRYEMERAT . B =FFH 097
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In assessing a proposed candidate for the recommendation of
appointment or re-appointment of the members of the Board, the
factors would be used as reference by the nomination committee
include but not limited to the following:

(a) integrity;

(b) accomplishment and experience in the industry of which
the Company is a part;

() commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

(d)  diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service;

(e) fulfilment of independence guidelines for the appointment
of independent non-executive Directors as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

) any factors as the nomination committee or the Board may
from time to time consider appropriate.

The nomination committee will ask proposed candidates to
submit the necessary personal information in a prescribed form.

The nomination committee may request candidates to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.

The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-
appointment of any existing members of the Board shall be made
in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company
and other applicable rules and regulations.
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(iii)

Nomination Procedures

The secretary of the nomination committee shall call a meeting of
the nomination committee, and invite nominations of candidates
from the members of the Board, if any, for consideration by the
nomination committee prior to its meeting. The nomination

committee may also put forward candidates for consideration.

In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate to
the Board, the nomination committee shall undertake adequate
due diligence in respect of such individual candidate and make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval.

In the context of re-appointment of any existing members of the
Board, the Committee shall make recommendations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation, for the proposed
candidates to stand for re-election at a general meeting.

Please refer to the “Procedures for Appointment, Election and
Removal of Directors”, which is available on the Company's
website, for procedures for Shareholders’ nomination of any
proposed candidate for election as a Director.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at a general

meeting.

(iii)
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Board Diversity Policy

In order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board and to maintain the
high standard of corporate governance, the Company has adopted
the board diversity policy which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board. Pursuant to the board
diversity policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors when selecting the candidates
to our Board, including but not limited to gender, skills, age, professional
experience, knowledge, cultural, education background, ethnicity and
length of service. The ultimate decision of the appointment will be based
on merit and the contribution which the selected candidates will bring

to our Board.

The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
overall management and strategic development, human resources,
information technology, accounting and financial management, risk
management and corporate governance. They obtained degrees in
various majors including economics, business administration, and
accounting studies. The Board has three independent non-executive
Directors with different industry backgrounds, representing more than
one third of the members of our Board. Furthermore, our Board has two
female members, and has a wide range of age, ranging from 30 years
old to 57 years old. Taking into account our existing business model and
specific needs as well as the different background of the Directors, the
composition of our Board satisfies our board diversity policy.

Our nomination committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
our Board members. Our nomination committee will review the board
diversity policy annually to ensure its continued effectiveness and the
Company will disclose in its corporate governance report about the
implementation of the board diversity policy on an annual basis.

In addition, as at 31 December 2023, the Group had 3,203 employees, of
which the number of male and female employees are 1,961 and 1,242,
respectively (accounted for 61.22% and 38.78% respectively), the overall
headcount remained stable.
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4. Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board met 1 time
to review the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
the Directors and the senior management of the Company, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this section headed “Corporate Governance and Other
Information”.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its code for dealing in securities in the Company by
the Directors. After specific enquiries made to all Directors, the Directors
have confirmed compliance with the required standard set out in the
Model Code since the listing of the Company on the Listing Date up to
the date of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Board has absolute discretion in determining
whether to pay dividend, subject to the approval of the Shareholders
(if applicable). The Dividend Policy aims to enable the Shareholders
to participate in the profits of the Company and for the Company to
retain adequate liquidity for grasping future growth opportunities. In
determining whether to recommend a declaration of dividend and the
amount of dividend to be paid, the Board will evaluate the Company’s
earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirements, prevailing
economic conditions, future prospects and any other factors that the
Directors deem relevant. The Board may pay dividend as appeared to the
Board to be justified by the profits of the Company. The Board may also
from time to time pay interim dividend or special dividend. The Board will
review the Dividend Policy from time to time and may make appropriate
changes if considered necessary.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF ANY OF THE BE HERBERAQTEMEHRS

COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or redeem any of ~ PAAEBERME - KRR REAMB AR L H|EE - HEK

the listed securities of the Company during the Relevant Period. BRI AN BMER ETES -
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT PBRERENTEEMH

Based on the information available to our Company and the knowledge ~ BRIBARBIFASER RIBEEEMAE - AR RINIERA
s\ o

of the Directors, our Company maintained sufficient public float during BRI 4E+F B Y R RFFIRE -

the Relevant Period.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION ZE AT £

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fee paid/payable to the — ELZE2023%F12A31H ILFE - BEZRH KIERZIR
external auditor of the Company in respect of audit services and non- SRR BISMNEZBEI LT/ EITH B RE IO T -

audit services is set out as follows:

Year ended

31 December
2023
BZ2023F
12ANBLEEE
RMB million
ARBEETR

Audit and related service EZ R EERE 1.56
Non-audit service IEFIZARTS 0.14
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS ON
FINANCIAL REPORTS

The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the
Directors regarding financial statements, should be read in conjunction
with, but understood separately from, the auditor's statement of their
responsibilities as set out in the Independent Auditor's Report contained
in this annual report.

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for preparing
financial statements of the Company that truly represent the operating
results of the Company for each financial year. To the best knowledge
of the directors, there was no material event or condition during the
Reporting Period that might have a material adverse effect on the
continuing operation of the Company.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing all
information and representations contained in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
results and cash flow for the relevant period. The Directors consider that
the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023 have been prepared in conformity with all applicable
accounting standards and requirements and reflect amounts that are
based on the best estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent
judgment of the Board and the management. The Directors are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the financial
statements of the Company on a going concern basis. The statements
of the auditor of the Company about its reporting responsibility on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Risk Management

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company and for reviewing their effectiveness.

The Company recognizes that risk management is critical to the success
of any property management companies in the PRC. Key operational risks
that the Company face include changes in general market conditions
and the regulatory environment of the PRC property management
market, local economic environment, expansion risks relating to entering
into new cities or geographic regions, ability to timely complete our
projects with sound quality, available financing to support our growth,
competition from other property management companies and our
ability to promote and serve the property owners in a timely fashion.

In order to meet these challenges, the Company has adopted, a series
of internal control policies, procedures and plans that are designed to
reasonably assure effective and efficient operations, reliable financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

In order to ensure the effective implementation of such internal control
policies, the Company has adopted various on-going measures, including
the following:

The Board is responsible and has general powers over the
management and conduct of the business of the Group. Any
significant business decision involving material risks are reviewed,
analyzed and approved at the Board level to ensure a thorough
examination of the associated risks at our highest corporate
governance body.

The Executive President is responsible for the Board regarding
the effectiveness of comprehensive risk management, which in
turn is accountable to the general meetings of the Company.
The Executive President is able to authorize relevant department
leaders who take charge of the establishment and daily operation
of the risk management systems.
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The risk management department of the Company is responsible
for proposing risk management strategies, formulating rules
and regulations on risk management, preparing annual risk
management assessments and reports, guiding all departments
and subsidiaries on relevant tasks, and conducting risk
management trainings. It is also in charge of designing a
comprehensive risk management evaluation system, and

supervising the implementation of risk management measures.

Each of functional departments and subsidiaries of the Company
is in charge of the daily business operations and risk monitoring,
and is responsible for the supervision of the respective fields
of operations on a daily basis as well as the supervision and
approval of any material business decisions of the city and project
companies of the Group.

Internal Control

The internal control system of the Company is designed to provide
reasonable and adequate assurance for effective and efficient operations,
reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and

regulations.

Our internal control system covers all major aspects of our operations.
To effectively implement such processes, the Company has a set of
comprehensive policies and guidelines which set out details regarding
the internal control standards, segregation of responsibilities, approval
procedures and personnel accountability in each aspect. The Company
also carries out regular internal assessments and training to ensure our
employees are equipped with sufficient knowledge on such policies and
guidelines.

The risk management and internal control system of the Company are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board is responsible
for the risk management and internal control systems and conducts
annual review on its effectiveness. After review, the Board considers that
the risk management and internal control systems of the Company are
effective and adequate.
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Anti-Corruption and Whistle-blowing Policy
Business Ethics

The Company is committed corruptions and creating a corruption-
free and transparent working atmosphere. The Group strictly complies
with laws and regulations including the Anti-Money Laundering Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Interim Regulations Concerning
the Prohibition of Commercial Briberies. The Company has devised and
implemented anti-corruption policies and systems including the Redsun
Group's System of Declaration of Conflict of Interests (GARZ ¥ % 5 &
F| 25 & 28 FA ¥R HI/Z) and the List of Prohibited Acts and Behaviors of
Corruption (B T2 | F5RETT BV R — &
procedures for handling declarations of conflicts of interests. The

), which set out specific

Group has also organized various activities including seminars on anti-
corruption laws and case studies to promote and raise staff awareness

regarding anti-corruption.

The Group sets up report channels to encourage employees and
parties dealing with the Company to raise concerns about suspected
misconduct, malpractice or irregularities in confidence. The Group has in
place relevant policies and filing channels including Hong Yang's Rules
for Administering Complaints and Whistle-blowing (SAF5 #% 3 22 4R & 12
#8%) and its official WeChat account for filing complaints and whistle-

blowing, customer service hotline and mailboxes.

The Group will keep the identity of the whistle-blower confidential, and
has policies in place to protect whistle-blowers from retaliation.

In terms of procedures for complaining and whistle blowing,
whistleblower should first reflect to the management department
with the corresponding function or to the risk control centre if the
aforementioned reporting channel is not available. Reported cases will be
thoroughly investigated and any acts of corruption or mismanagement
verified will be duly handled according to the seriousness and the
specific situation of the respective cases.
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Information Disclosure

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing
Rules and other applicable laws, and publishes periodic reports and
announcements to the public in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations. In particular, the Company has put in place a robust
framework for the disclosure of inside information in compliance with
the SFO. The framework sets out the procedures and internal controls for
the handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner
s0 as to allow all the stakeholders to apprehend the latest position of the
Company. The framework and its effectiveness are subject to review by
the Board on a regular basis.

Internal Audit

The Company has an internal audit function. The primary role of the
internal audit function is to help the Board and the senior management
of the Company to protect the assets, reputation and sustainability
of the Company. The internal audit function provides independent
and objective assurance as to whether the design and operational
effectiveness of the Company’s framework of risk management, control
and governance processes, as designed and represented by the
Company’'s management, is adequate. The internal audit function of the
Company is independent of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company.

Results of audit work together with an assessment of the overall
risk management and control framework are reported to the Audit
Committee as appropriate. The internal audit function also reviews the
Company's management’s action plans in relation to audit findings and
verifies the adequacy and effectiveness of the mitigating controls before
formally closing the issue.
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Company Secretary

The Company has engaged SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong
Kong) Limited, external service provider, and Ms. Yung Mei Yee has
been appointed as the Company’s joint company secretary. Her primary
contact person at the Company is Mr. Li Yonggang, a joint company
secretary of the Company.

The joint company secretaries of the Company attended sufficient
professional training as required under the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to update their skills and knowledge.

Shareholders
Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company is committed to pursue active dialogue with Shareholders
as well as to provide timely disclosure of information concerning the
Company's material developments to its Shareholders, investors and
other stakeholders.

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy
(the "Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) which aims to ensure
transparent, accurate and open communication with Shareholders to
ensure that Shareholders' views and concerns are properly addressed
and will be reviewed annually to ensure its effectiveness. The Board has
reviewed the Shareholders’ Communication Policy for the year ended
31 December 2023 and is of the view that the Policy is effective and
adequately implemented.
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Annual general meeting of the Company serves as an effective forum
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. Notice
of annual general meeting together with the meeting materials will be
despatched to all Shareholders not less than 21 days and not less than
20 clear business days before the annual general meeting. As one of the
measures to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions will be proposed at general meetings on each substantial
issue, including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. In addition, the Company regards annual
general meeting as an important event, and all Directors, the chairmen
of all Board Committees, senior management and external auditor
will attend the annual general meeting of the Company to address
Shareholders” inquiries. If the chairmen of the Board or each Board
Committee fail to attend the meeting, then other members of each
Board Committee will be invited to attend the annual general meeting
and answer Shareholders’ inquiries thereat. All resolutions proposed at
general meetings will be voted by poll. The voting results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.rsunservice.nk) on the same day of the relevant general
meetings.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(www.rsunservice.hk), where the latest information and updates on its
business operation and development, corporate governance practice,
contact information of investor relations and other information are

published for the public’s access.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General
Meeting

In accordance with article 64 of the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at the general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the rights, by written requisition to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit the Board fails to process to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRELERS

ARAFHBERBFAE /B REEZTENAASET
B BRRBFASRBRSERESEM IR A HBRRE
FREMPLRUNRRALR0BEZBEXBRFAZ
BRRTE - FRARERRMGEREMNERZ — &

ARBRBEAR LHEEAFDRSAME - BF
EREREE  GEREEEREE - I - AAT

REREBERGRERNEH  WE2RES FIEES
ELZEEXR  SAEEERIINEZEAE L BN
NAWBRRAFERE - UBERENEER - MESF
EIFNSESTSLECXIREEEANFTSE  ISE
EEZEEMNHMKNERI B2 NRERBEFAE -
WERERRAOER - RRERGREZNMERERS
NIRERNHETIRE - BEER R BBERREREE
B I B 22 BT 48 U (www.hkexnews.hk) B2 AN A &) 48 v

(www.rsunservice.hk) °

BIEEBREB X A AE R B ML
(www.rsunservice.hk) * TIZEEBEBEERER - B
XEOEBHNEMEERENER WEEBERBL
ERMEMER  UEARER -

BRREFERRIFFIAESHIEF

REBARNFABEIZMBFe4s - FA—BHZER
R EKE BRA TP RAR RS B (B TR &
ARABRAEG LRB) 02 —HRER - AJlERRAE
ZEANAMERHEEE R  EREFEAMAER
FRIAE - MEREARMERMERANTMEERE - AF
BAAGAMNERZEREMEARNEIT - fMiZHR&21
ANEEEREERARE - AIRB AR BTTUART
ANEBRKRE  MARRARRFAGBERFARES
GREDHAEMELNMERIEFX

AERSEEERAT . —E-ZFFR 109



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXREBRS

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the articles of association of the Company
and the Cayman Islands Companies Law. However, Shareholders who
wish to propose resolutions may follow article 64 of the articles of
association of the Company for requisitioning an extraordinary general
meeting and including a resolution at such meeting. The requirements
and procedures of article 64 are set out above.

Shareholders may at any time lodge the aforesaid requisition to the
Board in writing at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Room 2612, 26th Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing through the investor relations, whose contact details are
as follows:

Address: Room 2612, 26th Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

Email: rsuntouzizhe@rsun.com

Memorandum and Articles of Association

During the Relevant Period, the Company has adopted the second
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company at the annual general meeting held on 20 June 2023.

On behalf of the Board

Redsun Services Group Limited
Zeng Junkai

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

e

BUZHEIRS

Ernst & Young Lk E AN E SR Tel & 3%: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place EEHEE Fax {2 &: +852 2868 4432
ﬁ i 979 King's Road HEEITIR ey.com
¥ Quarry Bay, Hong Kong K — 2718
To the shareholders of Redsun Services Group Limited BEAEREEEERATRR

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Redsun
Services Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 119 to 239, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

HRERER

Gooadwill impairment assessment

AE B E

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had goodwill of RMB175,050,000
in relation to the Group’s acquisition of businesses.
M2023F12A310 - EEEEAEBKRBERNOEERARE
175,050,0007T ©

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. The goodwill impairment
review performed by the Group’s management includes a number
of significant judgements and estimates including those regarding
the identification of cash-generating units (“CGUs"), operating profit
forecasts, the annual revenue growth rates and the discount rates.
HESFETRENN EEEEEEMETHRERES
B R ARBEXRAE ML (BREEZNRSELEML(RE
EEEM]  KEFNERA  FERAERENFRXEH
B I i R Al 5t) o

We identified this area as a key audit matter because of the
materiality of the goodwill balance and the uncertainty of estimation
made by management on the key assumptions.
BB B SEREZER  DHREAEEHRNERE
ARERERETZBRRIELNEANTHEEN -

The significant accounting estimates and disclosures about the
goodwill impairment assessment are included in notes 3 and 15 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively.
AR BRENENERS BT RRED R
HRMEE3IMIS5 ©
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMERRNTEERRERER

Our audit procedures included, among others, involving our
internal valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating the
methodologies and discount rates used by the Company for
determining the recoverable amounts.
BFIERIZF BEH 857 BE AR EEER BB A
AHEE R RIBET AT D 2 BT AR ERBRE -

We examined the underlying data used, such as managements
projection on the future revenues and operating results by
investigating whether the forecasts were consistent with the
financial performance of each CGU during the year of 2023; and
we examined the business development plans and historical
annual growth of each CGU to evaluate the growth rate of each
CGU. We assessed the sensitivity analysis performed by the Group's
management on the impact of changes in the key assumptions.
BMEZAAREBENE - fInEREEHRKEARLS
FENEA - FERRHEEREMNESH03FRRSES

BUNPFBRE - BRMERSRELBLNERK
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We also assessed the adequacy of the Group'’s disclosures of
goodwill impairment in the financial statements.
BAMEFERHBHRRTEEEHHEREMERENR
DM e
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Key audit matter
HREXRER

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and due

from related companies

B 5 RENIE R FEW B 2 ml X TR A TE R 5 B 15 1 1

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had trade receivables of

RMB254,638,000, after making loss allowance of RMB17,196,000 and

due from related companies of RMB385,000,000, after making loss

allowance of RMB110,865,000.

#zozaiuﬂa B RELEEREEAR®17,196,0007Ti%
SENE S RKFIAS ARK254,638, OOO7E REL EE

ﬁ§1ﬁAEﬁ§110865 0007Ci% @ EWBAEE R R FRIARARK

385,000,0007T ©

Management assessed the expected credit losses on trade
receivables and due from related companies based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected credit loss rates. The Group used
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history,
ageing profile of the receivables, existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
ﬁfi*ﬁbﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁ‘@ ’]&%EHHETJESTETE’J{E““ AR E SR
FIEREYREBARFENTAREEBE - RESEEEBE

TE & Wi IEE’JEE‘%% CIRAETRRE RS HROBE
e ERERAABMELZEBRRLEEZREFTER

BABUE

We identified this area as a key audit matter because of the
magnitude of the balance of trade receivables and due from related
companies and that the assessment of the expected credit losses
on trade receivables and due from related companies involved
significant judgements and estimates made by management.

B AIE 7 ﬁtﬁﬂi%ﬁﬁﬁ@%ﬁ%lﬁ TIERRE 5 FE W RIE & e
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IéiEﬁi‘EEﬁﬁfEﬁaﬂ’WaaE/bF&EﬁEﬁik#ﬂ@ﬁ&{ﬁﬁ

The significant accounting estimates and disclosures about the
provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and due
from related companies are included in notes 3, 18 and 32 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

FRE SRR FIEREWER AR FIBENTAREEBERE RS
MEAGFHET BB RSN GEE T BRI 18K

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMERRNEEREERSEE

Our audit procedures to assess the provision for expected credit
losses on trade receivables and due from related companies
included the following:

BAPIRF S E B R R 0R K R U B B 2 A

AIRENTEHEEE

BRENEZEFE/RNTEE

0]

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

Obtaining an understanding, evaluating and testing
management’s key controls in relation to the assessment
of the expected credit losses on trade receivables and due
from related companies;

T - FHERBIHEEBA WG E 2RISR M E
YRR~ RIRTERE BB R AR SIEH)

Assessing the appropriateness of the credit loss
provisioning methodology adopted by management;

AHEEREMRANEEBRBEIANAEN

Assessing the reasonableness of the forward-looking factors
and the estimated credit loss rates by considering historical
cash collection performance and movements of the ageing
of trade receivables and due from related companies, and
taking into account the market conditions;

BBEBEE L IR WEIRE M E 5 EWGRIE N R
BN RFORREREVE ) - WAt RN - FHARTE LR

HFA

ELEMEEEEENGENE

Testing, on a sampling basis, the accuracy of ageing analysis

of trade receivables and due from related companies

prepared by management; and

L‘Nfizli%“ RHE IR ERRE 5 e WA K e U B
IR DATHOERENE © K

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of
the provision for loss allowance.

BREAEERRENHERE -

We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures of

g2 e trade receivables and due from related companies in the financial
statements.
A 7TE ML R Rk R B R E B 5 e WRIE K e W
Bt A RIRIBEFER BT DM ©
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
BUKEENRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a gOiﬂg concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
BUKEENRS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
BUZEERS

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lawrence KW. Lau.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEBEmREMEENRAR

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

2023 2022
20234 20226
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR%T T AREF T
REVENUE g 5 1,063,634 1,103,122
Cost of sales SHE RN (811,191) (846,751)
Gross profit EF 252,443 256,371
Other income and gains H g A M bz 5 9,720 16,330
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HMAX (1,102) (1,003)
Administrative expenses THAX (99,914) (132,743)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net TREEREBEFHE (119,027) (7,863)
Other expenses HARZ (903) (878)
Finance costs &R AR 7 (2,332) 2,779)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FRBE AR R 6 38,885 127,935
Income tax expense Frig®if = 10 (24,651) (34,079)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 14,234 93,856
Attributable to: LA &5 4G
Owners of the parent SRAREAA 10,865 91,990
Non-controlling interests FEIERR 3,369 1,866
14,234 93,856
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREBERESFEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EihEREF
THE PARENT 12
Basic HAR
~ For profit for the year - FE T RMBO0.03 RMB0.22
AR#0.03T AR®0227T
Diluted e
~ For profit for the year - FNE A RMBO0.03 RMB0.22
AR®0.037T AR#0227T
NEREEEBERAR . —E-=FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REBRREMEZEEHRAR

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR¥ET T ARBEFIT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FEREMEEUA -
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX MERBIE - -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FRE2EBAEEE
THE YEAR 14,234 93,856
Attributable to: A& TG
Owners of the parent [SYNSIEZSDN 10,865 91,990
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R 3,369 1,866
14,234 93,856
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE M BRRIER
Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
2023128310 PPEIPIZEINE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bf5E ARET T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB RERE 13 19,306 19,111
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 14 1,258 -
Goodwill [EES 15 175,050 175,050
Other intangible assets HivmpEE 16 73,546 87,734
Deferred tax assets RIETHIBE = 25 18,178 2,996
Total non-current assets EREBEERE 287,338 284,891
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 17 5,359 6,340
Trade receivables 2 5 WA 18 254,638 191,010
Prepayments, other receivables and other TEfT IR ~ Efb Ik
assets MENEMEE 19 123,404 110,148
Due from related companies JE U BB A )RR 32 385,000 440,523
Financial assets at fair value through profitor & A EFF ABZEH
loss EREE = 1,009
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTER 20 638,147 545,729
Total current assets mENEERE 1,406,548 1,295,259
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade payables B Z N RIR 21 195,871 151,139
Other payables and accruals Hih e 5RIE R BB A 22 204,662 179,305
Contract liabilities ARAEE 23 252,595 227,468
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t B8 8R17 R E AL E =X 24 13,791 13,822
Lease liabilities HeEaE 14 2,359 1,399
Tax payable JERTTRIE 78,143 51,184
Total current liabilities eI B BB 747,421 624,317
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 659,127 670,942
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES REERARBEMSE 946,465 955,833
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRRRK

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
20235128310 [PAPESAPEEINE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ihg=s AR® T AREF T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES *kRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5T B8R 7T & E b fE X 24 31,063 44,735
Deferred tax liabilities EEIARE 25 16,830 20,910
Total non-current liabilities EREBERTE 47,893 65,645
Net assets BEFE 898,572 890,188
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & 2 TG A E{h DR
Share capital & 26 3,764 3,764
Reserves ] 27 879,908 869,043
883,672 872,807
Non-controlling interests JEFER = 14,900 17,381
Total equity M 4AER 898,572 890,188
Zeng Junkai Zeng Zixi
gl 2 7R
Director Director
=3 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share

capital

Note 26

™ A\ 435 L %=
MO RBER
Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
SRAEEAES

Statutory Non-

Share Merger surplus Retained controlling Total

prem'\um feserve feserve proﬁts interests EC]Ui[}J

#E REE FAESE  ERRE

RMB000 RMBO00 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 VB! RMB000

AEBTL ARBTT ARMTT ARETT ARETT A ARETT
Note 27 Note 27 Note 27

iG] 27

At1 January 2022 RnE1A1H 3764 387,200 87849 43483 258459 780817 3148 812259
Total comprehensive income for the year FREENALE - - - - 91,990 91,99 1866 93856
Disposal of subsidiaries HENEAH - - - - - - 9910) 9910)
Dividends dedlared to non-contralling BERTHERRERS

shareholders - - - - - - (6017) (6017)
Transfer fiom retained profits SEARBET - - - 13,799 (13799) - - -
At 31 December 2022 RN2ENA3E 3764 387,262 87.849* 57,282* 336650 872807 17,381 890,188
At January 2023 ROBFIA1A 3,764 387,262* 87,849% 57,282* 336,650* 872,807 17,381 890,188
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEMALE - - = = 10,865 10,865 3,369 14,234
Dividend paid to non-controlling BEATHERRERS

shareholders - - - - - - (5,850) (5,850)
Transfer fiom retained profits BEBRTAT - - - 9,168 (9,168) - - -
At 31 December 2023 RN3%E1A31H 3,764 387,262* 87,849* 66,450* 338,347% 883,672 14,900 898,572

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBREBERGEEVBRARFTNEESHEEA
RMB879,908,000 (2022: RMB869,043,000) in the consolidated statement of R #£879,908,0007T (20224 : AFR#869,043,0007T) ©

financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

D AN\ AN [—1
RoREMER
Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

2023 2022
20235 20226
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ihg=s ARET R ARBT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 35 B4 A 38,885 127,935
Adjustments for: FARIER -
Depreciation of items of property, plant W - BEREEEE
and equipment e 6,13 6,645 5175
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE 6,14 1,258 441
Amortisation of other intangible assets H s Eg 6,16 16,150 21,354
(Gains)/Losses on disposal of items of HEME - BEMEE
property, plant and equipment BB /W), B 6 (4) 1,671
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR Ak 6 - (3479)
Impairment losses recognised in financial EEREMEERE
assets B 6 119,027 7,863
Net foreign exchange gain SN 5 F BR 6 (947) (645)
Finance costs BhE AN 7 2,332 2,779
Interest income FE WA 5 (1,293) (954)
182,053 162,140
Decrease in inventories FERL 1,481 2,537
Increase in trade receivables H 5 e WA b (71,550) (100,619)
Increase in prepayments, other receivables — JE{TFIE « EAth fE Uk k1B
and other assets K H & EIE N (13,496) (65,372)
Increase in trade payables 5 FIEE N 44,732 83,492
Increase in other payables and accruals Hitv e RIBERERT B R
Ehn 25,357 45,031
Increase in contract liabilities A REEEM 25,127 56,635
Increase in amounts due from related JE UK B B N B ROIE S AN
companies (55,342) (350,282)
Decrease in amounts due to related JE 1<) BB e 1 B R TR R >
companies - (5,556)
Decrease/(Increase) in restricted cash ZRRFIR A1) 15 (380)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations rems/ FRRE 138,377 (172,374)
Interest income received EF S A 1,293 945
Tax paid EHE (16,954) (14,856)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating EEE MR (FTA)
activities RemEFHE 122,716 (186,285)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REREMER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

2023 2022
20235 20226
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ihg=s AR¥T T ARBT T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Investment income received BUIEE WA 12 -
Purchase of items of property, plant and BEWZE - WERZE
equipment B H 13 (7,409) (8921)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,  HEWE - BE KR
plant and equipment IH B FT{S kIR 573 -
Purchase of other intangible assets EEEMEEEE 16 (1,962) (5,306)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKRB AT 29 = (5,808)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BEZAFEFABRED
through profit or loss SREE - (1,000)
Disposal of financial assets at fair value HERAFETABED
through profit or loss TRVEE 997 -
Net cash flows used in investing activities WEEBFARESREFE (7,789) (21,035)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank and ETRRITREMBER
other borrowings FriS s8R - 68,940
Repayments of interest-bearing bank and BEFT BIRITREMER
other borrowings (13,822) (10,341)
Principal portion of lease payments MENFTH RS (1,631) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling IR T IR R AR R IR B
shareholders (5,850) (1,385)
Interest paid EfFE (2,138) (2,802)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing mVEEE(FTA) 5
activities REMEFHE (23,441) 54,412
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REREMER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

2023 2022
20234 20224F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M ARET T ARBFIT
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASHAND HRE&RBLZEYEmMm,
CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2) F8 91,486 (152,908)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginningof ~ F ¥R & MKIREEEY
year 545,342 697,605
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  4#MNE [ 2R & B ) 52 225 3R 947 645
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSATEND OF £ AREERBEEZEEY
YEAR 637,775 545,342
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERFESEBEYMERDIT
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTTEH 20 638,147 545,729
Cash and bank balances as stated in the AR N ERFTT IR &
statement of financial position RITHE R 638,147 545,729
Less: Restricted cash B ZRFIRE 20 372 387
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the REMNERFINRE K
statement of cash flows HeEEY 637,775 545,342
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Redsun Services Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
and registered as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands under the Cayman Islands Companies Law on
12 December 2019. Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company
became the holding company of the companies now comprising
the Group on 17 February 2020. The shares of the Company
have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited since 7 July 2020. The registered office of
the Company is located at Walkers Corporate Limited, 190 Elgin
Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-9008, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was mainly involved in the provision
of property management services, value-added services to non-
property owners and community value-added services.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company of the
Company is Redsun Services Group (Holdings) Limited, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

5 ¥R < Py &

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

RAREEEHR

ShAERBEBAR QB ([ARF)R2019512
ANRERERSHESQARVEER SR SEMAK
VEREBERAERRERLNF - REEAE AR
AIP20205F 2 A 17BN RAK EREE T A A
EZER A A - ARERD 8202067 A7HER
ERBMARSMAERABER LT - RRFF
i 31 = B A2 R Walkers Corporate Limited, 190 Elgin
Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-9008,
Cayman Islands ©

FAR-AEEXZPREHYEEERS - 3F
K ERBERS Mt BB ERTS o

EZRR ARANZERATDAREBHER
RESEMANAGREEEGER)ARA
EJ o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

1.  CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER @
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries BB B A RN E R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: AAREBWBARMFFBOT ¢
Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration registered  equity attributable to
Name and business share capital the Company Principal activities
EMmRL, BRTEE/ KATEL
£ SRR EELE EAUEN REBDL TEEK
Direct  Indirect
E# B
Redsun Services Investment Limited British Virgin Islands USD50,000 100 = Investment holding
MERERERRAA REABRES 50000 7T RERR
Redsun Services (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong - - 100 Investment holding
LR (FE)BR LA 5 REER
Hong Yang Property Service Group Co, Ltd* PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB480,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
ENERBEEERAR i/ hER AR 480,000,007 REER
Nanjing Hong Yang Property management Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB200,000,000 - 100 Property management
ERLGNEERERAR i/ hER AR 2000000007 NEER
Jiangsu Redsun Town Operation and Development Co, Ltd.  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 - 100 Project management
TH#LG/NEBEEEERAA e/ hE R AR 500000007 BREE
Nanjing Hongcheng Property management Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMBS5,000,000 - 100 Property management
AR EERERAR /R E R AR 5,000,007 NEER
Hong Life Property management Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 - 100 Property management
WEENERBERERAT e/ RE R AR#100,000,0007C NEER
Nanjing Hong Life Real Estate Consulting Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
ARALEREEZBERARAR i/ hE R AR 500000070 Bl
Nanjing Hong Life Virescence Management Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 - 100 Property management
ARLEEE(CERARAR e/ hE R AR 5000000070 NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WM EE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ATREBEER@E

(Continued)

BEME R TNER (&)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Issued

Place of incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of

registration registered  equity attributable to
Name and business share capital the Company Principal activities

AL BRITEE/ ERAEE
£8 AR E R R A RERSL  FEEH

Direct  Indirect
EE B
Nanjing Hong Life Decoration Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Decoration services
AR RS T RARAR E/HER AR B5,0000007C RHRT
Nanjing Hong Life Information Technology Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Software maintenance
BRAERERREARAR E/HER ARH5,0000007T NS T
Nanjing Hong Life Pension Service Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Pension services
HRLEEREREARAR E/HERS AR 8500000070 BERH
Nanjing Hong Life Investment Management Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
BRVEEREEBARAR E /R AR B5,0000007C RERR
Shanghai Andi Property management Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB3,500,000 - 51 Property management
ERBYEERERAR E/RE R AR 350000070 NEER
Chuzhou Yurun Property management Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMBS5,000,000 - 100 Property management
BHFENEERBRAR E/HE R AR B5,0000007C nEER
Nanjing Yuye Property management Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMBS5,000,000 - 100 Property management
ARTENEERARAA E/RE R ARH5,000,0007 NEER
Wuhu Yurun Property management Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMBS5,000,000 - 100 Property management
BERTENEERBRAR E/HE R AR B5,0000007C NEER
Nanjing Hongsheng Intelligent Information Technology PRC/Chinese Mainland RMBS5,000,000 - 100 Information system
Co, Ltd. integration

ARAABRIERRRARAR e/ BN AR 50000007 BREREN

SASRBEEEERAR . — B =FFRH
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. QFAREEER@®E
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBEKE A SNER (&)
Issued

Place of incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of

registration registered  equity attributable to
Name and business share capital the Company Principal activities

AL BRITEE/ ERAEE
£8 AR E R R A RERAL  TEXE

Direct  Indirect
EE B
Huangshan Yurun Property management Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Property management
ELTENEERRRAR E/HER AR 100000070 WEER
Yueyang Yurun Property management Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB500,000 - 100 Property management
ERTENEERBRAR E/HERS AR 5000007 MEEE
Chizhou Yurun Property management Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB500,000 - 100 Property management
T ENERBERAR E/RER ARE5000007C MEEE
Chengdu Honglan Real Estate Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
REBLREXBRAT E/RER AR B1,0000007C AR
Wuxi Hongyuan Real Estate Consulting Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
EHLEEXBHERAR E/HE R AR H1,0000007C HHRT
Taixing Hongcheng Real Estate Consulting Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
REIHEXBHERAR E/HE R AR H1,0000007C AR
Kaifeng Hongyi Real Estate Agency Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
FHLREHESL AR AR E/HE R ARH1,0000007 HARB
Huzhou Hongyang Real Estate Consulting Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
AL GESBERARAR E/HE R AR 100000070 AR
Nanjing Hongyuan Real Estate Consulting Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
BRLEESEMARAR E/HE R AR 100000070 AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WM EE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. QFAREEER@®E
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEME A TNER (&)
Issued

Place of incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of

registration registered  equity attributable to
Name and business share capital the Company Principal activities

AR, BRITER/ ERAEE
£8 AR E R R A REBAL TEEH

Direct  Indirect
E# B
Suzhou Hongyuan Real Estate Consulting Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
FNLEEZBERARLA hE/hER AR H1,000,0007 HARB
Nanjing Jiangnan Hongzhi Real Estate Consulting Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
ARIBLBEEBRERAA hE/hER AR H1,000,0007 HARB
Wuhan Hong Life Real Estate Agency Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
RELEERNELLERAR e/ hE R AR H1,000,0007 HARB
Nanjing Jiangnan Hongzhi Life Decoration Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB17,500,000 - 100 Decoration services
ARIBABE RN TRARAR E/hER ARE17,5000007C £H0RH
Xiangyang Hong Life Real Estate Consulting Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
EGLEEEEBHERAA E/RE R ARH1,0000007 HARB
Nanjing Leiyuan Enterprise Management Consulting Co, Ltd.  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMBS5,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
ARERLEEREHERAT E/RE R ARH50000007C HAR
Nanjing Hongming Real Estate Consulting Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
ARLAEEEMNARAR E/RE R A H1,000,0007 HARB
Hefei Hong Life Real Estate Consulting Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
AELEEEXBRERAA E/HER AR H1,000,0007 HARB
Nanchang Hongnan Real Estate Agency Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
M EEHELLERAR e/ HEA ARH1,00000070 HAMR
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. QFAREEER@®E
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEME A TNER (&)
Issued

Place of incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of

registration registered  equity attributable to
Name and business share capital the Company Principal activities

AL BRITEE/ ERAEE
£8 AR E R R A RERSL  FEEH

Direct  Indirect
EE B
Chongging Honglan Real Estate Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
ERLREZXERAF E/HER AR H1,0000007 HARS
Jiangyin Hongshun Real Estate Consulting Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
TRLBEZBERARAR E/HERS AR H1,0000007C R
Hefei Hongsheng Decoration Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Decoration services
ARG TRERAA E/RER AR B1,0000007C RHRTS
Nanjing Hongzhi Life Service Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB3,000,000 - 100 Property management
AR B ERB AR AR E /RS AR 8300000070 nEER
Nanjing Jiangnan Hongzhi Property management Co, Ltd. ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Property management
BRTIELIEERERAR E/RE R AR E1,0000007C NEER
Chongqing Hongchuangxinyuan Property management PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 67  Property management
Co, Ltd.

ERLABRNEERERAR /P E A ARH1,0000007 NEER
Taizhou Yuhong Real Estate Brokerage Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
FNFABHELLERRA /P E A AR 10000007 HARB
Huaian Hongwen Real Estate Brokerage Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
ERAXEHELLERAT i/ PEAD AE#1,0000007 HARE
Changzhou Hongcheng Real Estate Consulting Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
EMLHE BN ERAF i/ PEAD AR 10000007 HARB
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. QFAREEER@®E
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEME A TNER (&)
Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration registered  equity attributable to
Name and business share capital the Company Principal activities
AR, BRITER/ ERAEE
£8 AR E R R A REBAL TEEH
Direct  Indirect
E# B
Nanjing Hongyang Property management Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Property management
HRLRNEERARAR hE/hER AR H1,000,0007 NEER
Taizhou Yucheng Real Estate Brokerage Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
FNFREHESLERAA hE/hER AR H1,000,0007 HARB
Nanjing Hongteng E-commerce Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Wholesale Businesses
ARLEETEBERAR e/ hE R AREES,000,0007C HEEH
Jiangyin Hongcheng Real Estate Consulting Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
TRLBEZBERARLA E /e R A H1,000,0007 Bl
Xuzhou Hongyangmingrui Property management Co, Ltd. ~ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,030,000 - 51 Property management
B G RRYEERERAT E /e R AR H1,030,0007 nEER
Hangzhou Hongtong Real Estate Consulting Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
MMLBEZBERARLA hE/RE R A H1,000,0007 HARB
Jiaxing Hongyu Real Estate Brokerage Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
RELBEHELLARLA E/RER AR 10000007 A ARG
Wuhan Hongnan Real Estate Consulting Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
RELHEXBNARAA E/HE R A H1,000,00070 HARB
Nanjing Hongyi Real Estate Consulting Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
ARAREXERARAT e/ TEA ARHE1,0000007C HARR
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. QFAREEER@®E
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EEME A TNER (&)
Issued

Place of incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of

registration registered  equity attributable to
Name and business share capital the Company Principal activities

AL BRITEE/ ERAEE
£8 AR E R R A REBAL TEEH

Direct  Indirect
E# B
Chuzhou Yuhong Real Estate Brokerage Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
BN FLEHESLERAF hE/hER AR H1,000,0007 R
Chuzhou Yuhong Decoration Engineering Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Decoration services
BNFAEHIRARAR E/hER AR H5,000,0007 SRS
Wuhu Yuhong Real Estate Brokerage Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
HRFLEHESLERAA E/hE R AR H5,000,0007 AR
Chizhou Yujiang Real Estate Brokerage Co,, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
NP IEESEERAA E/hER AR H2,000,0007 HHRT
Nanjing Yuyeda Real Estate Consulting Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
ARTEEEEEMARAR E/RE R A H1,000,0007 HART
Kunshan Runhong Real Estate Brokerage Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
BB HESRERAR E/HE R A H1,000,0007 HARB
Chuzhou Yuyang Real Estate Brokerage Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 100 Consulting services
BNFEERELRERAR E/RE R ARHE1,0000007C HAMR
Wuhan Huidehang Jingying Property management Co, Ltd.  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB12,000,000 - 80  Property management
RERGIRENERBERAA E/HER AR 81200000070 NEER
Hanchuan Huidehang Property management Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 80  Property management
ENESTNERBERAR e/ PEA ARH1,0000007C NEER
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1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of incorporation/
registration

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WM EE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

RAREEER @

BEME R TNER (&)

Issued
ordinary/ Percentage of

registered  equity attributable to

Name and business share capital the Company Principal activities
AR, BEB/ ERAEE

£8 SRR EELE R A REBAL TEEHR

Direct  Indirect

E# B
Wuhan Huidehang Hangiao Property management Co, Ltd.  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 64 Property management
REEGTERNERBERL hE/hER ARHE1,0000007C NEER
Wuhan Huidehang Jingying Real Estate Co, Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 80  Consulting services
REERITRAEXBRA hE/hER ARH1,0000007C HARE
Wuhan Huidehang Hangiao Jingying Property management  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 - 64 Property management
Co, Ltd.

REEGTERRBENERBARAF e/ HER ARHE1,0000007T NEER

*

under PRC law.

Note:

These entities are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises

The English translations of the names are for reference only. The official

names of these enterprises are in Chinese.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion

of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a

substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs") (which include all International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards
("IASs") and Interpretations) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e,, existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(© the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an

equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group's share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis
as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
IFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to I1AS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and impact of the new and revised IFRSs that

are applicable to the Group are described below:

a)

Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general-purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice
Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply
the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. The Group has disclosed the material
accounting policy information in note 2 to the
financial statements. The amendments did not
have any impact on the measurement, recognition
or presentation of any items in the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since
the Group's approach and policy align with the
amendments, the amendments had no impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Q) Amendments to |AS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in I1AS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax
asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions.

The Group applied the amendments on temporary
differences related to leases as at 1 January 2022.
Upon initial application of these amendments, the
Group recognised (i) a deferred tax asset for all
deductible temporary differences associated with
lease liabilities (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available), and (ii) a deferred tax liability
for all taxable temporary differences associated
with right-of-use assets at 1 January 2022, with
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to
the balances of retained profits and non-controlling
interests at that date. The amendments did not
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

d)

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform
= Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar
Two income taxes, including the disclosure of
current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes
separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the
legislation is enacted or substantively enacted
but not yet in effect. The Group has applied the
amendments retrospectively. Since the Group did
not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any impact to
the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs,

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements. The Group intends to apply these

revised IFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7 and

IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback'

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current (the 2020
Amendments”)’

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the
2022 Amendments”) !

Supplier Finance
Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability ?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available

for adoption
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in [FRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or
loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to
sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the
date of initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e,, 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2

144
D

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early
application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based
on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’'s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments
provide certain transition reliefs regarding comparative
information, quantitative information as at the beginning
of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency
and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a
measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact
of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value
of the Group'’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured

or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised

within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based

on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 = based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwiill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(ii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M B R EE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

U]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;
and the sponsoring employers of the post-
employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its

working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them

accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Office equipment and electronic
and other devices 19%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of

the lease terms and useful lives

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M B R EE
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2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Other intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment
loss and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 5 years.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Customer relationship

Customer relationship is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 5-10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Office buildings 3 years

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B WM EE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

2 BEREBE®@

24

EESTEEGE
HtBEEEE (BEFI &

BEPRE
BEPEBEEAAR AR EE RS R
WRSEI0FMEHERFRRRERE

HE
AEEESRMARKFHEERIEAHE
EdREMHE - HERE TRANRN —&

By O 2 ) 2 28R B EE B0 A& A B R AR
B AZARAEEEEHE -

AEBEEAEMEA
NEBEMERE(RHPHERKEES
E%ﬂ‘ﬁ*l@‘?‘ﬁl\)T%HX%*TJEW&#;F/X
AEBHERAEEAENELHEER
ﬁﬁ{iﬁﬁﬁééﬁhﬁﬁﬁ*H%ﬁéﬁ&ﬂﬁ%ﬂ o

(@ [EREEE

EREEERBERKG A HEAE
MEEAMHRERZB)®ER - £/
BEERRAGTE - HMEERRE
FEREFRERSE  XHEER
BEONEAEHNTEFEL AR - E5
REENKABRCOHAEERE
T EREMBEERARKEHE
A Z A MR ENFURE
WEBHERHEES - EAREE
KA E 8 R A FHE R F B CARRE
ERB)NABERETE  #B0W
T @

WMmoRE 35

USRS EEMERAT . — B F 5K 155



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(@)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset. Right-of-use assets are
subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment

Occurs.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the
lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment and
laptop computers that are considered to be of low

value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI")
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M B R EE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on the equity investments are also
recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach
and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
atan amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M B R EE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, an amount due to the ultimate holding
company, derivative financial instruments and interest-

bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-
out basis. Net realisable value is based on the estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to a provision is presented in the
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in IFRS 15.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@)

Property management services

The Group charged property management fees in
respect of the property management services on a
lump sum basis.

On a lump sum basis, the Group is entitled to
retain the full amount of the received property
management fees. From the property management
fees, the Group shall bear expenses associated with,
among others, staff, cleaning, garbage disposal,
gardening and landscaping, security and general
overheads covering the common areas. During
the term of the contract, if the amount of the
property management fees the Group collected
is not sufficient to cover all the expenses incurred,
the Group is not entitled to request the property
owners to pay the shortfall.

Accordingly, on a lump sum basis, the Group
recognises the full amount of the property
management fees the Group charged to the
property owners and property developers as

revenue.

These services are performed by an indeterminate
number of acts over a specified period of time.
Accordingly, revenue is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the specified period unless there
is evidence that some other methods better
represent the stage of completion, and the costs of
services are recognised as incurred in connection
with performing such services.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(b) Value-added services to non-property owners

Value-added services to non-property owners
mainly include sales assistance services, pre-delivery
and consulting services. The term of the contracts
for sales assistance is generally set to expire when
the counterparties notify the Group that the
services are no longer required. Pre-delivery and
consulting services are rendered in a short period
of time and there were no unsatisfied performance
obligations at the end of the respective periods.

(© Community value-added services

The services are rendered in a short period of
time and there were no unsatisfied performance
obligations at the end of the respective periods.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to
a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment,
details of which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade
receivables when the right to the consideration becomes
unconditional.
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e,, transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised
as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of
the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future.

(© The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the
goods or services to which the asset relates. Other contract
costs are expensed as incurred.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees in Hong Kong who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiary which operates
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. This subsidiary is required to contribute a
certain portion of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.

Redsun Services Group Limited - Annual Report 2023

2

SRR @

24

EREBERGE

HittlES 77/

ELNCAR
AEBRBECRHERBS A EGODB
BEBSMERESTENTEREEER
FERH RS RS RAENEE (192
BEFE)D  HETNIRBEEELRF S
M—EBNEL - XYRRBERTESF
MR ERNFEBRAME - BESA
EMEEEAKRENEENHATA I
HBEVEEESRAE - AREMNEEH
RERABRBESFEHAT T2EBNE

=
B o

AEBERPEAMEERE 2B RF
ZERERAZEAMT THRFRILZF R
RAREEE - MBARMARETENK
KB THOISN TR REAKRESETE -
KRB KRR KRS TR E R B
B B iR R IR



2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements. Interim dividends are
simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’'s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e, translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or

profit or loss, respectively).
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2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates are currencies other than
the RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the
differences are attributable to non-controlling interests. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in
the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the

year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill was
RMB175,050,000 (2022: RMB175,050,000). Further details are given
in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
due from related companies

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and due from related companies. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography,
service type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of
credit and other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e,,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in
the property management sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s
actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on
the Group's trade receivables and due from related companies
is disclosed in note 18 and 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WM EE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monitors the operating results of the Group's
business which includes property management services
income and value-added services income by project locations
for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. As all the locations have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in the nature of property
management services, the nature of the aforementioned
business processes, the type or class of the customer for the
aforementioned business and the methods used to distribute
the property management services and value-added services, all
locations were aggregated as one reportable operating segment.

Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group's revenue
from the external customers is derived solely from its operation
in Chinese Mainland and no non-current assets of the Group are
located outside Chinese Mainland.

Information about major customers

In 2023, revenue from continuing operations of approximately
RMB201,526,000 (2022: RMB227,223,000) was derived from
providing property management services and value-added
services to a single customer, including providing property
management services and value-added services to a group of
entities which are known to be under common control with that

customer.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M BRIRMEE
31 December 2023
20235 12A31H
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. U@ - Hib A RS
An analysis of revenue is as follows: HWEHASTIT :
2023 2022
2023 202246
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEERWE
Property management services YEEEIRTE 840,174 834,730
Value-added services to non-property owners FEFFILERE 66,857 124,612
Community value-added services 1 [E BB AR TS 156,603 143,780
Total #Et 1,063,634 1,103,122
Revenue from contracts with customers
(a)  Disaggregated revenue information
2022
20236 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREET T
Revenue from customers and recognised REBERNEF KR
over time
Property management services YIS E IR RS 840,174 834,730
Value-added services to non-property FESE FRERT
owners 57,069 102,632
Total “aEt 897,243 937,362
Revenue from customers and recognised ERE-ERERERN
ata point in time EFE K=
Value-added services to non-property IEH FIRERT
owners 9,788 21,980
Community value-added services 1 2B RS 156,603 143,780
Total st 166,391 165,760
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amount of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

5. &= -

HABW A R K £ ()

EFaRWES (&)

(a)

Wz B F A A (4E)
TRETRABREMERL DT ARS

HNARAENKESHE -

Revenue recognised that was included in

REFARERTNER

contract liabilities at the beginning of the BERNWRE
reporting period:
Property management services VBRI

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFIT
226,152 159,300

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is

summarised below:

Property management services

The Group recognises revenue in the amount that equals
to the right to invoice which corresponds directly with
the value to the customer of the Group's performance to
date. The Group has elected the practical expedient to
not to disclose the remaining performance obligations
for these types of contracts. The majority of the property
management services contracts do not have a fixed term.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LR e R

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

s ~ EAbUA R W ES (80

EFaRWES (&)

Performance obligations (Continued) (b) EHEFGE)
Value-added services to non-property owners IEHEFIRERTS
Value-added services to non-property owners mainly RIFETRENEEREEZEREHE
include sales assistance services, pre-delivery and W - KNI RERARSE - BEX S
consulting services. The term of the contracts for HIRNTEBRTERZERER - HE
sales assistance is generally set to expire when the e RMHRBE TR - XA
counterparties notify the Group that the services are no LE#ARGEERENERAARERE - I
longer required. Pre-delivery and consulting services are BEMAEARE RS SERBINEY
rendered in a short period of time and there were no -3 a0
unsatisfied performance obligations at the end of the
respective periods.
Community value-added services R IBERE
The services are rendered in a short period of time and fRBREREHREARE - WAKEME
there were no unsatisfied performance obligations at the EHREERESERBITNRBOET -
end of the respective periods.
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTF T
Other income and gains H A Rk W
Government grants TR T 45 B 6,487 9,837
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR = 3,479
Interest income FEUA 1,293 945
Foreign exchange difference, net X ZR - JFE 947 645
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value 22 F(EFFABZEA T
through profit or loss BEAFERE 21 9
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant &Y « BB M &R E
and equipment 1A B B ias 4 -
Others Hh 968 1915
Total other income and gains B A Rz 45 9,720 16,830
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M B R EE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging:

AEEFRBADEN S INRIATRIEA -

2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ih=s AR%T T AREF T
Cost of services provided RHRIB IR 811,191 846,751
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BB MKERETE
equipment 13 6,645 5175
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREENE 14 1,258 a4
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEEH 16 16,150 21,354
(Gains)/Losses on disposal of items of HEME - BB MEHE
property, plant and equipment BB/ (), B (4) 1,671
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR/ E = (3,479)
Foreign exchange difference, net MEHZRE - 55 (947) (645)
Impairment of due from related JE W BAESE N R IE R E
companies 32 110,865 -
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 WG RE 18 7,922 6,115
Impairment of financial assets included T ATEMFIA « &Rk
in prepayments, deposits and other Eoth fE KGRI ) &
receivables BERME 19 240 1,748
Auditor's remuneration ZE e BN & 1,560 2,520
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERAMAZ(TEIE
directors’ and chief executive’s EERERITHRAER
remuneration): EEN) -
Wages and salaries TITENHS 298,916 340,935
Pension scheme contributions and BEeTEERR
social welfare* = rlk 64,677 87,460

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by

the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of

contributions.
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7.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W R EE
31 December 2023
20235 12A31H
FINANCE COSTS 7. ®EHRAK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEXARSITIT :
2023 2022
2023 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBFIT
Interest on bank loans, overdrafts and other loans $R1TE R « BEx M EAM
BERHF L 2,257 2,760
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEANE 75 19
Total 4t 2,332 2,779
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERESTHRAEHM
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BiE EHER - FEQFMEAIZE383(1)@)  (b)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(@), (b), (c) OFRMEARRARI(FREEMNmERRIIE
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the HBEBENAFEESTRERTHRABFMN
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) N
Regulation, is as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBFIT
Fees we 600 600
Other emoluments: Emile
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind I& - ZREREYEN 1,908 1,996
Performance related bonuses* FIR BN TEAT* 420 531
Pension scheme contributions and social BEESFERR KA F
welfare 198 178
Total “Et 3,126 3,305
* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus * RRBETHTEFTEREFERAEER A
payments which are associated with the profit after tax of the TEEBRTEA R
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RMAERMEE
31 December 2023
2023 12H31H
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERBSITHAEHM®@
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(@) Independent non-executive directors @ BIFHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FARMBIFEATESZTZNOEE W
during the year were as follows: N

2023 2022
20234 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETFT
Mr. Zhao Xianbo IR e A 200 200
Mr. Li Xiao Hang TEMTAE 200 200
Ms. Wang Fen FEZL 200 200
Total et 600 600
There were no other emoluments payable to the FALMENBIIFNTERNH b E
independent non-executive directors during the year B (20224F : f8)
(2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LR e R

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERERSITRAEHM@E
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b)  An executive director, a non-executive director (b) —BHTES - FHTESKREST
and the chief executive BAE
Pension Scheme
Salaries, Performance contributions
allowances and related and social Total
benefits in kind bonuses welfare remuneration
- - 1134 EEEHEMER
BNER REBNTA )5&an-=¢ =k st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTL ARETTT AREFTT AREFTT
2023 2023F
Executive director: HITEE :
- Ms. Zeng Zixi -BFELT 1,211 210 94 1,515
Non-executive director: HHTEE -
= Mr. Zeng Junkai - BEHLEE = - - -
Chief executive: RETHAS -
= Mr. Chen Yichun** - RE KA 697 210 104 1,011
Total @5t 1,908 420 198 2,526
2022 20224
Executive director: HITEE :
- Ms. Zeng Zixi -BFELT 1424 263 85 1772
Non-executive director: HHTEE -
= Mr. Zeng Junkai - BEHEE - - - -
Chiefexecutive: RETHAR -
= Mr. Yang Guang* - B 452 193 69 714
= Mr.Chen Yichun** -REM LA 120 75 2% 219
Total @5t 199 531 178 2,705
LS REEBERAR . —CE-=FFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M B R EE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b)  An executive director, a non-executive director
and the chief executive (Continued)

* Mr. Yang Guang has tendered his resignation as an
executive director, a chief executive and a member of the
nomination committee of the board with effect from 23
September 2022.

** Mr. Chen Yichun has been appointed as the vice
president, responsible for the overall management of the
Company, with effect from 23 September 2022.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

9. FIVEHIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES o.

The five highest paid employees during the year included one
director and the chief executive (2022: one director and the chief
executive), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining
three (2022: three) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

EERBESITHRASHM @

b) —BHITES - FIHTEERESIT
WAE (&
* BHREEDBHINTES ZoTTHRA
BREFSRAZBENE + H202F
9A23HBAER °

3 REALCLECEZRTABRE  BEX
NEIREBERR - 52022F9A23A
AR o

FA BEEEXESTRABRERL
R B MEE AR -

TERESHFMES

FR hemarNEERE —RESURER
BITHAEB (20225 : —BEFURESITH
AB) EHEMFBHN LTS - WHEARR
AEEXRRITBRABMBT=E0022F : =
B)BEmHHESFRNEFMFBNT ¢

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind TE& ZEREDEN 1,572 1,664
Performance related bonuses RIFHERTEAT 64 273
Pension and social welfare BEESRTEEF 171 198
Total HET 1,807 2,135
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR e R

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued) 9. IhERSFHMES®E
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid FUARATHEENIZEZRIIFGSTHRAR
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is EagMEEABAT :
as follows:
Number of employees
EBEAE
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBTIT
Nil to HK$500,000 T 2500,000%5 7T - -
HK$500,001 to HKS$ 1,000,000 500,001/ 7T % 1,000,000/ 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HKS 1,500,000 1,000,008 L2
1,500,000 7T = 1
Total 5T 3 3
INCOME TAX 10. FRSH

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits

arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members

of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules

and regulations of the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands,

the Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman Islands

and British Virgin Islands are not subject to any income tax. The

Group's subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are not liable for

income tax as they did not have any assessable profit arising in

Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2023.

RNEBERAEERKE QR REEMER
BRAEERELRREEMEFIREBAL
BNFEE - BERSHESREBERIHS
HRARER  AEERFASHSEREBER
RESEMAAHE LR BASMNTMAAE
o REERBBEMER AN E QR BER
WATER - AAZEARTRNEE2023F12831
B FE WA T B E LN T ERBUEF o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B HRME
31 December 2023
2023 12H31H
10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. FriS®i@)
Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Chinese Mainland are HZE2023F1N2A31BLFE REBRFEHR
generally subject to the PRC corporate income tax at a rate of A BT BB R B — AR B HR 25% B B R AR P
25% for the year ended 31 December 2023, excluding certain EMER - BRTEZE2023F12A31BIEFE
subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC which are either located in ARE B R PSP i M BTB 2 B (X 15%M BT
western cities (subject to a preferential income tax rate of 15%) or SHEBHR) /MR EERERA2.5%35%
qualified as Small and Micro Enterprises (subject to a preferential REBEFEHIE) o
income tax rate of 2.5% or 5%) for the year ended 31 December
2023.
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETT
Current tax: BEARIE -
Corporate income tax EMEH 43,913 34,502
Deferred tax (note 25) IRAEFRIE (P53 25) (19,262) (423)
Total tax charge for the year FABIEX HARE 24,651 34,079
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10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the
Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the income tax
expense at the effective income tax rate is follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR e R

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

10. FRfgHi(@)

ARRREME AR EMAERAE BRIRA
FE B R AT AR B AT 8 A Y AT S 5 B S B
RERMEHERFAENAEHASEHEREAT -

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ET T ARBT T
Profit before tax B 35 B g A 38,885 127,935
Tax at the statutory income tax rate RIETE PSR A 9,721 31,984
Tax effect of subsidiaries with preferential tax rate = 8 {8 22 F{ X 5 I B A RIHY
L2 (2,587) (6,396)
Income not subject to tax BARBUA - @211)
Expenses not deductible for tax TS 379 521
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B RTEATIAEE - (32)
Deductible temporary differences not recognised 7R FE#2A] 05, & b5 = 58 14,815 5,286
Tax losses not recognised RERHNIBEE 1,973 6,521
Losses not subject to tax BAERTBE 350 406
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate BEAREEERBERTED
BIAX H 24,651 34,079
11. DIVIDENDS 11. KRE
No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company. KRR ANHEEEMRE ©
UBEBEEERAR . B =FER 191



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M B R EE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

12.

192

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based

on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of

the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 415,000,000 (2022: 415,000,000) in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share

amounts presented for the years of 2023 and 2022 in respect of a

dilution as the Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in

issue during the years.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based

on:

12.

BRAAEERERREEARGEREA
gl

BREABNEBHREST QR T RBRERR
BABMMFERENRFRE BTSRRI
S5 88415,000,0000% (20224F © 415,000,0000%) 5t
§ o

BEEEFE2023F M20NFEMEF ERERAF
SHEIEHBEEBAE  REAAEENFR
WEBEHEL B -

BREANEERNOAEREER

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET R ARBTFT

Earnings
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, used in the basic and diluted

B8R

AEBREAREERRF
PR ARE mA

earnings per share calculation: FAARIERR
From continuing operations REFELLER 10,865 91,990
Number of shares
RHEE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB TR ARETT
Shares gl
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AAEBRERRE SR
inissue during the year used in the basic and FTRFAREBITERR
diluted earnings per share calculation I & 415,000,000 415,000,000
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 December 2023
At 1 January 2023

2023%F12H31H
7202351818

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MBBRNE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

13. ¥I% - BEERE

Office
equipment and

electronic and Leasehold Construction

other devices improvements in progress

WRRE -
ETR
RS ]
RMB’000
ARST

HERE
RMB'000
AR®ET

EEIR #et
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T

Cost B 24,760 10,077 2,182 37,019

Accumulated depreciation 2EE (15,101) (2,807) = (17,908)

Net carrying amount REHE 9,659 7,270 2,182 19,111
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023F1 18 -

accumulated depreciation ks REHTE 9,659 7,270 2,182 19,111
Additions NE 3,022 2,354 2,033 7,409
Disposals HE (256) (313) - (569)
Transfer LR 1,154 2,862 (4,016) =
Depreciation provided during the 4 I3 & B (Fff 5¥6)

year (note 6) (4,023) (2,622) - (6,645)
At 31 December 2023, net of 720235128318 -

accumulated depreciation Nk EHTE 9,556 9,551 199 19,306
At 31 December 2023 20235124318

Cost D% 27,659 14,641 199 42,499

Accumulated depreciation 2 E (18,103) (5,090) - (23,193)
Net carrying amount REFE 9,556 9,551 199 19,306
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

13.

194

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 13.

Y% - BB R RE @

Office
equipment and
electronic and Leasehold Construction
other devices  improvements in progress Total
WRRE
EFR
Hih R E HEXE EETRE mEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETFT AREFT AREET T
31 December 2022 2022F12A31H
At 1 January 2022 R202261 1A

Cost B 21,674 6,647 2,191 30,512

Accumulated depreciation 2EE (11,309) (1,887) - (13,196)

Net carrying amount REFE 10,365 4,760 2,191 17,316
At 1 January 2022, net of M202F1/18 ¢

accumulated depreciation ks REHTE 10,365 4,760 2,191 17,316
Additions NE 3324 680 4917 8921
Disposal of subsidiaries &8 2 & (BT FE29)

(note 29) (280) - - (280)
Disposals & (1,145) (526) - (1,671)
Transfer HE 1628 3,298 (4,926) -
Depreciation provided during FNTERE (o)

the year (note 6) (4,233) (942) - (5,175)
At 31 December 2022, net of 20228 12A318

accumulated depreciation s RETE 9,659 7,270 2,182 19,111
At 31 December 2022 20225 12A31H

Cost PR 24,760 10,077 2,182 37,019

Accumulated depreciation 2 E (15,101) (2.807) - (17,908)

Net carrying amount REFE 9,659 7,270 2,182 19,111
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14.

LEASES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WM EE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

14. HE
The Group as a lessee REBERAEBEA
The Group entered a lease contract with a fellow subsidiary to REEHE-FRZMBARGVHEER - A
lease certain building as offices. The lease has a lease term of HEETEFEANRLAE - HEMNHEBR=
three years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and Fo—RME AEBETNSEREE DI EE
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. MEHBEEE -
(a)  Right of use assets (a) EHEESE
The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets and AEENEAREENREENIRRE
the movements during the year are as follows: WEEBIT -
Office buildings
RMB'000
ARETT
As at 1 January 2022 202251 AR 441
Depreciation charge TEZH (441)
As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 2022124318 K& 2023F1 A 18
Additions B 2,516
Depreciation charge TEZH (1,258)
As at 31 December 2023 20235124310 1,258
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M B R EE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

14. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities (b)

The carrying amounts of the lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

14. HE@®
AEFERFEBANGE)

HEERRE

T

HEBENEREEENRRFANE B

2023 2022
20235 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB TR ARBTF T
Carrying amount at 1 January M ATBREREE 1,399 1,380
New leases A 2,516 -
Payments (NES (1,631) -
Accretion of interest recognised during FRERMBER
the year 75 19
Carrying amount at 31 December R12A3BMEREE 2,359 1,399
Analysed into: DR
Current portion BNEREL 5 2,359 1,399
Non-current portion FERNEREE - -
(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to © BHEERBZERNESEEUT -
leases are as follows:
2023 2022
20235 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB T ARBT T
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE 75 19
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ {F A ENEL 1
(note 6) (Mt5Ee) 1,258 441
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIERERNBLEE 1,333 460
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B WM EE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

GOODWILL 15. &E&
Office buildings
RMB'000
ARET T
As at 1 January 2022 M20226F1 AR

Cost BXAR 205,460
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE -
Net carrying amount FREFE 205,460
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated impairment 72202241 B 1H&IAA « 0Bk RETRE 205,460
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 29) e B F (FEE29) (30,410)
Impairment during the year FRRE -
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2022 2022512 A31 BRIAN AR R AREDFE 175,050

As at 31 December 2022 F2022812A31H
Cost DN 175,050
Accumulated impairment ZETRE -
Net carrying amount AREDFE 175,050
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated impairment 7202351 A1 B&IAAA » 1 R:1RE 175,050
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 29) e B F (FEE29) -
Impairment during the year FRRE -
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2023 2023512 A31 BRI A R REDFE 175,050

As at 31 December 2023 F2023% 128318
Cost DN 175,050
Accumulated impairment ZETRE -
Net carrying amount AREDFE 175,050
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

15.

198
D

GOODWILL (Continued)

In January 2021, the Group acquired an 80% interest in Huidehang
Jingying Property Management Co,, Ltd. and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Huidehang”) from an
independent third party.

In April 2021, the Group acquired an 80% interest in Jiangsu Gaoli
Meijia Property Management Co., Ltd., Nanjing Gaoli Property
Management Co., Ltd. and their wholly-owned subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “Gaoli") from an independent third party
and disposed of its total 80% equity interest to an independent
third party on 25 July 2022.

In November 2021, the Group acquired an additional 49% interest
in Chuzhou Yurun Property Management Co,, Ltd. and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Chuzhou Yurun”)

from a non-controlling shareholder.

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the following cash-generating units for impairment testing:

Chuzhou Yurun cash-generating unit;

Huidehang cash-generating unit; and

Redsun Services Group Limited - Annual Report 2023
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15.

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Chuzhou Yurun cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the Chuzhou Yurun cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a
five-year period approved by management. The pre-tax discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections is 17.79% (2022: 18.04%)
per annum. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows
beyond the five-year period is 2.3% (2022: 2.2%).

Huidehang cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the Huidehang cash-generating unit
has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-
year period approved by management. The pre-tax discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 18.03% (2022: 18.14%)
per annum. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows
beyond the five-year period is 2.3% (2022: 2.2%).

The management of the Group believes that any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions of the value-in-use
calculation would not cause the carrying amounts to exceed the
recoverable amounts of the Chuzhou Yurun cash-generating unit
and the Huidehang cash-generating unit.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-
generating units is as follows:

15.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LR e R

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

[GE16 )

BRI (&)

TR F BB % B Y
BNFHERESELBMMNTKRESEIRIRE
REENESEETE  ZiEHEENRAER
it B RE R FHRENVBEER TR
EREHEA - REREBAFANFAIAIRE
BEFE17.79% (20226 1 1804%) - AR R
BRI MBI RER23%(20225F [ 22%) ©

ERTHEEELEN
EEITReEAEMNAKESEE RIS A
BENELEET  ZiAEREERBEEE
HEBRERFHBANVBEEMGIENE S
mETER - BeRERANRANTAIREA
FFE18.03%(20224F 1 18.14%) ° Fi A HEHET 7 £
BB RERIEREA23%(022F © 2.2%) °

AEEEEERRERBEFEEZNEERR
MEMSEAREESH TS EERMNTERESE
LTENMESTREEABUMNKREERAR
Y ElEHE -

PEEXRSELBVNBRBENREELT

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Chuzhou Yurun SR =5 19,002 19,002
Huidehang [EZ1T 156,048 156,048
Total Rt 175,050 175,050
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

15.

200
D

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the
Chuzhou Yurun cash-generating unit, the Huidehang cash-
generating unit for 31 December 2023. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwvill:

Budgeted revenue — The budgeted sales amounts are based on
the historical data and management’s expectation on the future

market.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Long term growth rate — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the annual revenue growth rates is the annual
revenue achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

Pre-tax discount rate — The pre-tax discount rates used are before
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on the annual

revenue growth rates of Chuzhou Yurun, Huidehang and pre-tax
discount rates are consistent with external information sources.
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2023

2023%F12H31H

Cost at 1 January 2023, net of
accumulated amortisation

20231 A1HEY
RS - 0Bk RET

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MBBRNE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

16. HMELEE

Customer
relationship Software Total

EFBE LA et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T T AR®T

oy 74,416 13,318 87,734

Additions NE = 1,962 1,962
Amortisation provided during the year 4 P2 §5 % 15

(note 6) ) (15,462) (688) (16,150)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12A31H 58,954 14,592 73,546
At 31 December 2023 72023 12H31H

Cost DN 115,151 18,890 134,041

Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (56,197) (4,298) (60,495)

Net carrying amount BREFE 58,954 14,592 73,546
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WRMEE

31 December 2023
2023 12H31H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

202
D

16. Hitt\FEE @)

Customer
relationship Software Total
B BR ;i #Et
31 December 2022 20224F 12 A31H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBTT ARBTT
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of M2022F1 A1E/
accumulated amortisation A - HOBR RET
i 125,934 10,086 136,020
Additions NE - 5,306 5,306
Disposal of subsidiaries HERB AT
(note 29) (F45E£29) (31,819) 419) (32,238)
Amortisation provided during the year 4 A 2 §54 %5 15
(note 6) (F43E6) (19,699) (1,655) (21,354)
At 31 December 2022 PR2022F12A31H 74,416 13,318 87,734
At 31 December 2022 72022612 A31H
Cost B AR 116,494 16,927 133,421
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (42,078) (3,609) (45,687)
Net carrying amount REFE 74,416 13,318 87,734
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18.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W R EE
31 December 2023
20239128318
INVENTORIES 17. #E&
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE TR ARETIT
Parking spaces B 5,200 6,833
Consumables FEM 159 7
Total 45T 5,359 6,340
TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. EZEWFIE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T X ARBFIT
Trade receivables B 5 W EE 271,834 200,284
Impairment RIE (17,196) (9,274)
Net carrying amount AREDFE 254,638 191,010

Trade receivables mainly arise from property management
services income. The Group’s trading terms with its customers
are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment
in advance is normally required. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit
control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management and credit limits
attributed to customers are reviewed once a month. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group's trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

BHRBFATZREMEEERBKA - K
SEEEZFNRSEREIBENEERER -
MEFPRIN HEFPAFHFELANK - AEHE

55 1) R (B R PR AR SR A A BR AR AR ) AR

FEEEAPFIAZREREEERR - BH&ARK
HEAERETHEN MEFPEEREEA
W —R - ZEI LAFARAEENE 5 E
WHREKXRAAREZTTLEP A ESESEH

MiEERR - BZREFIAETEE

o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R R &L

31 December 2023

2023 12H31H

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18. B ZEWFIA (@)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the REERR - ERWEER B BB MBRRES
reporting period, based on the date of revenue recognition, net of BRENE ZEUGRIERESITIT ¢

provision for the loss allowance for impairment, is as follows:

2023 2022

20235 20224F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥ TR ARBT T

Within 1 year —F AR 184,037 138,292

110 2 years —EWF 50,104 39,731

2to0 3 years ME=F 15,704 11,146

Over 3 years =FHE 4,793 1,841

Total K 254,638 191,010
The movements in provision for the loss allowance for impairment B SRS IBREBEREZESHNT -

of trade receivables are as follows:

2023 2022

2023F 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

At the beginning of the year REA) 9,274 4,729
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAF - (1,570)
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) BRI A B 18 (i 5Eo6) 7,922 6,115
Atthe end of the year RER 17,196 9,274
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18.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MBBRNE

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18. B ZEBWREG@E
An impairment analysis was performed at each reporting date RERE HRFERBEEEETRESD T - U
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The ArEREEEEE BEXEREAEMUERE
provision rates were based on the ageing of trade receivables for RAWZEREFHEEEE S RERFIANRE
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. BT BHTERBAEENELER  ©EF
The calculation reflected the probability-weighted outcome, the MELRREEHEABTEMH BRI KRK
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information RACEARRTBRANASEBERAUZRFER « —
that was available at the reporting date about past events, current BimE  BZREUBGIBENRRBA=-FEWE
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, SR BIEATTIE DRI T LARMI S o
trade receivables were written off if their ageing was more than
three years and were not subject to enforcement activity.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on NTE#IAEBEFRBEEEFENE F R
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: HIBEERBER
As at 31 December 2023 R20235F12A31H
Past due
k-t
Current 1to2years 2to3years Over3years Total
B8 1228 2E3F 3FEHE #st
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 3.42% 8.97% 15.77% 36.87% 6.33%
Gross carrying amount BERmEE
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 190,554 55,044 18,644 7,592 271,834
Expected credit losses BEEEER
(RMB000) (ARETT) 6,517 4,940 2,940 2,799 17,196
As at 31 December 2022 72022124318
Past due
Current 1102 years 2to3years  Over3years Total
0 1226 2E3F 3FEMRE st
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 279% 7.00% 10.86% 34.25% 463%
Gross carrying amount BERmEE
(RMB'000) (AREBTT) 142,258 42722 12,504 2,800 200,284
Expected credit losses BEEEER
(RMB000) (AR&T7T) 3966 2991 1358 959 9,274
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19. FENFIE - - HtERFEREMEE
OTHER ASSETS

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARBTFT

Prepayments on behalf of customers to utility ~ RERZFFE A AR BEMHRE

suppliers [GESNEEENE e 50,282 41,528
Consideration receivables from disposal of HENBARMNEKRARE
subsidiaries 30,182 30,182
Other deposits Hhizs 28,736 22,558
Due from non-controlling shareholders FE U FEIE AR AR SR FRIE = 4361
Other tax recoverable EAth el g B FRIE 1,149 1,281
Others EHAftb 16,004 12,947
126,353 112,857
Impairment allowance B E (2,949) (2,709
Total G 123,404 110,148
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other HEEIRFIRR R EBEREEHNT -

receivables are as follows:

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET R ARBTT

At the beginning of the year REH] (2,709) (1,042)

Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR - 81
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BB (i se) (240) (1,748)
At the end of the year RER (2,949) (2,709)
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets are unsecured, TEATFRIE « HAbEWGRIE R Hith EEH AEE
non-interest-bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment. Other - 2EEEETERY - Hiize REKE

deposits and amounts due from third parties mainly represent ZHRIBATFEREMERMNIES -

deposits with suppliers.
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19.

20.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 19. FEMNFIE  HMBEWRERREMEE
OTHER ASSETS (Continued) (#)
Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed annually WiEA  BFBBEREAHEAILANAIALL
by considering the probability of default of comparable BATRESRETRED T o WEEF
companies with published credit ratings. In the situation where EFEAFASHTELRRART - AIEZRELRE
no comparable companies with credit ratings can be identified, RBTEELERABEREAMHENEER
expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate B8 - BEEERBEEREEHARURRE
approach with reference to the historical loss record of the AT A 0 K 59 2R SRASE AR B0 BRI o 720234 12
Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions A3 - EJ|AJALERAGBELT - EANE
and forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The B £505%(20224F : 500%) °
applied loss rate where there are no comparable companies as at
31 December 2023 was 5.05% (2022: 5.00%).
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 200 RERBEEEY
2023 2022
20235 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTH & 638,147 545,729
Less: Restricted cash W ZREIRE 372 387
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 637,775 545,342

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD")
amounted to RMB1,306,000 (2022: RMB6,945,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Chinese Mainland'’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The cash and bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The carrying
amounts of the cash and cash equivalents approximate to their
fair values.

RBEHR - REBABT(HBT) HERNE
© RIRTTHE BB ARY1,306,0007T (2022F © A
R#6,94500070) - ARBTSERA B AR
B BRI T B A A (HNE B IR IEH]) &
(HTE - EERMNESERT)  AEETEA
BEEEETIINEEBHRITBARBLGAE
fhE -

RITASBREEARITERF LS KRR
BAE - REMRITERIFEROIHLEE
MRBHEERIFRT - RE MRS FEYH
FREERENFERS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB R M EE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

20.

21.

208
D

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the internal credit ratings of restricted
cash, time deposits and cash and cash equivalents were regarded
as the grade of performing. The Group has assessed that the
credit risk of the restricted cash, time deposits and cash and cash
equivalents has not increased significantly since initial recognition
and measured the impairment based on 12-month expected
credit losses, and has assessed that the expected credit losses are
immaterial.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

20.

21.

ReERATSEY@

2023 12A318 - XBRHIIRE - EETFHRA
kR RRSEEBMHIRNBEETAER AR
WRIFHER - REBFE - XREIRE - ©H
BRARBE e RRSEEY B VR ERUKRE
BRI EBERN  WiR2EABHEEE
B ERE TIEEHEEBBETEX -

B 5 RNRE

RIBE IR - HA BT A AR 5 HORE
AT

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR%ET T ARETT

Within 1 year —FLR 194,263 149,931
Over 1 year Bl —F 1,608 1,208
Total HEt 195,871 151,139

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing.
As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of trade payables

approximated to their fair values and are normally settled within 1

year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B MRM S

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22. HitENRERESER

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARBT T

Receipts on behalf of community residents for ~ FL AR EEREREREF

utilities YER B U R 56,018 40,860
Deposits received BUIES 65,274 46,570
Other tax payable Efb e HIE 21,917 16,957
Advances related to parking space agency service 7 BEEE (K IE RIGHI B - 1,569
Payroll and welfare payable ERTE RER 34,343 39,885
Dividends payable to non-controlling FERTIEIE IRAR R AR B

shareholders - 4,632
Others HAh 27,110 28,832
Total #Et 204,662 179,305

Other payables are unsecured and repayable on demand. The fair HMEMNFIEAEERTEIRERER - Hih
values of other payables at each reporting date approximated to EARERESREEHNATFTEREEAENER
their corresponding carrying amounts. EEHEE °

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. EEAME

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T AR¥ETF T

Short-term advances received from customers — YWEVE B 48 B2 50

Property management services W EEIERE 249,853 222,851

Community value-added services IR ERTE 2,742 4617

Total G 252,595 227,468
The Group receives payments from customers based on billing AEBREMEERSRMSFERBRAT
schedules as established in the property management contracts. PREAR - REBEBERBEER(EEKE
A portion of payments is usually received in advance of the MEEEIRTE) BAATRATIERE DK o

performance under the contracts which are mainly from property
management services.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 24. FTRBRITREMMER
BORROWINGS
2022
20205
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
ERFIE(%) 28 ARETE ks B8 ARETR
Current B
Current portion of long-term ~ REISFITEZA
bank loans — secured B ERE
-HER 435 2024 13,791 435 2023 13822
Non-current JEENER
Bank loans — secured BITER
- HER 435 2026 31,063 435 2026 44735
Total @it 44,854 58,557
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARBTT
Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: AR LAT BRfEME R A
MITEK -
Within one year or on demand —FAFIRER 13,791 13,822
In the second year RE_F 13,822 13,820
In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=FEZFEAF
(BEERME) 17,241 30915
Total fmEt 44,854 58,557
The Group's bank loans are secured by mortgages over 80% REBMRTERDBREESITHRENEE
equity of Wuhan Huidehang Jingying Property Management Co,, B R B E80% AR AR {E IR 1 & B Fa R oL 5 ¥ %
Ltd and guaranteed by Nanjing Hong Yang Property Management BEEBRARER -
Co,, Ltd.
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25.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

DEFERRED TAX 25. EEBIIE
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the RERNELEREEERBENEZHNOT ¢
year are as follows:
Deferred tax assets FIERIEEE
Impairment
losses Taxlosses Lease liabilities Total
AEER BIEEE HEaE e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETFTT ARETT
At 1 January 2022 #2021 A1B 2239 5,792 - 8031
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to  FREF A/ (FKRH)
profit or loss during the year BEARERE
(note 10) (HzE10) 1,959 (5792) - (3833)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 29)  H &I/ A & (KT 7E29) (1,202) - - (1,202)
At 31 December 2022 and 20228128318 %
1 January 2023 20231818 2,996 - - 2,996
Deferred tax credited to profitor & RT ABZEH]
loss during the year (note 10) EEF AT 10 14,942 = 240 15,182
At 31 December 2023 720235124318 17,938 = 240 18,178
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB WM EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 128318 LLFE
25. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 25. IRFEBE (@)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHRIBERE
Fair value Depreciation
adjustments allowance in
arising from excess of
acquisition related Right-of-use
of subsidiaries depreciation assets Total
B B 2 ) WERE
BYLYE pichikicl
A wE EREEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREFT AREFT ARETFT
At 1 January 2022 R202261 1A 31,484 1637 - 33,121
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 29) & I8 A & (B 7£29) (7,955) - - (7,955)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to R E,/GHA)
profit or loss during the year BEARERE
(note 10) (PHzE10) (4,925) 669 - (4,256)
At 31 December 2022 and R002F1NANAR
1 January 2023 2023F1H18 18,604 2,306 - 20,910
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to  FERFBRE,/GTA)
profit or loss during the year EREARERIE
(note 10) (PzE10) (3,866) (524) 310 (4,080)
At 31 December 2023 20235124318 14,738 1,782 310 16,830
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B BRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 25. RIETIE (@)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued) FIER IS B (@)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and MEINME B TEEREBEEERARBD NG
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of SRR AEIE - LT ARMERRE Y
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax i &M ASBEREFHIBERDIT -

balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBTT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE KRR ATERE
consolidated statement of financial position BELEHIBEEFE 18,178 2,996
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE MR R A TER S
consolidated statement of financial position EERIBEAEFE (16,830) (20,910)
Total wEt 1,348 (17,914)
The Group also has tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of REETERFRAMEENHEEEARE
RMB59,624,000 (2022: RMB42,837,000) that will expire in one to 59,624,0007T (20224F : AFR#42,837,0007T) * #%
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax R—ZERFEm - AREERRERTFE -
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they HRZEEBEEDNEEEXBIEZRHME R A
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some B 448 & 0] g8 1% 8 1) ) A3 B TR B 1B 3 6 /Y e
time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be MREAE - MU B ZEEIEERELEHIEE
available against which the tax losses can be utilised. E o
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the WELATIEEERELEHRIBEE

following item:

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARET T

Tax losses 19,416 17,443
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

25.

26.

214
D

DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 25. RIETIE (@)
The above tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting against LB EEE T HERAEEEEBEN AR
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. HIRRIERBRF] - ARRAT KA 8EH ER
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the Bm M AERIE EMIE R - al gt Eat1E
above item as it is not considered probable that taxable profits B RIELERIAZE
will be available against which the above item can be utilised.
The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed REBERZFEETBRAMKLNE R ERE
by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect 20084F1 A1 H RBE £/ B FIFT 5 K #9 AR B B4R
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is TEHH o NEEKEA L E A5%510% °
59% or 10% for the Group.
As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised M20235F12A318 - BERAE BN+ B A
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted AL B BT B R B ZE B AN TR 0B A R BE Y B I e
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's NEOENTHERIELERIE - XRARIEERR -
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland. In the opinion of FEBNESHKBERTPRENM - BEFTAE
the directors of the Company, the Group’s fund will be retained in BMER  EZEMBARGTRAIER A
Chinese Mainland for the expansion of the Group's operation, so it TERARKDIRZFEF -
is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings
in the foreseeable future.
SHARE CAPITAL 26. M
Shares fig 19
2023 2022
2023F 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTF T
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE :
415,000,000 (2022: 415,000,000) ordinary 415,000,000(20224F :
shares of HK$0.01 each (2022: HK$0.01 each) 415,000,000) A% & A%
E{E0.017 7T (2022 :
BIRE(E0.017BTT)H)
EEk 3,764 3,764
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27.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein

for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity on pages 8 to 9 of the financial

statements.

(a)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between
the par value of the shares issued and the consideration
received.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles
of association of the subsidiaries established in the PRC,
the Group is required to appropriate 10% of its net profits
after tax, as determined under the Chinese Accounting
Standards, to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of its registered capital. Subject to
certain restrictions set out in the relevant PRC regulations
and in the articles of association of the Group, the statutory
surplus reserve may be used either to offset losses, or to
be converted to increase share capital, provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of the
registered capital of the Group. The reserve cannot be used
for purposes other than those for which they are created
and are not distributable as cash dividends.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the issued
capital of the holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group and the capital contributions from
the equity holders of certain subsidiaries now comprising
the Group before the completion of the reorganisation.

27.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

28. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 28. BEEAEEREZNIEZEHB L

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS A
Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non- REEHEBEAFEEREZNNBARFBES
controlling interests are set out below: FAT
2023 2022
20235 20226
Percentage of equity interest held by non- MIBIEERERTE A
controlling interests: IRIEB DL
Huidehang 51T 20% 20%

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARBT T

Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling 9 fic & JFIERR EZ MR

interests: A
Huidehang ST 3,637 3,512
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest: B T IR SR
Huidehang [E57T 5,850 1,385
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RiRE B A - JEERR RS

interests at the reporting date: R
Huidehang PESTT 11,705 13,918
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B MRM S

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL  28. BEEARFEREZNIEZEHNEL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued) 7l (&)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRHAPLAWNBRARDNNMBEREE - FTH
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are B S EART RERARIFEEKE

before any inter-company eliminations:

Huidehang

BB

RMB’000

AR¥T T

Revenue & 116,847
Total expenses FX 85 (92,790)
Income tax expense FriSHif X (5,870)
Profit for the year FAEF 18,187
Total comprehensive income for the year FREERFAREE 18,187
Current assets MENVE B 97,510
Non-current assets IERBEE 39,259
Current liabilities NEIB=NE (55,939)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (9,707)
Net cash flows from operating activities K EBFTB RS RIFE 5,985
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEEEFAR SRR FE (62)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEBATRIRESRIFE (8,598)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RE KB EEWR I FE (2,675)
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28. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL 28.
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

BEEAFEREZNFZENEL
=) (8

Huidehang
51T
2022 20224 RMB'000
ARBTT
Revenue Wz 99,224
Total expenses FZ 1B (76,843)
Income tax expense FRiS i 2 (4,825)
Profit for the year F A& F 17,556
Total comprehensive income for the year FREERF4REE 17,556
Current assets REEE 80,822
Non-current assets EMBNE E 51,679
Current liabilities mENaRE (39,859)
Non-current liabilities FEMEBEE (12,818)
Net cash flows from operating activities K EBFTB RS RIRFE 15,111
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEEEFRAR MR FE 123
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEBATRIRESRIF (24,543)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RE KB EEWR I FE (9,309)
29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 29. HEKBRF

Pursuant to the share transfer agreement dated 25 July 2022,
the Group disposed of its total 80% equity interest in Gaoli to an
independent third party for a consideration of RMB73,536,000. The
consideration was determined by reference to the corresponding
value of the equity interest disposed of.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M BREN E
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12318 LFE
29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 29. HEMERTE @
The effect of such disposal on the Group's assets and liabilities is R EHASEEERBENFZEERI N
set out below: T~
2022
2022%F
Notes RMB'000
B aE ARBT T
Net assets disposed of: FIiE&EEFE :
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BEREE 13 280
Other intangible assets HEmmpaE 16 32,238
Inventory 5E 166
Trade receivables B S rEGE 25,724
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets TEfTFIE - A EKGKIE R
Hi&E 39,544
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTH 5,808
Deferred tax assets BRI EE 25 1,202
Trade payables B S ENIE (7,315)
Other payables and accruals H b A RIE R EAHE R (27,008)
Contract liabilities aRaE (10,063)
Tax payable FERTHIE (3,064)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIBEAE 25 (7,955)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value RATESENAHEAEE
FIELR 49,557
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR R (9,910)
Goodwill Bk 15 30410
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMTE A AR 3479
73,536
Satisfied by: BRATEA
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets TERTFRIE - Efth FEYRIE 2
Hfth & 7 43,354
Consideration receivables M RAB 30,182
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HE2023F12A3BLEFE

29. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 29. HEMERTE @
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in EHELEMNBARMNRERBEZFEMRENF
respect of the disposal of the subsidiaries is as follows: EomET :
2022
20224
RMB'000
ARBT T
Cash consideration RENE -
Cash and bank balances disposed of T &8 € MERTTAE &R (5,808)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the BHENENBRARTNE e RES
disposal of the subsidiaries LEYTLFE (5,808)
30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTOF  30. #HZERERERM T
CASH FLOWS
(@). Major non-cash transactions @. EXFBEEXRZ
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to REAN - AEEGFREEEREERR
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB2,516,000 BERERE DRI/ ARK2516,0007T
(2022: Nil) and RMB2,516,000 (2022: Nil), respectively, in (20224 : fE) R AR #¥2,516,0007T (2022
respect of lease arrangements for office building. FE) DESTREHERYER -
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HE2023F12A3BLEFE

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 30. EREREBRMT@E

CASH FLOWS (Continued)
METHELENEER

activities

(b). Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b).

Interest-bearing

bank and other  Due to related
borrowings companies Lease liabilities Total
FERITR FE 3 BA
Hit g DNRARE HEaE @et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFTT AREFT ARETTT ARETFT
At 1 January 2022 M202F1H1H - 5,537 1,380 6917
Changes from financing cash ~ R &R & M2
flows 55,797 - - 55,797
Decrease in amountsdueto [ BEEsE A A1 ZIA
related companies B - (5537) - (5,537)
Non-cash changes: FEEEH
Accrual of interest JEET RIS 2,760 - 19 2,779
At 31 December 2022 120226124318 58,557 - 1399 59,956
At 1 January 2023 20231 H1H 58,557 = 1,399 59,956
Changes from financing cash ~ BB RS REEH
flows (15,960) - - (15,960)
Principal portion of lease MERFEAEEHH
payments - - (1,631) (1,631)
Non-cash changes: ke
New lease ARk = = 2,516 2,516
Accrual of interest FEETHI & 2,257 = 75 2,332
At 31 December 2023 #2023 12831H 44,854 - 2,359 47,213
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31. COMMITMENTS 31.

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

AEBERRERREARREE AT EAASE -

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBFIT

Contracted, but not provided for: ERTAVE m AR B
Other intangible assets HithfmZ & E 4,270 4,546
Total st 4,270 4,546

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BEBEARS
a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in a) BREEUERREMBLOFLNRT S

these financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

Sh - REBEHAREB TN BMT

2023
20235

RMB’000
ARBT T

Fellow subsidiaries: EES) NS
Property management services income P E R RN
Value-added services to non-property FESE F EREIA

owners income
Parking space sales and leasing agency BAHERAERRE
services AR 7%

Joint ventures and associates of fellow BREMBARNEE
subsidiaries: EREE RN
Property management services income MEE R IRBUA
Value-added services to non-property IEE FIRERBILA

owners income

The company controlled by the family
members of the controlling shareholder:

Property management services income

SRR R B

MEREERIEHA

156,471

41,715

3,340

13,489

24,072

2022
20224
RMB'000
ARETTT

165,839

61,384

5,208

57,216

458
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:
(Continued)

Notes:

These transactions were carried out in accordance with the terms
and conditions mutually agreed by the companies involved. The
service fees take into account a wide range of factors, including
but not limited to (i) the nature, age, infrastructure features,
geographical location and neighbourhood profile of the relevant
properties; (ii) the prevailing market price charged by other
independent third party service providers to related parties
in respect of comparable services; and (iii) any applicable rate
recommended by the relevant government authorities.

These transactions were carried out in accordance with the terms
and conditions mutually agreed by the parties involved.

These related party transactions also constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Group entered into a three-year lease contract with
a fellow subsidiary to lease certain building as offices. The
rental fee agreed by parties involved was RMB1,306,000
annually.

During the year, the Group paid RMB143,860,000 as agency
deposit and settled agency deposit of RMB49,474,000. As
at 31 December 2023, the balance of agency deposit is
RMB282,459,000.

The related party transaction also constitute connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR e

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

32. BBARES @

a)

BRUEFMBRREMEDFLRORS
Sh - AEEHBAEBBITOXZXZ0T ¢
(&)

Wi

ZER S THRIBAER R R I 63 5E A GRER {&
HETT - REEL2EZBTREREE £
BETRROBEDENLE - BE - ERR
MEASER - IR E RBEEN ¢ (VEMBIE
=77 AR5 1 2 st AR 5 IR 75 10 B e 5 (R O 3R
THE  RGiEEBUT R PTEE A EE R R

WER B THRRSEET )77 BB E M FR K

ZEBM TR ZIER ETRAF14AE
PIRENBEZ S BMERS o

AEBE-HRRMBARIZAR=
FWHEEESN  LWHERETEEMESR
MAE  cFINTFRAENHEERAETFA
R #1,306,000 7T °

AEEBRFAZNREREARE
143,860,0007C * WEMNRIEZE ARE
49,474,0007C ° F2023F12 8318 » RIE
Re Etrm AR 282,459,0007T

BT R 5 IMBA LR RIS 14AZ TR
EHRER HUFFEMERS °
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 32. BBARES @
d)  Outstanding balances with related parties: d)  EEEEE SRR SR
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
IR PIZEIN=I  20225F12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARBT T
Due from related companies: il NGIE S
Trade related =Rl
Fellow subsidiaries EEL =N 364,176 400,311
Joint ventures and associates of fellow BENBATNGE
subsidiaries (=953 NG| 20,824 39,736
The company controlled by the family R AR R R B &Y
members of the controlling shareholder NS - 476
Total st 385,000 440,523
Due from related companies: JE U RA B N B ROA
Gross amount FEREE 495,865 440,523
Impairment RIE (110,865) -
Net carrying amount REFE 385,000 440,523
An ageing analysis of due from related companies as at the RMEBAR - ERWEERB AN
end of the reporting period, based on the date of revenue BB S 1B B E e R U R B & R B BRES
recognition, net of provision for the loss allowance for AT :

impairment, is as follows:

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® T ARBEFIT

110 6 months 1268 A 72,028 100,083
6o 12 months 621218 B 166,909 321,787
110 2 years 18226 146,063 18,663
Total @t 385,000 440,523
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 32. BBARES @
d)  Outstanding balances with related parties: (Continued) d  HEBEBAIKRSER - (B)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FE Y B B A Rl RIB R B B B B # B 0
due from related companies are as follows: TS 8

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
IR PIZEIN=I  20225F12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBT T
Due from related companies: il NGIE S
At beginning of year REH) - -
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BB E 185 28 (i 5Ee) 110,865 -
At end of year RER 110,865 -
The credit periods granted to related parties are mainly 12 RTABABATNEERETZER2MEA - B8
months. The Group has assessed the credit risk of these BEEENERARIEN BB
amounts due from related companies based on lifetime B AEBERGFEHEREEEBBT
ECLs by considering the default rates and adjusting fhZE W R A R RIERNEE R -

forward-looking macroeconomic data.

e) Compensation of key management personnel of the e) AEBFEZEEABTH -
Group:
2023 2022
20235 20226
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARET T
Short-term employee benefits SRl = E R 4,752 4,584
Pension scheme contributions and social BEZeiTEBEARAEERN
welfare 451 362

Total compensation paid to key management B BEIE A B #4258

personnel 5,203 4,946
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in FHRESMeNE —PHFBRNM B R
note 8 to the financial statements. =HIFES o

225
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2023

Financial assets

33. REFEINEMTE
RBEHERESESRTANERENT -

20235

EREE

Financial assets at

amortised cost

YR 8 R A T AR

HeREE

RMB’'000

AR¥T T

Trade receivables (note 18) B Z e IA (H5E18) 254,638
Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables & ATETFRIE « E A & U kI8 K

and other assets (note 19) EmEENemEE P9 115,469

Cash and bank balances (note 20) & RIRTT 48R (T 5E20) 638,147

Due from related companies (note 32) FE U BB~ B e (B RE32) 385,000

Total st 1,393,254

Financial liabilities cHas

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

R SRR A1 BR

HemaesE

RMB’'000

AR¥T T

Lease liabilities (note 14) HEBEMFE 4 2,359

Trade payables (note 21) B S HIEFE21) 195,871
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals FFAEMENFRIERERERY

(note 22) SR A EHT22) 148,402

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 24) FHESRTT R EMEFR (M 5E24) 44,854

Total Bt 391,486
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33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

2022

Financial assets

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR e

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

20224F

TREE

33. BREFHEAINESMIA®

Financial assets at
amortised cost

R SR AN B AR

NEmEE

RMB'000

ARETIT

Trade receivables (note 18) B 5 el A (fisx18) 191,010
Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables &t AT FRIE « EoAth e U 5k 18 K2

and other assets (note 19) HEmEEMSREEFITE9) 103,648

Cash and bank balances (note 20) B MIRTTHE &R (F3E20) 545,729

Due from related companies (note 32) U B RS N m) F A (T 3E32) 440,523

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss RATEFABRNESREE 1,009

Total st 1,281919

Financial liabilities G =

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

R S AN D1 BR

HEmEE

RMB'000

ARBFIT

Lease liabilities (note 14) HESEMFE14) 1,399

Trade payables (note 21) B S EMFIEEE21) 151,139
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals FFAEMENFRIEREFERY

(note 22) SR EPTE22) 122,463

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 24) STRIRTTREMEFR (I 7E24) 58,557

Total HET 333,558
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

34.

228
D

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

3. ERMIENAFEERAFEEER

AEERTATEEZSFEAEERFES
ERENERTANEEERAFERNT

Fair values

DFE

Carrying amounts

ARME &

2023 2022 2023 2022
2023F 20224F 2023F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T NGEawl ARET it NG
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at fair value BAFERTAEEN
through profit or loss TRVEE = 1,009 = 1,009
Financial liabilities TREE
Interest-bearing bank and other  &HE8RTT R E M {ER
borrowings 44,854 58,557 44,854 58,557

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and bank
balances, amounts due from related companies, trade receivables,
trade payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and other assets, lease liabilities, and financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these

instruments.
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34.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group's finance department headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for
the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance
manager reports directly to the chief financial officer and the
audit committee. At each reporting date, the finance department
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments
and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer.
The valuation process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group's own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December
2023 were assessed to be insignificant.

34.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR e

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

TMITENAFERQFEER®

AEENMEMEABMBEEESE  BEETE
TRTAXNFEFENERRRER - LR
BERAMBRERERZREQER - RE®E
BE - MBHMAsTeR TABENES - X
REMBEEBRNEANBARIE - HEHMBEE
EEELAE  MEERERERKEREZESY
SR HA R B A% B R — MR EY T A e

EREEMBBENATFEAZIRERR 57
(REFBFREERINEMRXZ TARSER
AR e ATIERBRRIGARGERFE :

AERITERREMERNAFECSHEER
RIBESRBIRGEK - EERKR MFSHEHBER
BEUOTAMNBAATALRHRTE - 5E
2023128318 + AEBFBRITERREM
BRORBHRRSI B RAFELEETE AR
TERX -
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HE2023F12A3BLEFE

34. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value:
Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2022

TMITENAFERQFEER®

BATEFENEE

R FEER
TRHAPAEESHRTENAFEREL
NWAFEFENEE :

720225 12H31H

Fair value measurement using

ERTIBENAFETE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

BAAER EATAIEER

ERMIERE BARE AR

(E14) (F28) (F38) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000

ARBTT AR®TE ARETT AR®TR

Financial assets at fair value BEATEFABEN
through profit or loss CRVEE

1,009 - - 1,009

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities
(2022: Nil).
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and bank balances, trade receivables and other receivables,
trade payables and other payables, which arise directly from
its operations, amounts with related companies and other
receivables. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group's operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. None of the Group's
sales (2022: Nil) were denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the operating units making the sale,
whilst 100% (2022: 100%) of costs were denominated in the units’
functional currencies.

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its cash and
bank balances.

35.
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M EEEER ERBER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. MBEREEBRERBER®@E
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) S 3 ez (48)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of THREMRESREAR - LB HMEHER
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the TENBERAT  AEBNBAINEBEEEE
HKD exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the REBENATEEZSMB B TEERSIEAA
Group's profit before tax (due to changes in the fair values of FEMHRRE

monetary assets and liabilities).

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease) in

HKD/RMB rate profit before tax

% RMB’'000

BT AR Bi AR

ExLH (THE) EFH(TEE)

% AR¥ET

2023 2023%F

If the RMB weakens against the HKD MAREEBTRE -5% 72
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD mARBE LB TTHHE 5% (72)
Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) in (decrease) in

HKD/RMB rate profit before tax

% RMB'000

N G IRNE

X EF(TBE) R CTBE)

% ARETT

2022 20224

If the RMB weakens against the HKD MAREEBTRE -5% 311
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD AR S ETTAE 5% 311)
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant. For
transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency
of the relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit
terms without the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2023

35.
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MIsEREE R R RBE@®

&Rk
AEEERERAIMEERINE=TXS °
AEEZBRRBMERBREREGRIETRS

MEFPHARREEERZIERF o I AR
BHBUGRIRERETEE  RAEEERN

BERRBATEKX - HRWIEFABREEEN
EANDEERNFTENRS AREEREE
EERTERERHENBRATATRHAEE
% o

REERR FREBER
TREJNENAKENEERRNEREERR
ERiEERR  TEERBHESGRERWME
HAEEANHTUERRNEIB HNERTE
B REZHEBEOIN - RIINBHESEESRH
BERKREE -

7A2023%F12A31H

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12MEAEH
EEER FESRAGEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1RE Eplid=t F3RE bR % st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR®TR AR%®TR AR%®TxR
Trade receivables* B P NG IE* = = = 271,834 271,834
Financial assets included FABRFIE - Ef
in prepayments, other M IBE R M EE
receivables and other HERMEE - EE*
assets ~ Normal** 118,418 - - - 118,418
Due from related companies iGN YNGR = = = 495,865 495,865
Cash and cash balances ~ Not Re RFITHEA
yet past due - R ER 638,147 = = = 638,147
Total et 756,565 - - 767,699 1,524,264
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35.

234
D

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

35.

B %5 L B i 3 B AR I BUR ()

EER k(&)
REE R FAEER(E)
20228128318

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A 7858
FEEE FEHRBEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1RER FOREER E3MEER BILAE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
Trade receivables* g 5 e a* - - - 200,284 200,284
Financial assets included in FTAFERFIE - Eft
prepayments, other receivables  EUGRIER EMEE
and other assets — Normal** MEe@MEE - E8 106,375 - - - 106,375
Due from related companies* i B B 1 R FRR - - - 440,523 440,523
Cashand cash balances - Notyet & RiR{T4 %
past due - R 545729 - - - 545729
Financial assets at fair value BATEF B
through profit or loss TREE 1,009 - - - 1,009
Total st 653,113 - - 640,807 1,293,920

*¥

For trade receivables and due from related companies to which
the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 18.
There is no significant concentration of credit risk.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to

credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 18

to the financial statements.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. MBEREEBRERBER®@E

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk nBESRE

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity AEENBERERATHAEIENIIE - BN
of funding and flexibility through the use of trade payables, M AR REREMENRIBERESFEN
amounts due to related companies and other payables. Cash FEEUZENTE RERENBERAZEFE
flows are being closely monitored on an ongoing basis. TN ESHE o

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end REBRRERREZEHARMRANIGTEN S
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted BAENIEBERAT

payments, is as follows:

Less than 3to12 Over 1
On demand 3 months months years Total

BEX  3MEAMA 3Z12HA 1F5E &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT AR®TR AR%®TR ARETR AR®T:R

31 December 2023 2023128310
Lease liabilities HEBE = 1,726 981 - 2,707
Trade payables B HRMNFIE 195,871 = = = 195,871
Financial liabilities included in other 5T A8 JE FRIBAY

payables TREE 148,402 = = = 148,402
Interest-bearing bankand other &t 8 RITREMER

borrowings - 3,931 11,566 32,542 48,039
Total Fey 344,273 5,657 12,547 32,542 395,019
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fI BRI EE
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 128318 LLFE
35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. BB EEREREERBER @
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TEVE SRS (E)
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end REBPRWEHAREZEHRUEBARGTENS
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted BhEEMEIEERAT - (B)

payments, is as follows: (Continued)

Less than 3to 12 Over 1
On demand 3 months months years Total
BEk  EANMAN 3E12fEA 19 LA E At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTE ARKTT ARETT AR%TR

31 December 2022 2022128318
Lease liabilities MEBE - 1399 - - 1399
Trade payables B PN 151,139 - - - 151,139
Financial liabilities included in other 5+ A KL fth JE A< 2R IEH)

payables THEE 122,463 - - - 122,463
Interest-bearing bankand other &t 8 RITREME K

borrowings - 4,081 12,040 48,039 64,160
Total Bt 273,602 5480 12,040 48,039 339,161
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35.

36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt
represents trade payables, other payables and accruals, less cash
and cash equivalents. The Group did not have net debt as at 31
December 2023 and 2022. Capital represents total equity.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 23 January 2024, the Company was informed by Hong Yang
Group Company Limited, its controlling shareholder, that Serica
Agency Limited (the “Petitioner”) filed a winding up petition dated
19 January 2024 against Hong Yang Group Company Limited in
the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
for an order that Hong Yang Group Company Limited be wound
up by the High Court under the Companies (Winding Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32, Laws of Hong
Kong) on the ground that Hong Yang Group Company Limited
was unable to repay the Petitioner in the sum of USD288,578,125,
being the amount of payment under the USD275,000,000, 9.875%
guaranteed senior notes due 2022 issued by Hong Seng Limited,
inclusive of interest up to August 2022.
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MRk EE R FERBUR

BEXREE
AEEEAERENTEARRRRERNEER
BREVBFRENERLLTNEEN - UH
HEBAERREERAL
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REEERBELEERLZECRIEBEENRR
FEBERRARHERERE AEFNAEE
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BRREFBEERNLBITHR - NEBMTZRAHE
RSN REAN ) B AR E K o i E20235F 124318
IEFEREE202F12831BILEFE - EAE
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AEBRBEARAE L X BMER F R ALH
BEEREEBEFRNM)REIFTER - ERFR

HESEMNZE HtEMNZERESERR
HERIBEEEEY o 72023F K&2022512 831

B AKEMEERFER - ENIERREE -

BEHREE

202451 H238 - AR B EZREAR AR 5L & E
AR AREH » Serica Agency Limited([255 A1)
MEBFNTHESEERIE2HHAGEE
BRAFIHER2024F 1 H10OBRBERER - 2
K E AR RIEE B AN ENERAR (BB R
HIESO)GPIELELEEBERARIER -
BEALBEEERARBEIAZFAEE
288,578,125% 7T + BIL A AR A RIFTEITR 2022
F B HIRY275,000,0003 7T9.875% B ERE L E
BIETHNREE(BIEEE2022548H LM F
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Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A3BLEFE

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37. ARQ BB R E
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the BERATRWE RO EAR R KN ER I
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: ™
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARBFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENBRFNEE 198,119 198,119
Total non-current assets MBI EEEE 198,119 198,119
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Due from subsidiaries I EPNGIE S 251,297 248,355
Due from related parties ide)pa e 364 224
Cash and bank balances Be MIBTTHES 1,749 5,839
Total current assets mEEEAE 253,410 254,418
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables and accruals Hi R RIB R EETER 292 1,102
Due to related parties FEAST B 5 5B 38 38
Due to subsidiaries ANELRIENGIE ¢ 1,576 1,168
Total current liabilities REBEEEE 1,906 2,308
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 251,504 252,110
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEABRRBEE 449,623 450,229
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Total non-current liabilities IEREBABERE = -
Net assets BEFE 449,623 450,229
EQUITY e
Share capital (&N 3,764 3,764
Reserves 1 445,859 446,465
Total equity EmAATE 449,623 450,229
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2023
BHZE20235F 128318 IEFE
37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37. ARBWEBARR R @)
COMPANY (Continued)
Note: BT
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: AARKRFEBZENT ¢
Share Share Other  Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total
&N R A7 18 Hif# 2 BR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT ARETT ARBFT AR®TR
Balance at 1 January 2022 R20224F1 A1 B A gA 3,764 387,262 98,788 (52,947) 436,867
Total comprehensive income for ~ F A2 E IR A 58
the year - - - 13,362 13,362

Balance at 31 December 2022 and  $320224F 128318 &
1 January 2023 20231 R 1B WA 3,764 387,262 98,788 (39,585) 450,229

Total comprehensive loss for the  F A2 HEEHA%E

year - - - (606) (606)
At 31 December 2023 #2023 12A31H 3,764 387,262 98,788 (40,191) 449,623
38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 38. EMKEHRRE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue SRR ER2024FE3 A1 BRESTSH AT R
by the board of directors on 21 March 2024. RETIEE o
LBBEEEERAT . —B-=F5H 239
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2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
2019%F 2020%F 20214F 20224F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®ETRT ARBTT ARETT | A=
Revenue A 502,990 767,852 1,129,974 1,103,122 1,063,634
Cost of sales SHE AR (375,546) (553,514) (809,569) (846,751) (811,191)
Gross profit EAH 127,444 214338 320,405 256,371 252,443
Other income and gains E AU A R ez 3,129 20,136 11,230 16,830 9,720
Selling and distribution HE R HR X
expenses (364) (786) (1,190) (1,003) (1,102)
Administrative expenses THAX (50,944) (104,249) (134,877) (132,743) (99,914)
Other expenses HARZ (190) (19,086) (5,762) (878) (903)
Impairment losses on financial & Bl & EREEEF
assets, net (384) (1,924) (2,854) (7,863) (119,027)
Finance costs =N (392) (46) (19) (2,779) (2,332)
Profit before tax B 5 A 7 78,299 108,383 186,933 127,935 38,885
Income tax expense Frig®if = (21,232) (35,068) (48,581) (34,079) (24,651)
Profit for the year F N A 57,067 73,315 138,352 93,856 14,234
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZFE PN 59,061 69,751 127,955 91,990 10,865
Non-controlling interests FEIE R R (1,994) 3,564 10,397 1,866 3,369
Total non-current assets IEMENEEEE 36,393 90,938 367,268 284,891 287,338
Total current assets MENVEERE 502,616 1,016,663 975,512 1295259 1,406,548
Total assets BEE 539,509 1,107,601 1,342,780 1,580,150 1,693,886
Total current liabilities mEN B EEE 319,925 376,851 497,400 624,317 747,421
Total non-current liabilities FnRBEERE 2,250 10,335 33,121 65,645 47,893
Total liabilities waE 322,175 387,186 530,521 689,962 795,314
Equity s
Equity attributable to owners B2 A% G A JE{G #
of the parent 208,024 690,188 780,817 872,807 883,672
Non-controlling interests IR R 9,310 30,227 31,442 17,381 14,900
Total equity BT 217,334 720415 812,259 890,188 898,572
Redsun Services Group Limited - Annual Report 2023
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